PRWUA ADMIN BUILDING LANDSCAPE RENOVATION

CONSULTANT PROJECT NO.: 006-21-04

FEBRUUARY 2023

OWNER PROVO RIVER WATER USERS ASSOCIATION



SECTION 00 01 07 SEALS PAGE



SECTION 00 01 10 TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Section</u>	<u>Page</u>
BIDDING DOCUMENTS	
00 11 16 Invitation to Bid	
00 21 13 Instructions to Bidders	
00 41 00 Bid Form	
00 43 14 Bid Bond (Damages)	
00 43 70 Proposed Subs and Major Material Suppliers	
00 43 83 Preliminary Construction Schedule	
00 44 20 Project Approach	
00 45 30 E-Verify Certification	
00 51 00 Conditional Notice of Award – Final	
00 52 13 Agreement	
00 55 00 Notice to Proceed	
00 61 14 Performance Bond	
00 61 15 Payment Bond	
00 62 76 Application for Payment	
00 63 49 Work Change Directive	
00 63 63 Change Order	
00 65 16 Certificate of Substantial Completion	
00 65 19 Certificate of Final Completion	
00 65 20 Consent of Surety for Final Payment	
00 65 21 Affidavit of Payment	00 65 21-1 - 00 65 21-2
CONDITIONS OF THE CONTI	RACT
00 70 00 General Conditions	
00.73.00 Supplemental General Conditions	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS

Section	<u>Page</u>
DIVISION 01 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS	
01 11 00 Summary of Work	01 11 00-1 - 01 11 00-4
01 20 00 Measurement and Payment	
01 29 73 Schedule of Values	
01 31 30 Safety	
01 33 20 Submittal Procedures	
01 41 26 Permits	01 41 26-1 - 01 41 26-2
01 42 19 Reference Standards	01 42 19-1 - 01 42 19-2
01 45 00 Quality Assurance/Quality Control	01 45 00-1 - 01 45 00-10
01 50 10 Site Access and Storage	
01 57 19 Temporary Environmental Controls	01 57 19-1 – 01 57 19-2
01 71 00 Mobilization	01 71 00-1 – 01 71 00-2
01 77 00 Project Closeout	01 77 00-1 – 01 77 00-4
01 78 39 Project Record Documents	01 78 39-1 - 01 91 14-4
DIVISION 02 - EXISTING CONDITIONS	00.44.00.4.00.44.00.6
02 41 00 Demolition, Salvage, and Reconstruction	02 41 00-1 - 02 41 00-6
DIVISION 31 - EXISTING CONDITIONS	
31 10 00 Site Preparation	21 10 00 1 21 10 00 4
31 23 00 Earthwork	21 22 00 1 21 22 00 10
31 23 00 Editiiwoik	31 23 00-1 - 31 23 00-18
DIVISION 32 - EXTERIOR IMPROVEMENTS	
32 16 00 Driveways, Sidewalks, Curbs, Gutters, Other Concrete Fl	atwork 32 16 00-1 – 32 16 00-14
32 80 00 Landscape Irrigation	
32 90 00 Landscape Planting	

DRAWINGS

BC&A PROVO RIVER WATER USERS ASSOCIATION PRWUA ADMIN BUILDING LANDSCAPE RENOVATION

SECTION 00 11 16 INVITATION TO BID

RECEIPT OF BIDS: Emailed Bids will be received digitally by the office of the Landscape Architect until 10:00 am, on February 27, 2023, for construction of the PRWUA Admin Building Landscape Renovation. Email submittals shall contain "PRWUA ADMIN BUILDING LANDSCAPE RENOVATION" as the subject line and emailed to info@bowencollins.com. Any Bids received after the specified time will not be considered. Although a confirmation email will be sent to validate submission of Bids, it is the Contractors responsibility to ensure their submitted Bids have been received.

OBTAINING CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: The Contract Documents are entitled PRWUA Admin Building Landscape Renovation. All Contract Documents may be obtained digitally from the office of the Landscape Architect beginning February 13, 2023. Contractors shall contact the Landscape Architect to obtain a digital link for a digital copy of documents. Email requests for Construction Documents shall contain "PRWUA ADMIN BUILDING LANDSCAPE RENOVATION" as the subject line and emailed to info@bowencollins.com.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: The work required includes but is not limited to: Removal of existing landscape features, unless noted for preservation, and installation of new landscape features according to the landscape plan. This includes but it is not limited to the installation of new trees, shrubs, grasses, perennials, boulders, boulder walls, ground covers, block walls, signs, concrete curbing, a dry creek bed, a concrete pad, a shade structure, and irrigation system in accordance with the drawings. Work shall be completed by September 1, 2023.

.

SITE OF WORK: Provo River Water Users Association Administration Building, 285 W 1100 N, Pleasant Grove, UT 84062 (Utah County)

PRE-BID SITE VISIT: A <u>non</u>-mandatory pre-bid conference will be held at **10:00 am** local time on February 21, 2023, at the Provo River Water Users Association Administration Building. Each bidder is required to bring only one vehicle to the site due to limited parking. No other private meetings will be held outside of the pre-bid conference.

COMPLETION OF WORK: The OWNER requires that the landscape and irrigation system be fully installed and operational no later than September 1, 2023, but Bids that provide a start and completion date for the landscape and irrigation system to be fully installed and operational no later than July 1, 2023, will be weighted higher during the scoring of Bids.

OPENING OF BIDS: The Bids will be opened publicly by the Owner and one or more witnesses, at the discretion of the Owner at the office of the Landscape Architect at 11:00am on February 27, 2023. Further private review by the Board of Provo River Water Users Association will score and select the awarded Bid.

BID SECURITY: Each Bid shall be accompanied by a certified or cashier's check, or bid bond in the amount of five percent (5%) of the total bid price payable to the Association as a guarantee that the Bidder, if the Bid is accepted, will promptly execute the contract, provide evidence of insurance, and furnish a satisfactory faithful performance bond in the amount of 100 percent of the total bid price and a payment bond in the amount of 100 percent of the total bid price.

ADDRESS AND MARKING OF BID: Email submittals shall contain "ADMIN BUILDING LANDSCAPE RENOVATION" as the subject line and emailed to info@bowencollins.com. A scanned copy of the Bidder's bond is acceptable. Certified or cashier's check shall be submitted via hard copy submittal copies at the office of the Owner at the Provo River Water Users Association, 285 West 1100 North, Pleasant Grove, Utah 84062.

PROJECT ADMINISTRATION: All questions relative to this project prior to the opening of Bids shall be directed to the office of the Landscape Architect for the Project.

Bowen Collins & Associates Telephone: 801-495-2224 Email: info@bowencollins.com Contact: Jamie Tsandes

It shall be understood, however, that no interpretations of the drawings or specifications will be made except in writing signed by the Landscape Architect, nor will any "or equal" products be considered for approval prior to award of a contract.

OWNER'S RIGHTS RESERVED: The Owner may, at reasonable times, inspect the place of business of a contractor or any subcontractor, which is related to the performance of any contract awarded or to be awarded by the Owner. The Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, to waive any informality in a Bid, and to make awards in the interest of the Owner.

SCORING METHOD/CRITERIA: The Owner shall rank the submitted Bids with a weighted scoring system. This takes into account a contractor's bid price, past experience and qualifications, approach to project, and schedule.

Bid Price	15%
Past Experience	40%
Approach to the Project	30%
Bidder's Schedule	15%

SECTION 00 21 13 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

This document is a MODIFIED version of EJCDC® C-200, Copyright © 2013 by the National Society of Professional Engineers, American Society of Civil Engineers, and American Council of Engineering Companies, or is based in part on excerpts from EJCDC documents. Those portions of the text that originated in published EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ARTICLE 1 – Defined Terms	1
ARTICLE 2 – Copies of Bidding Documents	2
ARTICLE 3 – Qualifications of Bidders	2
ARTICLE 4 – Site and Other Areas; Existing Site Conditions; Examination of Site; Owner's Program; Other Work at the Site	
ARTICLE 5 - Bidder's Representations	3
ARTICLE 6 – Pre-Bid Conference	4
ARTICLE 7 – Interpretations and Addenda	4
ARTICLE 8 – Bid Security	4
ARTICLE 9 - Contract Times	5
ARTICLE 10 - Damages	5
ARTICLE 11 – Substitute and "Or-Equal" Items	5
ARTICLE 12 – Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others	5
ARTICLE 13 - Preparation of Bid	6
ARTICLE 14 – Basis of Bid	7
ARTICLE 15 – Submittal of Bid	7
ARTICLE 16 - Modification and Withdrawal of Bid	7
ARTICLE 17 – Opening of Bids	8
ARTICLE 18 – Bids to Remain Subject to Acceptance	8
ARTICLE 19 – Evaluation of Bids and Award of Contract	8
ARTICLE 20 – Bonds and Insurance	9
ARTICLE 21 – Signing of Agreement	9
ARTICLE 22 – Sales and Use Taxes	9
ARTICLE 23 – Contracts to be Assigned	9

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINED TERMS

1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated below:

- A. *Issuing Office* The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued and where the bidding procedures are to be administered. For the purpose of this document, the issuing office is Bowen, Collins & Associates, 154 East 14075 South, Draper, Utah 84020.
- B. *Office of the Owner* The office of the Owner is Provo River Water Users Association, 285 West 1100 North, Pleasant Grove, Utah 84062.
- C. *Landscape Architect* The professional responsible for the design of the project. The term Landscape Architect is used interchangeably with Engineer in these documents.

ARTICLE 2 - COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS

- 2.01 Digital complete sets of the Bidding Documents may be obtained from the Issuing Office in the format stated in the advertisement or invitation to bid.
- 2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor Landscape Architect assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete sets of Bidding Documents.
- 2.03 Owner and Landscape Architect, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, do so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not authorize or confer a license for any other use.

ARTICLE 3 - QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS

- 3.01 Bidders for this project will be considered based on a weighted scoring system. The Owner will only accept bids that meet the appropriate threshold from this scoring criteria pertaining to the Bidders bid price, experience and qualifications, approach to project, and schedule.
- 3.02 No requirement in this Article 3 to submit information will prejudice the right of Owner to seek additional pertinent information regarding Bidder's qualifications.
- 3.03 Bidder is advised to carefully review those portions of the Bid Form requiring Bidder's representations and certifications.

ARTICLE 4 – SITE AND OTHER AREAS; EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS; EXAMINATION OF SITE; OWNER'S SAFETY PROGRAM; OTHER WORK AT THE SITE

4.01 Site and Other Areas

A. The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. By definition, the Site includes rights-of-way, easements, and other lands furnished by Owner for the use of the Contractor. Any additional lands required for temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or storage of materials and equipment, and any access needed for such additional lands, are to be obtained and paid for by Contractor.

4.02 Existing Site Conditions

- A. Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental Conditions
 - 1. Subsurface and Physical Conditions: There are no subsurface conditions for this project.
 - 2. Hazardous Environmental Conditions: There are no hazardous environmental conditions known to Owner.

4.03 Site Visit and Testing by Bidders

- A. Bidder may attend the non-mandatory Site visit as scheduled by the Owner and shall not disturb any ongoing operations at the Site. Bidder shall conduct all investigations necessary to bid the project during the scheduled site visit.
- B. Bidder is not required to conduct any subsurface testing, or exhaustive investigations of Site conditions.
- C. Bidder shall obtain all permits, and comply with all terms and conditions established by Owner or other entities controlling the Site with respect to schedule, access, existing operations, security, liability insurance, and applicable safety programs.
- D. Bidder shall clean up and restore the Site to its former condition upon completion of such explorations, investigations, tests, and studies.

4.04 Owner's Safety Program

A. Site visits and work at the Site may be governed by an Owner safety program. As the General Conditions indicate, if an Owner safety program exists, it will be noted in the Supplementary Conditions.

4.05 Other Work at the Site

A. Reference is made to Article 8 of the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of the general nature of other work of which Owner is aware (if any) that is to be performed at the Site by Owner or others (such as utilities and other prime contractors) and relates to the Work contemplated by these Bidding Documents. If Owner is party to a written contract for such other work, then on request, Owner will provide to each Bidder access to examine such contracts (other than portions thereof related to price and other confidential matters), if any.

ARTICLE 5 - BIDDER'S REPRESENTATIONS

- 5.01 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to:
 - A. Examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, and any data and reference items identified in the Bidding Documents;
 - B. Visit the Site, conduct a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and adjacent areas, and become familiar with and satisfy itself as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work;
 - C. Become familiar with and satisfy itself as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work;
 - D. Carefully study all: (1) drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface structures at the Site. Consider the information known to Bidder itself; information commonly known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and the Siterelated reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder; and (3) Bidder's safety precautions and programs;

- E. Agree, based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, that at the time of submitting its Bid no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for performance of the Work at the price bid and within the times required, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents;
- F. Become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents;
- G. Promptly give Landscape Architect written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution thereof by Landscape Architect is acceptable to Bidder;
- H. Determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance and furnishing of the Work; and
- I. Agree that the submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article, that without exception the Bid and all prices in the Bid are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Bidding Documents.

ARTICLE 6 - PRE-BID CONFERENCE

6.01 A non-mandatory pre-Bid conference will be held at the time and location stated in the invitation or advertisement to bid. Representatives of Owner and Landscape Architect will be present to discuss the Project. Landscape Architect will transmit to all prospective Bidders of record such Addenda as Landscape Architect considers necessary in response to questions arising at the conference. Oral statements may not be relied upon and will not be binding or legally effective. No other private meetings will be held outside of this non-mandatory pre-Bid conference.

ARTICLE 7 - INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA

- 7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to Landscape Architect in writing. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Landscape Architect in response to such questions will be issued by Addenda delivered to all parties recorded as having received the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than seven days prior to the date for opening of Bids may not be answered. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect.
- 7.02 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, supplement, or change the Bidding Documents.

ARTICLE 8 - BID SECURITY

8.01 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of 5 percent of Bidder's maximum Bid price (determined by adding the base bid and all alternates) and in the form of a certified check, bank money order, or a Bid bond (on the form included in the Bidding Documents) issued by a surety meeting the requirements of Paragraphs 6.01 and 6.02 of the General Conditions.

- 8.02 The Bid security of the apparent Successful Bidder will be retained until Owner awards the contract to such Bidder, and such Bidder has executed the Contract Documents, furnished the required contract security, and met the other conditions of the Notice of Award, whereupon the Bid security will be released. If the Successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the Contract Documents and furnish the required contract security within 15 days after the Notice of Award, Owner may consider Bidder to be in default, annul the Notice of Award, and the Bid security of that Bidder will be forfeited. Such forfeiture shall be Owner's exclusive remedy if Bidder defaults.
- 8.03 The Bid security of other Bidders that Owner believes to have a reasonable chance of receiving the award may be retained by Owner until the earlier of seven days after the Effective Date of the Contract or 61 days after the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders will be released.
- 8.04 Bid security of other Bidders that Owner believes do not have a reasonable chance of receiving the award will be released within seven days after the Bid opening.

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT TIMES

9.01 The number of days within which, or the dates by which, the Work is to be substantially completed and ready for final payment are set forth in the Agreement.

ARTICLE 10 - DAMAGES

10.01 Provisions for damages, if any, for failure to timely attain a Milestone, Substantial Completion, or completion of the Work in readiness for final payment, are set forth in the Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 - SUBSTITUTE AND "OR-EQUAL" ITEMS

- 11.01 The Contract for the Work, as awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents without consideration during the bidding and Contract award process of possible substitute or "or-equal" items. In cases in which the Contract allows the Contractor to request that Landscape Architect authorize the use of a substitute or "or-equal" item of material or equipment, application for such acceptance may not be made to and will not be considered by Landscape Architect until after the Effective Date of the Contract.
- 11.02 All prices that Bidder sets forth in its Bid shall be based on the presumption that the Contractor will furnish the materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents, as supplemented by Addenda. Any assumptions regarding the possibility of post-Bid approvals of "or-equal" or substitution requests are made at Bidder's sole risk.

ARTICLE 12 - SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS

12.01 A Bidder shall be prepared to retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for the performance of the Work if required by the Bidding Documents (most commonly in the Specifications) to do so. If a prospective Bidder objects to retaining any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, and the concern is not relieved by an Addendum, then the prospective Bidder should refrain from submitting a Bid.

- 12.02 Subsequent to the submittal of the Bid, Owner may not require the Successful Bidder or Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity against which Contractor has reasonable objection.
- 12.03 If apparent Successful Bidder declines to make any such substitution, Owner may award the Contract to the next ranked Bidder that proposes to use acceptable Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities. Declining to make requested substitutions will constitute grounds for forfeiture of the Bid security of any Bidder. Any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity so listed and against which Owner or Landscape Architect makes no written objection prior to the giving of the Notice of Award will be deemed acceptable to Owner and Landscape Architect subject to subsequent revocation of such acceptance as provided in Paragraph 7.06 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 13 - PREPARATION OF BID

- 13.01 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents.
 - A. All blanks on the Bid Form shall be completed in ink and the Bid Form signed in ink. Erasures or alterations shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the Bid Form. A Bid price shall be indicated for each section, Bid item, alternate, adjustment unit price item, and unit price item listed therein.
 - B. If the Bid Form expressly indicates that submitting pricing on a specific alternate item is optional, and Bidder elects to not furnish pricing for such optional alternate item, then Bidder may enter the words "No Bid" or "Not Applicable."
- 13.02 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by a corporate officer (whose title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The corporate address and state of incorporation shall be shown.
- 13.03 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member or other authorized person and accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of formation of the firm and the official address of the firm shall be shown.
- 13.04 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder's name and official address.
- 13.05 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by an authorized representative of each joint venturer in the manner indicated on the Bid Form. The official address of the joint venture shall be shown.
- 13.06 All names shall be printed in ink below the signatures.
- 13.07 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall be filled in on the Bid Form.
- 13.08 Postal and e-mail addresses and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall be shown.
- 13.09 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder's authority and qualification to do business in the state where the Project is located, or Bidder shall covenant in writing to obtain such authority and qualification prior to award of the Contract and attach such covenant to the Bid. Bidder's state contractor license number, if any, shall also be shown on the Bid Form.

ARTICLE 14 - BASIS OF BID

14.01 Unit Price

- A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a unit price basis for each item of Work listed in the unit price section of the Bid Form.
- B. The "Bid Price" (sometimes referred to as the extended price) for each unit price Bid item will be the product of the "Estimated Quantity" (which Owner or its representative has set forth in the Bid Form) for the item and the corresponding "Bid Unit Price" offered by the Bidder. The total of all unit price Bid items will be the sum of these "Bid Prices"; such total will be used by Owner for Bid comparison purposes. The final quantities and Contract Price will be determined in accordance with Paragraph 13.03 of the General Conditions.
- C. Discrepancies between the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in favor of the unit prices. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum.

ARTICLE 15 - SUBMITTAL OF BID

- 15.01 With each copy of the Bidding Documents, a Bidder is furnished one separate unbound copy of the Bid Form, and, if required, the Bid Bond Form. The unbound copy of the Bid Form is to be completed and submitted with the Bid security and the other documents required to be submitted under the terms of Article 7 of the Bid Form.
- 15.02 A Bid shall be received no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in the advertisement or invitation to bid and shall be submitted via email. Email submittals shall contain "PRWUA DISTRICT BUILDING LANDSCAPE RENOVATION" as the subject line and emailed to info@bowencollins.com, and include the name and address of Bidder, and shall be accompanied by the Bid security and other required documents.
- 15.03 Bids received after the date and time prescribed for the opening of bids, or not submitted in the designated manner, will not be accepted and will be returned to the Bidder unopened.

ARTICLE 16 - MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID

- 16.01 A Bid may be withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the same manner that a Bid must be executed and received by the place where Bids are to be submitted prior to the date and time for the opening of Bids. Upon receipt of such notice, the unopened Bid will be returned to the Bidder.
- 16.02 If a Bidder wishes to modify its Bid prior to Bid opening, Bidder must withdraw its initial Bid in the manner specified in Paragraph 16.01 and submit a new Bid prior to the date and time for the opening of Bids.
- 16.03 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with Owner and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid, and the Bid security will be returned. Thereafter, if the Work is rebid, that Bidder will be disqualified from further bidding on the Work.

ARTICLE 17 - OPENING OF BIDS

17.01 The Bids will be opened publicly by the Owner and one or more witnesses, at the discretion of the Owner at the office of the Landscape Architect at 11:00am on February 27, 2023. Further private review by the Board of Provo River Water Users Association will score and select the awarded Bid.

ARTICLE 18 - BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE

18.01 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid Form, but Owner may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of this period.

ARTICLE 19 - EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT

- 19.01 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. Owner will reject the Bid of any Bidder that Owner finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to not be responsible. If Bidder purports to add terms or conditions to its Bid, takes exception to any provision of the Bidding Documents, or attempts to alter the contents of the Contract Documents for purposes of the Bid, then the Owner will reject the Bid as nonresponsive; provided that Owner also reserves the right to waive all minor informalities not involving price, time, or changes in the Work.
- 19.02 If Owner awards the contract for the Work, the project is to be awarded based on four criteria: (1) Bid Price; (2) Experience and qualifications of Bidder; (3) Approach to Project; and (4) Bidder's schedule. The ranking will be weighted as shown below and totaled and the Bidder with the highest total score will be awarded the project. Bidder should include information with its bid that address the four areas noted above, as described in Section 19.03.

19.03 Evaluation of Bids

- A. Bid Price (15%) Bidder to completely fill out the Bid Schedule included in these specifications.
- B. Experience and Qualifications of Bidder (40%) –including information on 3 projects under their direction of similar size and scope. Previously submitted prequalification material will be used for reference if no new experience is submitted with the bid.
- C. Approach to Project (30%) Bidder to prepare a written narrative describing its approach to this project specifically addressing continuous operation of the existing District Building during construction, how construction will progress, and any other aspect to this project the Bidder views as crucial to its success (see section 00 44 20).
- D. Bidder's Schedule (15%) Bidder to include proposed start date and schedule of work to complete work by the date referenced in the Invitation to Bid. As referenced in the Invitation to Bid, Bids that provide earlier start and completion dates will be scored higher by the Owner.
- E. In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed requirements, and such alternates, unit prices, and other data, as may be requested in the Bid Form or prior to the Notice of Award.

- F. For the determination of the apparent successful Bidder when unit price bids are submitted, Bids will be compared on the basis of the total of the products of the estimated quantity of each item and unit price Bid for that item, together with any lump sum items.
- G. In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed requirements, and such alternates, unit prices, and other data, as may be requested in the Bid Form or prior to the Notice of Award.

ARTICLE 20 - BONDS AND INSURANCE

20.01 Article 6 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets forth Owner's requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the Successful Bidder delivers the Agreement (executed by Successful Bidder) to Owner, it shall be accompanied by required bonds and insurance documentation.

ARTICLE 21 - SIGNING OF AGREEMENT

21.01 It is customary for Owner to fill in the date on the signature page of the Agreement in order to indicate when it is to become effective (the Effective Date of the Contract) so that the required bonds may be properly dated. When Owner issues a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the unexecuted counterparts of the Agreement along with the other Contract Documents as identified in the Agreement. Within 15 days thereafter, Successful Bidder shall execute and deliver the required number of counterparts of the Agreement (and any bonds and insurance documentation required to be delivered by the Contract Documents) to Owner. Within ten days thereafter, Owner shall deliver one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement to Successful Bidder, together with printed and electronic copies of the Contract Documents as stated in Paragraph 2.02 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 22 - SALES AND USE TAXES

22.01 Owner is not exempt from sales tax.

ARTICLE 23 - CONTRACTS TO BE ASSIGNED

23.01 None.

END OF SECTION

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

DOCUMENT 00 41 43 BID FORM

PART	1 6	GENERAL
1.1	BID	DER
	A.	The Bidder is as follows
		Name:
		Address:
		Telephone number: Fax number:
		Email:
		Tax identification number:
	В.	Bidder holds license number, issued on the, day of, by the Utah State Department of Commerce, Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing. Bidder is licensed to practice as a Contractor. License renewal date is the
	C.	day of The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of the following Addenda.
		(list Addenda numbers here)

1.2 **BID PROPOSAL**

A. After having personally and carefully examined all conditions surrounding the Work and the Contract Documents, the undersigned proposes to furnish all labor, equipment, tools and machinery and to furnish and deliver all materials not specifically mentioned as being furnished by the OWNER, which is required in and about the construction of the Construction Contract known as

PROVO RIVER WATER USERS ASSOCIATION Admin Building Landscape Renovation

- B. The undersigned proposes to complete the Work for the price or prices listed in the Bid Schedule and understands that quantities for Unit Price Work are not guaranteed.
- C. The undersigned proposes to furnish bonds with the Contract, signed by a surety company satisfactory to the OWNER, in an amount equal to the Contract amount

conditioned to insure compliance with all requirements of the Contract Documents.

- E. The undersigned proposes to execute the attached contract within ten (10) days after the Notice of Award, and to begin work within ten (10) days after being notified to do so by the OWNER.
- F. If OWNER finds it necessary to further define the Work, Contract Price, Contract Time or some other portion of the Construction Contract, after Bid opening, the Bidder promises to execute an Agreement Supplement prior to or concurrent with the execution of the Agreement, if the Agreement Supplement is acceptable to the Bidder.
- G. It is understood that the OWNER has the right to reject this proposal or to accept it, or any portion therein, at the prices listed in the Bid Schedule.

1.3 **REFERENCES**

- A. APWA 01 29 00: Payment Procedures.
- B. Document 00 52 43: Agreement.

1.4 SCHEDULE TO BE ADDED TO THE AGREEMENT

A. This document will be added to the Agreement by reference.

PART 2 BID SCHEDULE

This project shall be paid in lump sum. Any additions or deductions shall be calculated using Contractor provided unit prices. Total bid price and itemized unit prices shall be listed in the spaces provided below. The owner shall have the option to include or exclude any or all of the following bid items from the project. The owner shall have the option to include or exclude Bid Alternate 1 from the project.

2.1 **BASE BID**

A. The Base Bid includes all the items on the design drawings and specifications:

Bid Schedule - Base Bid

Item No.	Item	Estimated Quantity	Unit	Unit Price	Total Estimated Price
1	Mobilization/Demobilization	1	LS	\$	\$
2	Construction Survey	1	LS	\$	\$
3	Clear and Grub	1	LS	\$	\$
4	Erosion Control (inlet protection)	1	LS	\$	\$
5	Haul Off and Dispose of	1	LS	\$	\$

Item No.	Item	Estimated Quantity	Unit	Unit Price	Total Estimated Price
	Removed Material				
6	Grading	1	LS		
7	Relocation of Existing Light Pole	1	LS	\$	\$
8	Block Retaining Wall	110	LF	\$	\$
9	Boulder Retaining Wall	142	LF	\$	\$
10	Engraved Boulder Entry Sign and Installation	1	EA	\$	\$
11	Pedestal Information Sign and Installation	1	EA	\$	\$
12	Icon Steel Structure and Installation	1	EA	\$	\$
13	4" Concrete Pad for Steel Structure	1,313	SF	\$	\$
14	8" Concrete Mowcurb	290	LF	\$	\$
15	Landscape Boulders	14	EA	\$	\$
16	Large, Flat Stones and Gravel for Dry Creek Bed Crossing	2	EA	\$	\$
17	Landscape Complete	1	LS	\$	\$
18	Irrigation Complete	1	LS	\$	\$

TOTAL BID PRICE FOR **BASE BID** SCHEDULE

	_DOLLARS (\$)
(use words)	•	-
	Respectfully Submitted,	
	- Dill	
	Bidder	
(Corporate Seal) If bid is by corporation		
ii bid is by corporation		
	Ву:	
	Name and Title	
Witness		

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 00 43 14 BID BOND (DAMAGES FORM)

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC® C-435) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

Any singular reference to Bidder, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. BIDDER (Name and Address): SURETY (Name, and Address of Principal Place of Business): OWNER (Name and Address): BID Bid Due Date: Description (Project Name—Include Location): **BOND Bond Number:** Date: Penal sum (Words) (Figures) Surety and Bidder, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause this Bid Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. **BIDDER SURETY** (Seal) (Seal) Surety's Name and Corporate Seal Bidder's Name and Corporate Seal By: By: Signature (Attach Power of Attorney) Signature **Print Name Print Name** Title Title Attest: Attest: Signature Signature Title Title Note: Addresses are to be used for giving any required notice. Provide execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers, if necessary.

- 1. Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to pay to Owner upon default of Bidder any difference between the total amount of Bidder's Bid and the total amount of the Bid of the next lowest, responsible Bidder that submitted a responsive Bid as determined by Owner for the work required by the Contract Documents, provided that:
 - 1.1 If there is no such next Bidder, and Owner does not abandon the Project, then Bidder and Surety shall pay to Owner the penal sum set forth on the face of this Bond, and
 - 1.2 In no event shall Bidder's and Surety's obligation hereunder exceed the penal sum set forth on the face of this Bond.
 - 1.3 Recovery under the terms of this Bond shall be Owner's sole and exclusive remedy upon default of Bidder.
- 2. Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of Bidder to deliver within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents.
- 3. This obligation shall be null and void if:
 - 3.1 Owner accepts Bidder's Bid and Bidder delivers within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents, or
 - 3.2 All Bids are rejected by Owner, or
 - 3.3 Owner fails to issue a Notice of Award to Bidder within the time specified in the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety when required by Paragraph 5 hereof).
- 4. Payment under this Bond will be due and payable upon default of Bidder and within 30 calendar days after receipt by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default from Owner, which notice will be given with reasonable promptness, identifying this Bond and the Project and including a statement of the amount due.
- 5. Surety waives notice of any and all defenses based on or arising out of any time extension to issue Notice of Award agreed to in writing by Owner and Bidder, provided that the total time for issuing Notice of Award including extensions shall not in the aggregate exceed 120 days from Bid due date without Surety's written consent.
- 6. No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default required in Paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and Surety and in no case later than one year after the Bid due date.
- 7. Any suit or action under this Bond shall be commenced only in a court of competent jurisdiction located in the state in which the Project is located.
- 8. Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and sent to Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses shown on the face of this Bond. Such notices may be sent by personal delivery, commercial courier, or by United States Registered or Certified Mail, return receipt requested, postage pre-paid, and shall be deemed to be effective upon receipt by the party concerned.
- 9. Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a current and effective Power of Attorney evidencing the authority of the officer, agent, or representative who executed this Bond on behalf of Surety to execute, seal, and deliver such Bond and bind the Surety thereby.
- 10. This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable statutory requirements. Any applicable requirement

of any applicable statute that has been omitted from this Bond shall be deemed to be included herein as if set forth at length. If any provision of this Bond conflicts with any applicable statute, then the provision of said statute shall govern and the remainder of this Bond that is not in conflict therewith shall continue in full force and effect.

11. The term "Bid" as used herein includes a Bid, offer, or proposal as applicable.

END OF SECTION

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 00 43 70 PROPOSED SUBCONTRACTORS AND MAJOR MATERIAL SUPPLIERS

Bidder shall submit a list of each subcontractor and major materials suppliers that will be used in the Work if the Bidder is awarded the Contract.

Name	Business Address	Work Description	Percent

Name of Bidder

SECTION 00 43 83 PRELIMINARY CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE

Bidder shall complete the following Gantt chart schedule, adding major construction items for the listed activities at a minimum. The schedule shall indicate the dates for Substantial Completion, Final Completion, and any constraints on performance of the work. Assume Notice to Proceed is issued by March 17, 2023.

(Insert appropriate table with major tasks)

	[Date]			
Activity				
CD: 11	-			
Name of Bidder				

END OF SECTION

SECTION 00 44 20 APPROACH TO PROJECT

Bidder shall submit a written narrative that summarizes his proposed approach to the project. The narrative should specifically address the following issues: staging of equipment; method of providing public and employee access during business hours, method of clear and grub; and other key project elements that the Contractor feels is important to the successful completion of the project. Additional pages can be attached if needed.

oucostan compression of one projects in an armonal pages can be accepted.	

Name of Bidder

SECTION 00 45 30 E-VERIFY CERTIFICATION

_	n in the County of Wa		nder a contract named: <u>Admin</u> hich Provo River Water Users
verifies its compliance	with all applicable p Code Ann. Title 63G, (rovisions of the Utah Im	ed Bidder/Contractor, hereby migration Accountability and Private Employer Verification
subcontractor(s) in con with Provo River Wate Bidder/Contractor will	nection with the phy er Users Association, secure from such sub- the Utah Immigration	sical performance of serv of which this certification contractor(s) similar veri	employ or contract with any vices pursuant to the contract on is a part, the undersigned fication of compliance with all orcement Act and Utah Private
E-Verify or U-Verify Number			_
{AFFIX} {CORPORATE} {SEAL} {HERE}	Bidder/Contractor		_
,	Signature of Autho	rized Representative	_
	Title		_

SECTION 00 51 00 NOTICE OF AWARD

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC® C-510) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

Date of Is	suance:		
Owner:		Owner's Contract No.:	
Engineer	:	Engineer's Project No.:	
Project:		Contract Name:	
Bidder:			
Bidder's A	Address:		
TO BIDD	ER:		
	tified that Owner has accepted your Bid dated sful Bidder and are awarded a Contract for:	[] for the above Contract, and that you are	
	[Describe Work, alternate	s, or sections of Work awarded]	
The Contra	act Price of the awarded Contract is: \$ [] [note if subject to unit prices, or cost-plus]	
		t accompany this Notice of Award, and one copy of the Contract as been transmitted or made available to Bidder electronically. ward]	
\boxtimes	A set of the Drawings will be delivered separat	ely from the other Contract Documents.	
You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date of receipt of this Notice of Award:			
1.	Deliver to Owner [] counterparts of the A	agreement, fully executed by Bidder.	
		ontract security [e.g., performance and payment bonds] and structions to Bidders and General Conditions, Articles 2 and 6.	
3.	Other conditions precedent (if any):		
	comply with these conditions within the time s e of Award, and declare your Bid security forfei	pecified will entitle Owner to consider you in default, annul ted.	
	nent, together with any additional copies of the	ons, Owner will return to you one fully executed counterpart of e Contract Documents as indicated in Paragraph 2.02 of the	
Owner:			
	Authorized Signature		
By:			
Title:			
Сору:	Engineer		

END OF SECTION

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 00 52 13 AGREEMENT

BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (STIPULATED PRICE)

This document is a MODIFIED version of EJCDC® C-520, Copyright © 2013 by the National Society of Professional Engineers, American Society of Civil Engineers, and American Council of Engineering Companies, or is based in part on excerpts from EJCDC documents. Those portions of the text that originated in published EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
ARTICLE 1 – WORK	2
ARTICLE 2 – THE PROJECT	2
ARTICLE 3 – ENGINEER	
ARTICLE 4 – CONTRACT TIMES	2
ARTICLE 5 – CONTRACT PRICE	3
ARTICLE 6 – PAYMENT PROCEDURES	4
ARTICLE 7 – INTEREST	5
ARTICLE 8 - CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS	5
ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	6
ARTICLE 10 - MISCELLANEOUS	6

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between Provo River Water Users Association ("Owner") and _____ ("Contractor").

ARTICLE 1 - WORK

1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is generally described as follows:

ARTICLE 2 - THE PROJECT

2.01 The Project, of which the Work under the Contract Documents is a part, is generally described as follows:

Removal of existing landscape features, unless noted for preservation, and installation of new landscape features according to the landscape plan. This includes but it is not limited to the installation of new trees, shrubs, grasses, perennials, boulders, boulder walls, ground covers, block walls, signs, concrete curbing, a dry creek bed, a concrete pad, a shade structure, and irrigation system in accordance with the drawings. Work shall be completed by September 1, 2023.

.

ARTICLE 3 - ENGINEER OR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

- 3.01 The Project has been designed by Bowen Collins & Associates.
- 3.02 The Owner has retained Bowen, Collins & Associates ("Landscape Architect") to act as Owner's representative, assume all duties and responsibilities, and have the rights and authority assigned to Engineer in the Contract Documents in connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT TIMES

- 4.01 *Time of the Essence*
 - A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for final payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract.
- 4.02 Contract Times: Dates
 - A. The Work will be substantially completed on or before July 1, 2023, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions on or before September 1, 2023.
 - B. Parts of the Work shall be substantially completed on or before the following Milestone(s):
 - 1. Milestone 1: Landscape and irrigation shall be fully installed and operational by July 1, 2023.
 - 2. Milestone 2: Concrete and structures shall be fully installed by August 1, 2023.

4.03 Liquidated Damages

- Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence as stated in Paragraph 4.01 above and that Owner, its shareholders and others will suffer direct, incidental and consequential financial and other losses if the Work is not completed and Milestones not achieved within the times specified in Paragraph 4.02 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with the Contract. Such damages will include, but are not limited to, consequential damages resulting from the delay of delivery of water at the beginning of the irrigation season and the costs associated with providing replacement water, the inability to generate power, and resulting claims that may be made against Owner arising out of the delay in water deliveries and power generation, as well as overtime for Owner's management staff, delay in other Owner projects, etc. The parties recognize that if there is a delay then assessing, calculating and proving actual damages after the fact will be difficult, expensive and time consuming for everyone involved, and that damages may accrue well into the future making a timely resolution difficult. The parties agree that the liquidated damages described below are agreed to as a good faith effort to estimate actual damages in advance in a situation where calculating actual damages after the fact will be difficult, uncertain, expensive and time consuming. Owner and Contractor therefore agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty):
 - 1. Substantial Completion: Contractor shall pay Owner \$ 1,500 for each day that expires after the time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified in Paragraph 4.02.A above for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete.
 - 2. Completion of Remaining Work: After Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) for completion and readiness for final payment, Contractor shall pay Owner \$ 500 for each day that expires after such time until the Work is completed and ready for final payment.
 - 3. Liquidated damages for failing to timely attain Substantial Completion and final completion are not additive and will not be imposed concurrently.

4. Milestones:

- a. Contractor shall pay Owner \$ 1,500 for each day that expires after the time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified above for achievement of Milestone 1, until Milestone 1 is achieved.
- b. Contractor shall pay Owner \$ 1,500 for each day that expires after the time (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract) specified above for achievement of Milestone 2, until Milestone 2 is achieved.

4.04 Special Damages

A. In addition to the amount provided for damages, Contractor shall reimburse Owner (1) for any fines or penalties imposed on Owner as a direct result of the Contractor's failure to attain Substantial Completion according to the Contract Times, and (2) for the actual costs reasonably incurred by Owner for engineering, construction observation, inspection, and administrative services needed after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 for Substantial Completion (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract), until the Work is substantially complete.

B. After Contractor achieves Substantial Completion, if Contractor shall neglect, refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Times, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for the actual costs reasonably incurred by Owner for engineering, construction observation, inspection, and administrative services needed after the time specified in Paragraph 4.02 for Work to be completed and ready for final payment (as duly adjusted pursuant to the Contract), until the Work is completed and ready for final payment.

CONTRACT PRICE

- 4.05 Owner shall pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents the amounts that follow, subject to adjustment under the Contract:
 - A. For all Work, at the prices stated in Contractor's Bid, attached hereto as an exhibit.

ARTICLE 5 - PAYMENT PROCEDURES

- 5.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments
 - A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 15 of the General Conditions. Applications for Payment will be processed by Engineer as provided in the General Conditions.
- 5.02 *Progress Payments; Retainage*
 - A. Owner shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of Contractor's Applications for Payment within 45 days of receipt of requests for payment for performance of the Work as provided in Paragraph 6.02.A.1 below, provided that such Applications for Payment have been submitted on or before the 10th of the month and otherwise meet the requirements of the Contract. All such payments will be measured by the Schedule of Values established as provided in the General Conditions (and in the case of Unit Price Work based on the number of units completed) or, in the event there is no Schedule of Values, as provided elsewhere in the Contract.
 - Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less such amounts as Owner may withhold, including but not limited to retention or damages, in accordance with the Contract
 - a. 95 percent of Work completed (with the balance being retainage). If the Work has been 50 percent completed as determined by Engineer, and if the character and progress of the Work have been satisfactory to Owner and Engineer, then as long as the character and progress of the Work remain satisfactory to Owner and Engineer, there will be no additional retainage; and
 - b. 95 percent of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work (with the balance being retainage).
 - B. Upon Substantial Completion, Owner shall pay an amount sufficient to increase total payments to Contractor to 100 percent of the Work completed, less such amounts set off by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 15.01.E of the General Conditions, and less 100 percent of Engineer's estimate of the value of Work to be completed or corrected as shown on the punch list of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment.

5.03 Final Payment

A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions, Owner shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by Engineer as provided in said Paragraph 15.06.

ARTICLE 6 - INTEREST

6.01 All amounts not paid when due shall bear interest at the maximum rate per annum, as allowed by the State.

ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS

- 7.01 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Contract, Contractor makes the following representations:
 - A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents, and any data and reference items identified in the Contract Documents.
 - B. Contractor has visited the Site, conducted a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and adjacent areas, and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
 - C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
 - D. Contractor has carefully studied all: (1) all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface structures at the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings, and (2) reports and drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at or adjacent to the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings.
 - E. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor itself; information commonly known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Siterelated reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor; and (3) Contractor's safety precautions and programs.
 - F. Based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, Contractor agrees that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract.
 - G. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents.
 - H. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor.

- I. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work.
- J. Contractor's entry into this Contract constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Contractor that without exception all prices in the Agreement are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 8 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

8.01 *Contents*

- A. The Contract Documents consist of the following:
 - 1. This Agreement.
 - 2. Performance bond.
 - 3. Payment bond.
 - 4. General Conditions.
 - 5. Supplementary Conditions.
 - 6. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual.
 - 7. Drawings
 - 8. Addenda
 - 9. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows):
 - Contractor's Bid.
 - 10. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract and are not attached hereto:
 - a. Notice to Proceed.
 - b. Work Change Directives.
 - c. Change Orders.
 - d. Field Orders.
- B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly noted otherwise above).
- C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9.
- D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 9 - MISCELLANEOUS

9.01 *Terms*

A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions and the Supplementary Conditions.

9.02 Assignment of Contract

A. Unless expressly agreed to elsewhere in the Contract, no assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, money that may become due and money that is due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents.

9.03 Successors and Assigns

A. Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents.

9.04 Severability

A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Contractor, who agree that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision.

9.05 *Contractor's Certifications*

- A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing for or in executing the Contract. For the purposes of this Paragraph 10.05:
 - 1. "corrupt practice" means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of anything of value likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process or in the Contract execution:
 - 2. "fraudulent practice" means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the bidding process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish Bid or Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition;
 - 3. "collusive practice" means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish Bid prices at artificial, non-competitive levels; and
 - 4. "coercive practice" means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or affect the execution of the Contract.

9.06 Other Provisions

A. Owner stipulates that if the General Conditions that are made a part of this Contract are based on EJCDC® C-700, Standard General Conditions for the Construction Contract, published by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee®, and if Owner is the party that has furnished said General Conditions, then Owner has plainly shown all modifications to the standard wording of such published document to the Contractor,

through a process such as highlighting or "track changes" (redline/strikeout), or in the Supplementary Conditions.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Agreement.

This Agreement will be effective on (which is the Effective Date of the

Contract).	(Which is the Effective Bate of the
OWNER:	CONTRACTOR:
Ву:	By:
Title:	
	(If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or a joint venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.)
Attest:	Attest:
Title:	Title:
Address for giving notices:	Address for giving notices:
	License No.:
	(where applicable)
(If Owner is a corporation, attach evidence of authority to sign. If Owner is a public body, attach evidence of authority to sign and	NOTE TO USER: Use in those states or other jurisdictions where applicable or required.

END OF SECTION

resolution or other documents authorizing

execution of this Agreement.)

SECTION 00 55 00 NOTICE TO PROCEED

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC C-550) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

Owner:		Owner's Contract No.:		
Contractor:		Contractor's Project No.:		
Engineer:		Engineer's Project No.:		
Project:		Contract Name:		
		Effective Date of Contract:		
TO CONTRACTO	OR:			
Owner hereby no to run on [Pick D		ntract Times under the above Contract will commence		
Work shall be do In accordance wi readiness for fina The number of days to achieve r Before starting a	On that date, Contractor shall start performing its obligations under the Contract Documents. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to such date. In accordance with the Agreement, the date of Substantial Completion is [Pick Date] and the date of readiness for final payment is [Pick Date]. The number of days to achieve Substantial Completion is [Specify number of days] and the number of days to achieve readiness for final payment is [Specify number of days]. Before starting any work at the Site, Contractor must comply with the following: [Specify any access limitations, security procedures, or other restrictions]			
Owner:				
By: Title: Date Issued:	Authorized Signature			
Copy: Landscap	oe Architect			

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

BC&A PROVO RIVER WATER USERS ASSOCIATION PRWUA ADMIN BUILDING LANDSCAPE RENOVATION

SECTION 00 61 14 PERFORMANCE BOND

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC® C-610) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

CONTRA	ACTOR (name and address):		SURI	ETY (name and address of principal pla	ce of business):
OWNER	(name and address):				
CONSTR	RUCTION CONTRACT				
Am	ective Date of the Agreement: ount: scription (name and location):				
BOND					
Dat	nd Number: Ee (not earlier than the Effective Date of th ount:	ne Agreement of th	ne Constr	uction Contract):	
Mod	difications to this Bond Form: [See Paragr	aph 16	None	
-	and Bidder, intending to be legally formance Bond to be duly execute	-			lo each cause
CONTRA	ACTOR AS PRINCIPAL		SURI	ETY	
		(Seal)			(Seal)
Contract	tor's Name and Corporate Seal	_ ` `	Sure	ty's Name and Corporate Seal	_ 、
By:			By:		
J	Signature		_	Signature (Attach Power of Att	torney)
	Print Name		_	Print Name	
	Title		_	Title	
Attest:					
	Signature		_	Signature	
	Title		_	Title	

Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable.

- 1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Construction Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference.
- 2. If the Contractor performs the Construction Contract, the Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond, except when applicable to participate in a conference as provided in Paragraph 3.
- 3. If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the Surety's obligation under this Bond shall arise after:
 - 3.1 The Owner first provides notice to the Contractor and the Surety that the Owner is considering declaring a Contractor Default. Such notice shall indicate whether the Owner is requesting a conference among the Owner, Contractor, and Surety to discuss the Contractor's performance. If the Owner does not request a conference, the Surety may, within five (5) business days after receipt of the Owner's notice, request such a conference. If the Surety timely requests a conference, the Owner shall Unless the Owner agrees otherwise, any attend. conference requested under this Paragraph 3.1 shall be held within ten (10) business days of the Surety's receipt of the Owner's notice. If the Owner, the Contractor, and the Surety agree, the Contractor shall be allowed a reasonable time to perform the Construction Contract, but such an agreement shall not waive the Owner's right, if any, subsequently to declare a Contractor Default;
 - 3.2 The Owner declares a Contractor Default, terminates the Construction Contract and notifies the Surety; and
 - 3.3 The Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the Contract Price in accordance with the terms of the Construction Contract to the Surety or to a contractor selected to perform the Construction Contract.
- 4. Failure on the part of the Owner to comply with the notice requirement in Paragraph 3.1 shall not constitute a failure to comply with a condition precedent to the Surety's obligations, or release the Surety from its obligations, except to the extent the Surety demonstrates actual prejudice.
- 5. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take one of the following actions:
 - 5.1 Arrange for the Contractor, with the consent of the Owner, to perform and complete the Construction Contract;
 - 5.2 Undertake to perform and complete the Construction Contract itself, through its agents or independent contractors;

- 5.3 Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified contractors acceptable to the Owner for a contract for performance and completion of the Construction Contract, arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the Owner and a contractor selected with the Owners concurrence, to be secured with performance and payment bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent to the bonds issued on the Construction Contract, and pay to the Owner the amount of damages as described in Paragraph 7 in excess of the Balance of the Contract Price incurred by the Owner as a result of the Contractor Default: or
- 5.4 Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for completion, or obtain a new contractor, and with reasonable promptness under the circumstances:
 - 5.4.1 After investigation, determine the amount for which it may be liable to the Owner and, as soon as practicable after the amount is determined, make payment to the Owner; or
 - 5.4.2 Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the Owner, citing the reasons for denial.
- 6. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 5 with reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default on this Bond seven days after receipt of an additional written notice from the Owner to the Surety demanding that the Surety perform its obligations under this Bond, and the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner. If the Surety proceeds as provided in Paragraph 5.4, and the Owner refuses the payment or the Surety has denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner.
- 7. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.2, or 5.3, then the responsibilities of the Surety to the Owner shall not be greater than those of the Contractor under the Construction Contract, and the responsibilities of the Owner to the Surety shall not be greater than those of the Owner under the Construction Contract. Subject to the commitment by the Owner to pay the Balance of the Contract Price, the Surety is obligated, without duplication for:
 - 7.1 the responsibilities of the Contractor for correction of defective work and completion of the Construction Contract;
 - 7.2 additional legal, design professional, and delay costs resulting from the Contractor's Default, and resulting from the actions or failure to act of the Surety under Paragraph 5; and
 - 7.3 liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Construction Contract, actual damages caused by delayed performance or non-performance of the Contractor.
- 8. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.3, or 5.4, the Surety's liability is limited to the amount of this Bond.

- 9. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner or others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced or set off on account of any such unrelated obligations. No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than the Owner or its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns.
- 10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.
- 11. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the work or part of the work is located and shall be instituted within two years after a declaration of Contractor Default or within two years after the Contractor ceased working or within two years after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this Bond, whichever occurs first. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum periods of limitations available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.
- 12. Notice to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature appears.
- 13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.
- 14. Definitions

- 14.1 Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount payable by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract after all proper adjustments have been made including allowance for the Contractor for any amounts received or to be received by the Owner in settlement of insurance or other claims for damages to which the Contractor is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper payments made to or on behalf of the Contractor under the Construction Contract.
- 14.2 Construction Contract: The agreement between the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all Contract Documents and changes made to the agreement and the Contract Documents.
- 14.3 Contractor Default: Failure of the Contractor, which has not been remedied or waived, to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Construction Contract.
- 14.4 Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other material terms of the Construction Contract.
- 14.5 Contract Documents: All the documents that comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor.
- 15. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor.
- 16. Modifications to this Bond are as follows:

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 00 61 15 PAYMENT BOND

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC® C-615) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

CONTRA	ACTOR (name and address):		SURI	ETY (name and address of principal place of business):
OWNER	L (name and address):			
CONSTR	RUCTION CONTRACT			
Am	ective Date of the Agreement: count: scription (name and location):			
BOND	•			
Dat	nd Number: te (not earlier than the Effective Date o tount:	of the Agreement of th	e Constri	uction Contract):
Mo	difications to this Bond Form:	⊠ None		See Paragraph 18
	and Bidder, intending to be lega ment Bond to be duly executed			ct to the terms set forth below, do each cause r, agent, or representative.
CONTRA	ACTOR AS PRINCIPAL		SURI	ETY
Contrac	tor's Name and Corporate Seal	(Seal)	Sure	ty's Name and Corporate Seal
By:			By:	
	Signature		_	Signature (Attach Power of Attorney)
	Print Name		_	Print Name
	Title		_	Title
Attest:			_	
	Signature			Signature
	Title		<u> </u>	Title

Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable.

- 1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to the Owner to pay for labor, materials, and equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference, subject to the following terms.
- 2. If the Contractor promptly makes payment of all sums due to Claimants, and defends, indemnifies, and holds harmless the Owner from claims, demands, liens, or suits by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, then the Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond.
- 3. If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the Surety's obligation to the Owner under this Bond shall arise after the Owner has promptly notified the Contractor and the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13) of claims, demands, liens, or suits against the Owner or the Owner's property by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, and tendered defense of such claims, demands, liens, or suits to the Contractor and the Surety.
- 4. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions in Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner against a duly tendered claim, demand, lien, or suit.
- 5. The Surety's obligations to a Claimant under this Bond shall arise after the following:
 - 5.1 Claimants who do not have a direct contract with the Contractor,
 - 5.1.1 have furnished a written notice of nonpayment to the Contractor, stating with substantial accuracy the amount claimed and the name of the party to whom the materials were, or equipment was, furnished or supplied or for whom the labor was done or performed, within ninety (90) days after having last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment included in the Claim; and
 - 5.1.2 have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13).
 - 5.2 Claimants who are employed by or have a direct contract with the Contractor have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13).
- 6. If a notice of non-payment required by Paragraph 5.1.1 is given by the Owner to the Contractor, that is sufficient to satisfy a Claimant's obligation to furnish a written notice of non-payment under Paragraph 5.1.1.

- 7. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 5.1 or 5.2, whichever is applicable, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take the following actions:
 - 7.1 Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the Owner, within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and the basis for challenging any amounts that are disputed; and
 - 7.2 Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed amounts.
 - 7.3 The Surety's failure to discharge its obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2 shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of defenses the Surety or Contractor may have or acquire as to a Claim, except as to undisputed amounts for which the Surety and Claimant have reached agreement. If, however, the Surety fails to discharge its obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2, the Surety shall indemnify the Claimant for the reasonable attorney's fees the Claimant incurs thereafter to recover any sums found to be due and owing to the Claimant.
- 8. The Surety's total obligation shall not exceed the amount of this Bond, plus the amount of reasonable attorney's fees provided under Paragraph 7.3, and the amount of this Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good faith by the Surety.
- 9. Amounts owed by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract shall be used for the performance of the Construction Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, under any construction performance bond. By the Contractor furnishing and the Owner accepting this Bond, they agree that all funds earned by the Contractor in the performance of the Construction Contract are dedicated to satisfy obligations of the Contractor and Surety under this Bond, subject to the Owner's priority to use the funds for the completion of the work.
- 10. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner, Claimants, or others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction Contract. The Owner shall not be liable for the payment of any costs or expenses of any Claimant under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond no obligation to make payments to or give notice on behalf of Claimants, or otherwise have any obligations to Claimants under this Bond.
- 11. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.
- 12. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under this Bond other than in a court of competent jurisdiction in the state in which the project that is the subject of the Construction Contract is located or after the expiration of one year from the date (1) on which the Claimant sent a Claim to the Surety pursuant to Paragraph 5.1.2 or 5.2, or (2) on which the last labor or service was performed by anyone or the last materials or equipment were furnished by anyone under the Construction Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first

occurs. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.

- 13. Notice and Claims to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature appears. Actual receipt of notice or Claims, however accomplished, shall be sufficient compliance as of the date received.
- 14. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.
- 15. Upon requests by any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of this Bond, the Contractor and Owner shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall permit a copy to be made.

16. Definitions

- 16.1 Claim: A written statement by the Claimant including at a minimum:
 - 1. The name of the Claimant;
 - 2. The name of the person for whom the labor was done, or materials or equipment furnished;
 - 3. A copy of the agreement or purchase order pursuant to which labor, materials, or equipment was furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract;
 - 4. A brief description of the labor, materials, or equipment furnished;
 - 5. The date on which the Claimant last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment for use in the performance of the Construction Contract:
 - 6. The total amount earned by the Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of the date of the Claim;

- 7. The total amount of previous payments received by the Claimant; and
- 8. The total amount due and unpaid to the Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of the date of the Claim.
- 16.2 Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct contract with the Contractor or with a subcontractor of the Contractor to furnish labor, materials, or equipment for use in the performance of the Construction Contract. The term Claimant also includes any individual or entity that has rightfully asserted a claim under an applicable mechanic's lien or similar statute against the real property upon which the Project is located. The intent of this Bond shall be to include without limitation in the terms of "labor, materials, or equipment" that part of the water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service, or rental equipment used in the Construction Contract, architectural and engineering services required for performance of the work of the Contractor and the Contractor's subcontractors, and all other items for which a mechanic's lien may be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, materials, or equipment were furnished.
- 16.3 Construction Contract: The agreement between the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all Contract Documents and all changes made to the agreement and the Contract Documents.
- 16.4 Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other material terms of the Construction Contract.
- 16.5 Contract Documents: All the documents that comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor.
- 17. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor.
- 18. Modifications to this Bond are as follows:

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 00 63 49 WORK CHANGE DIRECTIVE

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC® C-940) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

		Work C	hange Directive
Date of Issuance:	Effective	e Date:	
Owner:	Owner's	s Contract No.:	
Contractor:	Contrac	tor's Project No.:	
Engineer:	Enginee	er's Project No.:	
Project:	Contrac	t Name:	
Contractor is directed to proceed promptly v Description:	vith the following c	hange(s):	
Attachments: [List documents supporting cho	ange]		
Purpose for Work Change Directive: Directive to proceed promptly with the Work Price and Contract Time, is issued due to: [Image: Non-agreement on pricing of proceed for schedule stimated Change in Contract Price and Contr	<i>check one or both o</i> posed change. e or other Project i	of the following] reasons.	
Contract Price \$		[increase] [decre	-
Contract Time days Basis of estimated change in Contract Price:		[increase] [decre	easej.
☐ Lump Sum		Unit Price	
\square Cost of the Work		Other	
RECOMMENDED:	AUTHORIZED	BY:	RECEIVED:
By: By:		Ву:	
Engineer (Authorized Signature)	Owner (Authorized	Signature)	Contractor (Authorized Signature)
Title: Title	:	Titl	e:
Date: Date	::	Dat	e:
Approved by Funding Agency (if applicable	a)		
Approved by Funding Agency (if applicable By:	= J	Date:	
Title:		Date.	
1100			

SECTION 00 63 63 CHANGE ORDER

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC® C-941) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

Effective Date:

Change Order No.

Owner:		Owner's Con				
Contrac		Contractor's Project No.:				
Engine		· ·	Engineer's Project No.:			
Project			Contract Na			
	tract is modified as follows	upon executi	on of this Change Order	:		
Descript	cion:					
Attachm	ents: [List documents suppo	rting change	1			
	CHANGE IN CONTRACT P	RICE	CHANG	E IN CON	TRACT TIMES	
			[note chang	es in Miles	tones if applicable]	
Origina	al Contract Price:		Original Contract Tin			
Ф			Substantial Completi			
\$			Ready for Final Paym	nent:		
Et	1[11[-1	F: 1 F.1	. C	days or dates	
_	use] [decrease] from previou e Orders No to No:	siy approved	Orders No to No	_	viously approved Change	
Change	. Orders 110 to 110		Substantial Completi			
\$			Ready for Final Paym			
			days			
Contra	ct Price prior to this Change	Order:	Contract Times prior		nange Order:	
			Substantial Completion:			
\$			Ready for Final Payment: days or dates			
[increa	ise] [decrease] of this Change	e Order:	[increase] [decrease]		ange Order:	
			Substantial Completion:			
\$			Ready for Final Paym	ient:	days or dates	
Contra	ct Price incorporating this C	hango Ordor	Contract Times with	all approx	•	
Contra	ct Frice incorporating this C	nange Order.	Substantial Completi		red Change Orders.	
\$			Ready for Final Paym			
					days or dates	
RECOM	MMENDED:	ACCEPTE	D:	ACCEP	ΓED:	
By:		By:		By:		
	Engineer (if required)		Owner (Authorized)		Contractor (Authorized)	
Title:		Title:		_ Title:		
Date:		Date:		_ Date:		
Approv	ved by Funding Agency (if ap	plicable)				
By:			Date:			
BC&A						
	RIVER WATER USERS ASSOC	CIATION			CHANGE ORDER	

Date of Issuance:

Title:

SECTION 00 65 16 CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC® C-625) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

Owner:	Owner's Contract No.:
Contractor:	Contractor's Project No.:
Engineer:	Engineer's Project No.:
Project:	Contract Name:
This [Select preliminary or	inal] Certificate of Substantial Completion applies to:
□ All Work	\square The following specified portions of the Work:
Date of	Substantial Completion
Completion of the Work or porovisions of the Contract per n the final Certificate of Sulcorrection period and applicate A punch list of items to be complete all-inclusive, and the failure to Contractor to complete all Wo	er, and found to be substantially complete. The Date of Substantial tion thereof designated above is hereby established, subject to the ining to Substantial Completion. The date of Substantial Completion stantial Completion marks the commencement of the contractual e warranties required by the Contract. letted or corrected is attached to this Certificate. This list may not be include any items on such list does not alter the responsibility of the a in accordance with the Contract. Dewner and Contractor for security, operation, safety, maintenance, carranties upon Owner's use or occupancy of the Work shall be as a as amended as follows:
responsibilities:	□ None
	☐ As follows
Amendments to Contractor's responsibilities:	□ None □ As follows

The following documents are attached to and made a part of this Certificate: (punch list; others)

This Certificate does not constitute an acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents, nor is it a release of Contractor's obligation to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract.

EX	ECUTED BY ENGINEER:		RECEIVED:		RECEIVED:
Ву:	(Authorized signature)	_ By:	Owner (Authorized Signature)	By:	Contractor (Authorized Signature)
Title:		_ Title:		Title:	
Date:		Date:		Date:	

SECTION 00 65 19 CONTRACTOR'S CERTIFICATE OF FINAL COMPLETION

TO:			
FROM:			
PROJECT: PRWUA ADM	IIN BUILDING LANDSCAPE	RENOVATION	
This is to certify that L	[l am an	authorized official of
	and have been pr		
	ments pertaining to the su		
	certify, that the Work of the		
	nstalled to date are in accor		-
Documents.		,	<i>,</i>
deficiencies and the reaso	•	ete to date, for which	exemption from final
The Work is now ready for	your final inspection. The f	following items require	d from the Contractor
prior to application for fina	l payment (such as 0 & M M	lanuals, guarantees, red	cord drawings, etc.)
are submitted herewith, (If	none, write "none"):		
[]		
I understand that neither th	ne issuance by Engineer of a	Notice of Completion,	nor the acceptance
thereof by Owner, shall ope	erate as a bar of claim again:	st Contractor under the	e terms of the
guarantee provisions of the	Contract Documents.		

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 00 65 20 CONSENT OF SURETY FOR FINAL PAYMENT

PROJECT NAME:	
LOCATION:	
TYPE OF CONTRACT:	
AMOUNT OF CONTRACT:	
In accordance with the provisions of th Contractor, the following named Surety:	e above-named contract between the Owner and the
on the Payment Bond of the following nam	ed Contractor:
	ntractor, and further agrees that said final payment to the ny of its obligations to the following named Owner (as set
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Surety has [] 20[].	hereunto set its hand and seal this [] day of
[(Name of Surety)
	(Signature of Authorized Representative)
	(Name of Authorized Representative) Title:

SECTION 00 65 21 AFFIDAVIT OF PAYMENT

To All Whom It May Concern: WHEREAS, the undersigned has been employed by the [_____] to furnish labor and materials under a contract dated [_____] 20[_____] for the project named "[_____]", in the [_____], of which [_____] is the Owner. NOW, THEREFORE, this [_____] day of [_____], 20[_____], the undersigned, as the Contractor for the above-named Contract pursuant to the Conditions of the Contract hereby certifies that, except as listed below, he has paid in full or has otherwise satisfied all obligations for all materials and equipment furnished, for all work, labor, and services performed, and for all known indebtedness and claims against the Contractor for damages arising in any manner in connection with the performance of the Contract referenced above for which the Owner or his property might in any way be held responsible. EXCEPTIONS: [____] (If none, write "None". If required by the Owner, the Contractor shall furnish bond satisfactory to the Owner for each exception.) Contractor (Affix corporate seal here) (Signature of Authorized Representative) Title:

SECTION 00 70 00 GENERAL CONDITIONS

Copyright © 2013 (EJCDC® C-700) National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1.	- Definitions and Terminology	Page
1.01	Defined Terms	
1.02	Terminology	
	- Preliminary Matters	
2.01	Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance	
2.02	Copies of Documents	
2.02	Before Starting Construction	
2.03	Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives	
2.04	Initial Acceptance of Schedules	
2.05	Electronic Transmittals	
	- Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse	
3.01		
3.02	Reference Standards	
3.03	Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies	
3.04	Requirements of the Contract Documents	
3.05	Reuse of Documents	
	- Commencement and Progress of the Work	
4.01	Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed	
4.02	Starting the Work	
4.03	Reference Points	
4.04	Progress Schedule	
4.05	Delays in Contractor's Progress	15
ARTICLE 5 · Conditions	- Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Enviro	
5.01	Availability of Lands	16
5.02	Use of Site and Other Areas	16
5.03	Subsurface and Physical Conditions	17
5.04	Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions	18
5.05	Underground Facilities	19

5.06	Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site	21
ARTICLE 6	– Bonds and Insurance	23
6.01	Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds	23
6.02	Insurance—General Provisions	23
6.03	Contractor's Insurance	24
6.04	Owner's Liability Insurance	27
6.05	Property Insurance	27
6.06	Waiver of Rights	29
6.07	Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds	30
ARTICLE 7	– Contractor's Responsibilities	30
7.01	Supervision and Superintendence	30
7.02	Labor; Working Hours	30
7.03	Services, Materials, and Equipment	30
7.04	"Or Equals"	31
7.05	Substitutes	32
7.06	Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others	33
7.07	Patent Fees and Royalties	35
7.08	Permits	35
7.09	Taxes	36
7.10	Laws and Regulations	36
7.11	Record Documents	36
7.12	Safety and Protection	36
7.13	Safety Representative	37
7.14	Hazard Communication Programs	38
7.15	Emergencies	38
7.16	Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals	38
7.17	Contractor's General Warranty and Guarantee	40
7.18	Indemnification	41
7.19	Delegation of Professional Design Services	42
ARTICLE 8	– Other Work at the Site	42
8.01	Other Work	42
8.02	Coordination	43
8.03	Legal Relationships	43
ARTICLE 9	– Owner's Responsibilities	44
9.01	Communications to Contractor	44

	9.02	Replacement of Engineer	44
	9.03	Furnish Data	44
	9.04	Pay When Due	44
	9.05	Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings	44
	9.06	Insurance	45
	9.07	Change Orders	45
	9.08	Inspections, Tests, and Approvals	45
	9.09	Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities	45
	9.10	Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition	45
	9.11	Evidence of Financial Arrangements	45
	9.12	Safety Programs	45
ARTI	ICLE 10	– Engineer's Status During Construction	45
	10.01	Owner's Representative	45
	10.02	Visits to Site	45
	10.03	Project Representative	46
	10.04	Rejecting Defective Work	46
	10.05	Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments	46
	10.06	Determinations for Unit Price Work	46
	10.07	Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work	46
	10.08	Limitations on Engineer's Authority and Responsibilities	47
	10.09	Compliance with Safety Program	47
ARTI	ICLE 11	– Amending the Contract Documents; Changes in the Work	47
	11.01	Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents	47
	11.02	Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work	48
	11.03	Unauthorized Changes in the Work	48
	11.04	Change of Contract Price	49
	11.05	Change of Contract Times	50
	11.06	Change Proposals	50
	11.07	Execution of Change Orders	51
	11.08	Notification to Surety	51
ARTI	ICLE 12	– Claims	51
	12.01	Claims	51
ARTI	ICLE 13	– Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work	52
	13.01	Cost of the Work	52
	13.02	Allowances	55

13.03	Unit Price Work	55		
ARTICLE 14	– Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work	56		
14.01	Access to Work	56		
14.02	Tests, Inspections, and Approvals	56		
14.03	Defective Work	57		
14.04	Acceptance of Defective Work	58		
14.05	Uncovering Work	58		
14.06	Owner May Stop the Work	58		
14.07	Owner May Correct Defective Work	59		
ARTICLE 15	- Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period	59		
15.01	Progress Payments	59		
15.02	Contractor's Warranty of Title	62		
15.03	Substantial Completion	62		
15.04	Partial Use or Occupancy	63		
15.05	Final Inspection	64		
15.06	Final Payment	64		
15.07	Waiver of Claims	65		
15.08	Correction Period	65		
ARTICLE 16 - Suspension of Work and Termination				
16.01	Owner May Suspend Work	66		
16.02	Owner May Terminate for Cause	67		
16.03	Owner May Terminate For Convenience	68		
16.04	Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate	68		
ARTICLE 17	– Final Resolution of Disputes	68		
17.01	Methods and Procedures	68		
ARTICLE 18 – Miscellaneous				
18.01	Giving Notice	69		
18.02	Computation of Times	69		
18.03	Cumulative Remedies	69		
18.04	Limitation of Damages	69		
18.05	No Waiver	69		
18.06	Survival of Obligations	70		
18.07	Controlling Law	70		
18.08	Headings	70		

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY

1.01 Defined Terms

- A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with initial capital letters, including the term's singular and plural forms, will have the meaning indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with initial capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms.
 - 1. *Addenda*—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract Documents.
 - 2. *Agreement*—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Contractor, that sets forth the Contract Price and Contract Times, identifies the parties and the Engineer, and designates the specific items that are Contract Documents.
 - 3. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents.
 - 4. *Bid*—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for the Work to be performed.
 - 5. *Bidder*—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner.
 - 6. *Bidding Documents*—The Bidding Requirements, the proposed Contract Documents, and all Addenda.
 - 7. *Bidding Requirements*—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, Bid Bond or other Bid security, if any, the Bid Form, and the Bid with any attachments.
 - 8. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or other revision to the Contract, issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract.
 - 9. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Contract Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract.
 - 10. Claim—(a) A demand or assertion by Owner directly to Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein: seeking an adjustment of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Contract Documents; contesting Engineer's decision regarding a Change Proposal; seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to address; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract; or (b) a demand or assertion by Contractor directly to Owner, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein, contesting Engineer's decision regarding a Change Proposal; or seeking resolution

- of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to address. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim.
- of 11. Constituent Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials. polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed pursuant to (a) the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seg. ("CERCLA"); (b) the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§5501 et seq.; (c) the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq. ("RCRA"); (d) the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; (e) the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; (f) the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.; or (g) any other federal, state, or local statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, resolution, code, order, or decree regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or dangerous waste, substance, or material.
- 12. *Contract*—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner and Contractor concerning the Work.
- 13. *Contract Documents*—Those items so designated in the Agreement, and which together comprise the Contract.
- 14. *Contract Price*—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. .
- 15. *Contract Times*—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall: (a) achieve Milestones, if any; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the Work.
- 16. *Contractor*—The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for performance of the Work.
- 17. *Cost of the Work*—See Paragraph 13.01 for definition.
- 18. *Drawings*—The part of the Contract that graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Contractor.
- 19. *Effective Date of the Contract*—The date, indicated in the Agreement, on which the Contract becomes effective.
- 20. *Engineer*—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement.
- 21. *Field Order*—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times.
- 22. *Hazardous Environmental Condition*—The presence at the Site of Constituents of Concern in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or property exposed thereto. The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for the execution of the Work, or that are to be incorporated in the Work, and that are controlled and contained pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and the requirements of the Contract, does not establish a Hazardous Environmental Condition.
- 23. *Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations*—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction.

- 24. *Liens*—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Contract-related funds, real property, or personal property.
- 25. *Milestone*—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Contract requires Contractor to achieve by an intermediate completion date or by a time prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work.
- 26. *Notice of Award*—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner's acceptance of the Bid.
- 27. *Notice to Proceed*—A written notice by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to perform the Work.
- 28. *Owner*—The individual or entity with which Contractor has contracted regarding the Work, and which has agreed to pay Contractor for the performance of the Work, pursuant to the terms of the Contract.
- 29. *Progress Schedule*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing the sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor's plan to accomplish the Work within the Contract Times.
- 30. *Project*—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, contractors, and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, commissioning, and start-up, and of which the Work to be performed under the Contract Documents is a part.
- 31. *Project Manual*—The written documents prepared for, or made available for, procuring and constructing the Work, including but not limited to the Bidding Documents or other construction procurement documents, geotechnical and existing conditions information, the Agreement, bond forms, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Specifications. The contents of the Project Manual may be bound in one or more volumes.
- 32. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned to assist Engineer at the Site. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative or "RPR" includes any assistants or field staff of Resident Project Representative.
- 33. *Samples*—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which such portion of the Work will be judged.
- 34. *Schedule of Submittals*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of required submittals and the time requirements for Engineer's review of the submittals and the performance of related construction activities.
- 35. *Schedule of Values*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for reviewing Contractor's Applications for Payment.
- 36. *Shop Drawings*—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work. Shop Drawings, whether approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Contract Documents.
- 37. *Site*—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and

- easements, and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor.
- 38. *Specifications*—The part of the Contract that consists of written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable to the Work.
- 39. *Subcontractor*—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work.
- 40. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. The terms "substantially complete" and "substantially completed" as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof.
- 41. *Successful Bidder*—The Bidder whose Bid the Owner accepts, and to which the Owner makes an award of contract, subject to stated conditions.
- 42. *Supplementary Conditions*—The part of the Contract that amends or supplements these General Conditions.
- 43. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor.
- 44. *Technical Data*—Those items expressly identified as Technical Data in the Supplementary Conditions, with respect to either (a) subsurface conditions at the Site, or physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities) or (b) Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site. If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to conditions at the Site, then the data contained in boring logs, recorded measurements of subsurface water levels, laboratory test results, and other factual, objective information regarding conditions at the Site that are set forth in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor are hereby defined as Technical Data with respect to conditions at the Site under Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.06.
- 45. *Underground Facilities*—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any encasements containing such facilities, including but not limited to those that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other communications, fiber optic transmissions, cable television, water, wastewater, storm water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems.
- 46. *Unit Price Work*—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices.
- 47. *Work*—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials

- and equipment into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents.
- 48. *Work Change Directive*—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work.

1.02 Terminology

- A. The words and terms discussed in the following paragraphs are not defined but, when used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning.
- B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives:
 - 1. The Contract Documents include the terms "as allowed," "as approved," "as ordered," "as directed" or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives "reasonable," "suitable," "acceptable," "proper," "satisfactory," or adjectives of like effect or import are used to describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that such exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to evaluate, in general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract Documents and with the design concept of the Project as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is not intended to and shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of Article 10 or any other provision of the Contract Documents.

C. Day:

1. The word "day" means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight.

D. Defective:

- 1. The word "defective," when modifying the word "Work," refers to Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it:
 - a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or
 - b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or
 - c. has been damaged prior to Engineer's recommendation of final payment (unless responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial Completion in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or 15.04).

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide:

- 1. The word "furnish," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or some other specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable condition.
- 2. The word "install," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.

- 3. The words "perform" or "provide," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.
- 4. If the Contract Documents establish an obligation of Contractor with respect to specific services, materials, or equipment, but do not expressly use any of the four words "furnish," "install," "perform," or "provide," then Contractor shall furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.
- F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning.

ARTICLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance

- A. *Bonds*: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish.
- B. *Evidence of Contractor's Insurance*: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be provided by Contractor in accordance with Article 6.
- C. Evidence of Owner's Insurance: After receipt of the executed counterparts of the Agreement and all required bonds and insurance documentation, Owner shall promptly deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or otherwise), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be provided by Owner under Article 6.

2.02 Copies of Documents

- A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor four printed copies of the Contract (including one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement), and one copy in electronic portable document format (PDF). Additional printed copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction.
- B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the Contract, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other design professionals. Owner shall make such original printed record version of the Contract available to Contractor for review. Owner may delegate the responsibilities under this provision to Engineer.

2.03 Before Starting Construction

- A. *Preliminary Schedules*: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Contract (or as otherwise specifically required by the Contract Documents), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for timely review:
 - a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones specified in the Contract;
 - 2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work.

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives

- A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 2.03.A, procedures for handling Shop Drawings, Samples, and other submittals, processing Applications for Payment, electronic or digital transmittals, and maintaining required records.
- B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific individual to act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and responsibilities under the Contract. Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit and receive information, render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on behalf of each respective party.

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules

- A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference, attended by Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate, will be held to review for acceptability to Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with Paragraph 2.03.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer.
 - 1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance will not impose on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from Contractor's full responsibility therefor.
 - 2. Contractor's Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals.
 - 3. Contractor's Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component parts of the Work.

2.06 *Electronic Transmittals*

- A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract, the Owner, Engineer, and Contractor may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, text, data, documents, drawings, information, and graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other submittals, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, or through access to a secure Project website.
- B. If the Contract does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then Owner, Engineer, and Contractor shall jointly develop such protocols.
- C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items resulting from the recipient's use of software application packages, operating

systems, or computer hardware differing from those used in the drafting or transmittal of the items, or from those established in applicable transmittal protocols.

ARTICLE 3 - DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE

3.01 Intent

- A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if required by all.
- B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the electronic or digital versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies derived from such electronic or digital versions) and the printed record version, the printed record version shall govern.
- D. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or oral.
- E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided herein.

3.02 Reference Standards

- A. Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations
 - 1. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, reference standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the standard specification, manual, reference standard, code, or Laws or Regulations in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Contract if there were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents.
 - 2. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or any instruction of a Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, or employees, from those set forth in the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer. No such provision or instruction shall be effective to assign to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer.

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies

- A. Reporting Discrepancies:
 - 1. Contractor's Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check and verify pertinent figures and dimensions therein, particularly with respect to applicable field measurements. Contractor shall promptly report in writing to Engineer any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy that Contractor discovers, or has actual knowledge of, and shall not proceed with any Work affected thereby until

- the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01.
- 2. Contractor's Review of Contract Documents: If, before or during the performance of the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable Law or Regulation, (b) actual field conditions, (c) any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or (d) any instruction of any Supplier, then Contractor shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall not proceed with the Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15) until the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01.
- Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had actual knowledge thereof.

B. Resolving Discrepancies:

- 1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer shall take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between such provisions of the Contract Documents and:
 - a. the provisions of any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, or the instruction of any Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by reference as a Contract Document); or
 - b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents would result in violation of such Law or Regulation).

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents

- A. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall submit to the Engineer all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents (sometimes referred to as requests for information or interpretation—RFIs), or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, as soon as possible after such matters arise. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder.
- B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or decision on the issue submitted, or initiate an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents. Engineer's written clarification, interpretation, or decision will be final and binding on Contractor, unless it appeals by submitting a Change Proposal, and on Owner, unless it appeals by filing a Claim.
- C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will promptly give written notice to Owner and Contractor that Engineer is unable to provide a decision

or interpretation. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on resolution of such a matter in question, either party may pursue resolution as provided in Article 12.

3.05 Reuse of Documents

- A. Contractor and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not:
 - 1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions, or reuse any such Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific written verification or adaptation by Engineer; or
 - 2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse any such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner's express written consent, or violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents.
- B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract Documents for record purposes.

ARTICLE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK

- 4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed
 - A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Contract or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the Contract. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the sixtieth day after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Contract, whichever date is earlier.
- 4.02 *Starting the Work*
 - A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times commence to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to such date.
- 4.03 Reference Points
 - A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which in Engineer's judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the Work. Contractor shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the established reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations without the prior written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to Engineer whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points or property monuments by professionally qualified personnel.

4.04 Progress Schedule

- A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.05 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below.
 - 1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in Paragraph 2.05) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in changing the Contract Times.

- 2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 11.
- B. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any disputes or disagreements, or during any appeal process, except as permitted by Paragraph 16.04, or as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing.

4.05 Delays in Contractor's Progress

- A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
- B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. Delay, disruption, and interference attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to be within the control of Contractor.
- C. If Contractor's performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and those for which they are responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy for the delays, disruption, and interference described in this paragraph. Causes of delay, disruption, or interference that may give rise to an adjustment in Contract Times under this paragraph include but are not limited to the following:
 - 1. severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and earthquakes;
 - 2. abnormal weather conditions;
 - 3. acts or failures to act of utility owners (other than those performing other work at or adjacent to the Site by arrangement with the Owner, as contemplated in Article 8); and
 - 4. acts of war or terrorism.
- D. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, and those resulting from Hazardous Environmental Conditions, are governed by Article 5.
- E. Paragraph 8.03 governs delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent to the Site.

- F. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for any delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor.
- G. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the commencement of the delaying, disrupting, or interfering event.

ARTICLE 5 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

5.01 *Availability of Lands*

- A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which Contractor must comply in performing the Work.
- B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements are to be made and Owner's interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic's or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations.
- C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment.

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas:

- 1. Contractor shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site and such other adjacent areas with construction equipment or other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility for (a) damage to the Site; (b) damage to any such other adjacent areas used for Contractor's operations; (c) damage to any other adjacent land or areas; and (d) for injuries and losses sustained by the owners or occupants of any such land or areas; provided that such damage or injuries result from the performance of the Work or from other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible.
- 2. If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible, Contractor shall (a) take immediate corrective or remedial action as required by Paragraph 7.12, or otherwise; (b) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with such owner or occupant, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding, or at law; and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against any such claim, and against all costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court

or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party indemnified hereunder to the extent caused directly or indirectly, in whole or in part by, or based upon, Contractor's performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible.

- B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work the Contractor shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations.
- C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and the Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work Contractor shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all property not designated for alteration by the Contract Documents.
- D. Loading of Structures: Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any part of the Work or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures that will endanger them.

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions

- A. *Reports and Drawings*: The Supplementary Conditions identify:
 - 1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site;
 - 2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities); and
 - 3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.
- B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to:
 - the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
 - 2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
 - 3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information.

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions

- A. *Notice by Contractor*: If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is uncovered or revealed at the Site either:
 - 1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Contractor is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.03 is materially inaccurate; or
 - 2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications; or
 - 3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or
 - 4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract Documents;

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except with respect to an emergency) until receipt of a written statement permitting Contractor to do so.

- B. *Engineer's Review*: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, Engineer will promptly review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine the necessity of Owner's obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the condition; conclude whether the condition falls within any one or more of the differing site condition categories in Paragraph 5.04.A above; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor's resumption of Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in question and the need for any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and advise Owner in writing of Engineer's findings, conclusions, and recommendations.
- C. Owner's Statement to Contractor Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in part.
- D. *Possible Price and Times Adjustments*:
 - 1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:
 - a. such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in Paragraph 5.04.A;
 - b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; and,

- c. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
- 2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if:
 - a. Contractor knew of the existence of such condition at the time Contractor made a commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract, or otherwise; or
 - b. the existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor's making such commitment; or
 - c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 5.04.A.
- 3. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor's entitlement to and the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
- 4. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after Owner's issuance of the Owner's written statement to Contractor regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question.

5.05 *Underground Facilities*

- A. *Contractor's Responsibilities*: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site is based on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Supplementary Conditions:
 - 1. Owner and Engineer do not warrant or guarantee the accuracy or completeness of any such information or data provided by others; and
 - 2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor shall have full responsibility for:
 - a. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground Facilities at the Site;
 - b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents as being at the Site;
 - c. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such Underground Facilities, during construction; and
 - d. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities at the Site, and repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work.
- B. *Notice by Contractor*: If Contractor believes that an Underground Facility that is uncovered or revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby

- or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to that owner and to Owner and Engineer.
- C. Engineer's Review: Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and conclude whether such Underground Facility was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor's resumption of Work in connection with the Underground Facility in question; determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility; and advise Owner in writing of Engineer's findings, conclusions, and recommendations. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility.
- D. Owner's Statement to Contractor Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Facility in question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such Underground Facility, indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations in whole or in part.

E. Possible Price and Times Adjustments:

- 1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility at the Site that was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:
 - a. Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated the existence or actual location of the Underground Facility in question;
 - b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03;
 - c. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times; and
 - d. Contractor gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.05.B.
- 2. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor's entitlement to and the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
- 3. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after Owner's issuance of the Owner's written statement to Contractor regarding the Underground Facility in question.

- A. *Reports and Drawings*: The Supplementary Conditions identify:
 - 1. those reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and
 - 2. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.
- B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely on the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to:
 - the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
 - 2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
 - 3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such other data, interpretations, opinions or information.
- C. Contractor shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such removal or remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work.
- D. Contractor shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all Constituents of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible, and for any associated costs; and for the costs of removing and remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition created by the presence of any such Constituents of Concern.
- E. If Contractor encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents as being within the scope of the Work, or if Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, then Contractor shall immediately: (1) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (2) stop all Work in connection with such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15); and (3) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm such notice in writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the necessity for Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any. Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such actions as are necessary to permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and provide Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 5.06.F. If Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible created the Hazardous Environmental Condition in question, then Owner may remove and

- remediate the Hazardous Environmental Condition, and impose a set-off against payments to account for the associated costs.
- F. Contractor shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental Condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related thereto, and delivered written notice to Contractor either (1) specifying that such condition and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work, or (2) specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely.
- G. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by Contractor, then within 30 days of Owner's written notice regarding the resumption of Work, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may impose a set-off.
- H. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by such condition to be deleted from the Work, following the contractual change procedures in Article 11. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by Owner's own forces or others in accordance with Article 8.
- I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition (1) was not shown or indicated in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Contract Documents, identified as Technical Data entitled to limited reliance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06.B, or identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (2) was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 5.06.H shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.
- J. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the failure to control, contain, or remove a Constituent of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible, or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 5.06.J shall obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.
- K. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 do not apply to the presence of Constituents of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site.

ARTICLE 6 - BONDS AND INSURANCE

6.01 *Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds*

- A. Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, each in an amount at least equal to the Contract Price, as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of Contractor's obligations under the Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until one year after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction period specified in Paragraph 15.08, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, the Supplementary Conditions, or other specific provisions of the Contract. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the Supplementary Conditions or other specific provisions of the Contract.
- B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in "Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies" as published in Circular 570 (as amended and supplemented) by the Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. Department of the Treasury. A bond signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be accompanied by a certified copy of that individual's authority to bind the surety. The evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date the agent or attorney-infact signed the accompanying bond.
- C. Contractor shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds in the required amounts.
- D. If the surety on a bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, or its right to do business is terminated in any state or jurisdiction where any part of the Project is located, or the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Contractor shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving rise to such notification, provide another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with the bond and surety requirements above.
- E. If Contractor has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Contractor from the Site and exercise Owner's termination rights under Article 16.
- F. Upon request, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other person or entity claiming to have furnished labor or materials used in the performance of the Work.

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions

- A. Owner and Contractor shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in this Article and in the Supplementary Conditions.
- B. All insurance required by the Contract to be purchased and maintained by Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized, in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located, to issue insurance policies for the required limits and coverages. Unless a different standard is indicated in the Supplementary Conditions, all companies that provide insurance policies required under this Contract shall have an A.M. Best rating of A-VII or better.
- C. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in this Article, in the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Contractor has obtained and is

maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required by the Contract. Upon request by Owner or any other insured, Contractor shall also furnish other evidence of such required insurance, including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Contractor may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision.

- D. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in this Article, the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Owner has obtained and is maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required of Owner by the Contract (if any). Upon request by Contractor or any other insured, Owner shall also provide other evidence of such required insurance (if any), including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Owner may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision.
- E. Failure of Owner or Contractor to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other party's full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or Contractor to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, shall not be construed as a waiver of the other party's obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance.
- F. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the insurance required of such party by the Contract, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the required coverage.
- G. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise Owner's termination rights under Article 16.
- H. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required insurance, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent insurance to protect such other party's interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, and the Contract Price shall be adjusted accordingly.
- I. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor or Contractor's interests.
- J. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on Contractor's liability under the indemnities granted to Owner and other individuals and entities in the Contract.

6.03 *Contractor's Insurance*

- A. *Workers' Compensation*: Contractor shall purchase and maintain workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance for:
 - 1. claims under workers' compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee benefit acts.
 - 2. United States Longshoreman and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act and Jones Act coverage (if applicable).

- 3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of Contractor's employees (by stop-gap endorsement in monopolist worker's compensation states).
- 4. Foreign voluntary worker compensation (if applicable).
- B. *Commercial General Liability—Claims Covered*: Contractor shall purchase and maintain commercial general liability insurance, covering all operations by or on behalf of Contractor, on an occurrence basis, against:
 - 1. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other than Contractor's employees.
 - 2. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage.
 - 3. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom.
- C. Commercial General Liability—Form and Content: Contractor's commercial liability policy shall be written on a 1996 (or later) ISO commercial general liability form (occurrence form) and include the following coverages and endorsements:
 - 1. Products and completed operations coverage:
 - a. Such insurance shall be maintained for three years after final payment.
 - b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract) evidence of continuation of such insurance at final payment and three years thereafter.
 - 2. Blanket contractual liability coverage, to the extent permitted by law, including but not limited to coverage of Contractor's contractual indemnity obligations in Paragraph 7.18.
 - 3. Broad form property damage coverage.
 - 4. Severability of interest.
 - 5. Underground, explosion, and collapse coverage.
 - 6. Personal injury coverage.
 - 7. Additional insured endorsements that include both ongoing operations and products and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 20 37 10 01 (together); or CG 20 10 07 04 and CG 20 37 07 04 (together); or their equivalent.
 - 8. For design professional additional insureds, ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, "Additional Insured—Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named Insured" or its equivalent.
- D. *Automobile liability*: Contractor shall purchase and maintain automobile liability insurance against claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The automobile liability policy shall be written on an occurrence basis.
- E. *Umbrella or excess liability*: Contractor shall purchase and maintain umbrella or excess liability insurance written over the underlying employer's liability, commercial general liability, and automobile liability insurance described in the paragraphs above. Subject

- to industry-standard exclusions, the coverage afforded shall follow form as to each and every one of the underlying policies.
- F. Contractor's pollution liability insurance: Contractor shall purchase and maintain a policy covering third-party injury and property damage claims, including clean-up costs, as a result of pollution conditions arising from Contractor's operations and completed operations. This insurance shall be maintained for no less than three years after final completion.
- G. Additional insureds: The Contractor's commercial general liability, automobile liability, umbrella or excess, and pollution liability policies shall include and list as additional insureds Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions; include coverage for the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional insureds; and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those arising from both ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis. Contractor shall obtain all necessary endorsements to support these requirements.
- H. Contractor's professional liability insurance: If Contractor will provide or furnish professional services under this Contract, through a delegation of professional design services or otherwise, then Contractor shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining applicable professional liability insurance. This insurance shall provide protection against claims arising out of performance of professional design or related services, and caused by a negligent error, omission, or act for which the insured party is legally liable. It shall be maintained throughout the duration of the Contract and for a minimum of two years after Substantial Completion. If such professional design services are performed by a Subcontractor, and not by Contractor itself, then the requirements of this paragraph may be satisfied through the purchasing and maintenance of such insurance by such Subcontractor.
- I. *General provisions*: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 shall:
 - 1. include at least the specific coverages provided in this Article.
 - 2. be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in this Article and in the Supplementary Conditions, or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater.
 - 3. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, materially changed, or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has been given to Contractor. Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, Contractor shall provide a copy of the notice to Owner, Engineer, and each other insured under the policy.
 - 4. remain in effect at least until final payment (and longer if expressly required in this Article) and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be correcting, removing, or replacing defective Work as a warranty or correction obligation, or otherwise, or returning to the Site to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents.
 - 5. be appropriate for the Work being performed and provide protection from claims that may arise out of or result from Contractor's performance of the Work and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.

J. The coverage requirements for specific policies of insurance must be met by such policies, and not by reference to excess or umbrella insurance provided in other policies.

6.04 Owner's Liability Insurance

- A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 6.03, Owner, at Owner's option, may purchase and maintain at Owner's expense Owner's own liability insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations under the Contract Documents.
- B. Owner's liability policies, if any, operate separately and independently from policies required to be provided by Contractor, and Contractor cannot rely upon Owner's liability policies for any of Contractor's obligations to the Owner, Engineer, or third parties.

6.05 Property Insurance

- A. *Builder's Risk*: Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall purchase and maintain builder's risk insurance upon the Work on a completed value basis, in the amount of the full insurable replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and Regulations). This insurance shall:
 - 1. include the Owner and Contractor as named insureds, and all Subcontractors, and any individuals or entities required by the Supplementary Conditions to be insured under such builder's risk policy, as insureds or named insureds. For purposes of the remainder of this Paragraph 6.05, Paragraphs 6.06 and 6.07, and any corresponding Supplementary Conditions, the parties required to be insured shall collectively be referred to as "insureds."
 - 2. be written on a builder's risk "all risk" policy form that shall at least include insurance for physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes of loss: fire; lightning; windstorm; riot; civil commotion; terrorism; vehicle impact; aircraft; smoke; theft; vandalism and malicious mischief; mechanical breakdown, boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic activity, and other earth movement; flood; collapse; explosion; debris removal; demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations; water damage (other than that caused by flood); and such other perils or causes of loss as may be specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions. If insurance against mechanical breakdown, boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic activity, and other earth movement; or flood, are not commercially available under builder's risk policies, by endorsement or otherwise, such insurance may be provided through other insurance policies acceptable to Owner and Contractor.
 - 3. cover, as insured property, at least the following: (a) the Work and all materials, supplies, machinery, apparatus, equipment, fixtures, and other property of a similar nature that are to be incorporated into or used in the preparation, fabrication, construction, erection, or completion of the Work, including Owner-furnished or assigned property; (b) spare parts inventory required within the scope of the Contract; and (c) temporary works which are not intended to form part of the permanent constructed Work but which are intended to provide working access to the Site, or to the Work under construction, or which are intended to provide temporary support for the Work under construction, including scaffolding, form work, fences, shoring, falsework, and temporary structures.

- 4. cover expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property (including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects).
- 5. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in temporary storage at the Site or in a storage location outside the Site (but not including property stored at the premises of a manufacturer or Supplier).
- 6. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in transit.
- 7. allow for partial occupation or use of the Work by Owner, such that those portions of the Work that are not yet occupied or used by Owner shall remain covered by the builder's risk insurance.
- 8. allow for the waiver of the insurer's subrogation rights, as set forth below.
- 9. provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of loss covered.
- 10. not include a co-insurance clause.
- 11. include an exception for ensuing losses from physical damage or loss with respect to any defective workmanship, design, or materials exclusions.
- 12. include performance/hot testing and start-up.
- 13. be maintained in effect, subject to the provisions herein regarding Substantial Completion and partial occupancy or use of the Work by Owner, until the Work is complete.
- B. *Notice of Cancellation or Change*: All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other evidence thereof) required to be purchased and maintained in accordance with this Paragraph 6.05 will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has been given to the purchasing policyholder. Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, the purchasing policyholder shall provide a copy of the notice to each other insured.
- C. *Deductibles*: The purchaser of any required builder's risk or property insurance shall pay for costs not covered because of the application of a policy deductible.
- D. Partial Occupancy or Use by Owner: If Owner will occupy or use a portion or portions of the Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 15.04, then Owner (directly, if it is the purchaser of the builder's risk policy, or through Contractor) will provide notice of such occupancy or use to the builder's risk insurer. The builder's risk insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or occupancy; rather, those portions of the Work that are occupied or used by Owner may come off the builder's risk policy, while those portions of the Work not yet occupied or used by Owner shall remain covered by the builder's risk insurance.
- E. *Additional Insurance*: If Contractor elects to obtain other special insurance to be included in or supplement the builder's risk or property insurance policies provided under this Paragraph 6.05, it may do so at Contractor's expense.
- F. Insurance of Other Property: If the express insurance provisions of the Contract do not require or address the insurance of a property item or interest, such as tools, construction equipment, or other personal property owned by Contractor, a Subcontractor, or an employee of Contractor or a Subcontractor, then the entity or

individual owning such property item will be responsible for deciding whether to insure it, and if so in what amount.

6.06 Waiver of Rights

- All policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 6.05, expressly including the builder's risk policy, shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any insureds thereunder, or against Engineer or its consultants, or their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors. Owner and Contractor waive all rights against each other and the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in addition, waive all such rights against Engineer, its consultants, all Subcontractors, all individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, under such policies for losses and damages so caused. None of the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to the proceeds of insurance held by Owner or Contractor as trustee or fiduciary, or otherwise payable under any policy so issued.
- B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them, for:
 - loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending beyond direct physical loss or damage to Owner's property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; and
 - 2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property insurance maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during partial occupancy or use pursuant to Paragraph 15.04, after Substantial Completion pursuant to Paragraph 15.03, or after final payment pursuant to Paragraph 15.06.
- C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss referred to in Paragraph 6.06.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of recovery against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, or the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors of each and any of them.
- D. Contractor shall be responsible for assuring that the agreement under which a Subcontractor performs a portion of the Work contains provisions whereby the Subcontractor waives all rights against Owner, Contractor, all individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, the Engineer and its consultants, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by builder's risk insurance and any other property insurance applicable to the Work.

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds

- A. Any insured loss under the builder's risk and other policies of insurance required by Paragraph 6.05 will be adjusted and settled with the named insured that purchased the policy. Such named insured shall act as fiduciary for the other insureds, and give notice to such other insureds that adjustment and settlement of a claim is in progress. Any other insured may state its position regarding a claim for insured loss in writing within 15 days after notice of such claim.
- B. Proceeds for such insured losses may be made payable by the insurer either jointly to multiple insureds, or to the named insured that purchased the policy in its own right and as fiduciary for other insureds, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause. A named insured receiving insurance proceeds under the builder's risk and other policies of insurance required by Paragraph 6.05 shall distribute such proceeds in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach, or as otherwise required under the dispute resolution provisions of this Contract or applicable Laws and Regulations.
- C. If no other special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, the money so received applied on account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof covered by Change Order, if needed.

ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence

- A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction.
- B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer except under extraordinary circumstances.

7.02 Labor; Working Hours

- A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site.
- B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday through Friday. Contractor will not perform Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday. Contractor may perform Work outside regular working hours or on Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays only with Owner's written consent, which will not be unreasonably withheld.

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and

- incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, whether or not such items are specifically called for in the Contract Documents.
- B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be of good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All special warranties and guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of Owner. If required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment.
- C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents.

7.04 "Or Equals"

- A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the Contract Price has been based upon Contractor furnishing such item as specified. The specification or description of such an item is intended to establish the type, function, appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or "or equal" item is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or equipment, or items from other proposed suppliers under the circumstances described below.
 - 1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that no change in related Work will be required, Engineer shall deem it an "or equal" item. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of material or equipment will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if:
 - a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that:
 - 1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, strength, and design characteristics;
 - 2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole;
 - 3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service; and
 - 4) it is not objectionable to Owner.
 - b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work:
 - 1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; and
 - 2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named in the Contract Documents.
- B. *Contractor's Expense*: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed "or equal" item at Contractor's expense.
- C. Engineer's Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to evaluate each "or-equal" request. Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed "or-equal" item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability.

- No "or-equal" item will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer's review is complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an "or-equal", which will be evidenced by an approved Shop Drawing or other written communication. Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination.
- D. *Effect of Engineer's Determination*: Neither approval nor denial of an "or-equal" request shall result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer's denial of an "or-equal" request shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents.
- E. *Treatment as a Substitution Request*: If Engineer determines that an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor does not qualify as an "or-equal" item, Contractor may request that Engineer considered the proposed item as a substitute pursuant to Paragraph 7.05.

7.05 Substitutes

- A. Unless the specification or description of an item of material or equipment required to be furnished under the Contract Documents contains or is followed by words reading that no substitution is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or equipment under the circumstances described below. To the extent possible such requests shall be made before commencement of related construction at the Site.
 - 1. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is functionally equivalent to that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Engineer will not accept requests for review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment from anyone other than Contractor.
 - 2. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 7.05.B, as supplemented by the Specifications, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate under the circumstances.
 - 3. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed substitute item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The application:
 - a. shall certify that the proposed substitute item will:
 - 1) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the general design,
 - 2) be similar in substance to that specified, and
 - 3) be suited to the same use as that specified.
 - b. will state:
 - 1) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will necessitate a change in Contract Times,
 - 2) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the design to the proposed substitute item, and

- 3) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty.
- c. will identify:
 - 1) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and
 - 2) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services.
- d. shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or indirectly from use of such substitute item, including but not limited to changes in Contract Price, shared savings, costs of redesign, and claims of other contractors affected by any resulting change.
- B. Engineer's Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to evaluate each substitute request, and to obtain comments and direction from Owner. Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No substitute will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer's review is complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an acceptable substitute. Engineer's determination will be evidenced by a Field Order or a proposed Change Order accounting for the substitution itself and all related impacts, including changes in Contract Price or Contract Times. Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination.
- C. *Special Guarantee*: Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor's expense a special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute.
- D. Reimbursement of Engineer's Cost: Engineer will record Engineer's costs in evaluating a substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor. Whether or not Engineer approves a substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed substitute. Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for making changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute.
- E. *Contractor's Expense*: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed substitute at Contractor's expense.
- F. Effect of Engineer's Determination: If Engineer approves the substitution request, Contractor shall execute the proposed Change Order and proceed with the substitution. The Engineer's denial of a substitution request shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents. Contractor may challenge the scope of reimbursement costs imposed under Paragraph 7.05.D, by timely submittal of a Change Proposal.
- 7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others
 - A. Contractor may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the Work. Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner.
 - B. Contractor shall retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for the performance of designated parts of the Work if required by the Contract to do so.
 - C. Subsequent to the submittal of Contractor's Bid or final negotiation of the terms of the Contract, Owner may not require Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or

- other individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against which Contractor has reasonable objection.
- D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Contractor shall submit to Owner the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already deemed such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable, during the bidding process or otherwise). Such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed acceptable to Owner unless Owner raises a substantive, reasonable objection within five days.
- E. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work. Owner also may require Contractor to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not require a replacement to which Contractor has a reasonable objection. If Contractor has submitted the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for acceptance by Owner, and Owner has accepted it (either in writing or by failing to make written objection thereto), then Owner may subsequently revoke the acceptance of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified solely on the basis of substantive, reasonable objection after due investigation. Contractor shall submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity.
- F. If Owner requires the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, with respect to the replacement; and Contractor shall initiate a Change Proposal for such adjustment within 30 days of Owner's requirement of replacement.
- G. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- H. On a monthly basis Contractor shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors and Suppliers having a direct contract with Contractor, and of all other Subcontractors and Suppliers known to Contractor at the time of submittal.
- I. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor's own acts and omissions.
- J. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and all other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work.
- K. Contractor shall restrict all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work from communicating with Engineer or Owner, except through Contractor or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed herein.
- L. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade.
- M. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be pursuant to an appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or

- Supplier to the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of Owner and Engineer.
- N. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information about amounts paid to Contractor on account of Work performed for Contractor by the particular Subcontractor or Supplier.
- O. Nothing in the Contract Documents:
 - 1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; nor
 - 2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the payment of any money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations.

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties

- A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual knowledge of Owner or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents.
- B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not identified as being subject to payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by patent rights or copyrights.
- C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device not specified in the Contract Documents.

7.08 Permits

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of the submission of Contractor's Bid (or when Contractor became bound under

a negotiated contract). Owner shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections for providing permanent service to the Work

7.09 *Taxes*

A. Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which are applicable during the performance of the Work.

7.10 Laws and Regulations

- A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for monitoring Contractor's compliance with any Laws or Regulations.
- B. If Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and losses, and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work or other action. It shall not be Contractor's responsibility to make certain that the Work described in the Contract Documents is in accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor's obligations under Paragraph 3.03.
- C. Owner or Contractor may give notice to the other party of any changes after the submission of Contractor's Bid (or after the date when Contractor became bound under a negotiated contract) in Laws or Regulations having an effect on the cost or time of performance of the Work, including but not limited to changes in Laws or Regulations having an effect on procuring permits and on sales, use, value-added, consumption, and other similar taxes. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times resulting from such changes, then within 30 days of such notice Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may initiate a Claim.

7.11 Record Documents

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one printed record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written interpretations and clarifications, and approved Shop Drawings. Contractor shall keep such record documents in good order and annotate them to show changes made during construction. These record documents, together with all approved Samples, will be available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall deliver these record documents to Engineer.

7.12 *Safety and Protection*

A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the performance of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and

Regulations. Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to:

- 1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work;
- 2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the Site; and
- 3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and Underground Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction.
- B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. Contractor shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property, Underground Facilities, and other utilities; and other contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent to the Site, when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property or work in progress.
- C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner's safety programs, if any. The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner's safety programs that are applicable to the Work.
- D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor's safety program with which Owner's and Engineer's employees and representatives must comply while at the Site.
- E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.12.A.2 or 7.12.A.3 caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them).
- F. Contractor's duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall continue until such time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 15.06.B that the Work is acceptable (except as otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion).
- G. Contractor's duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall resume whenever Contractor or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site to fulfill warranty or correction obligations, or to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents.

7.13 Safety Representative

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining and supervising of safety precautions and programs.

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations.

7.15 Emergencies

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued.

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals

- A. Shop Drawing and Sample Submittal Requirements:
 - 1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have:
 - a. reviewed and coordinated the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents;
 - b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, and similar information with respect thereto;
 - determined and verified the suitability of all materials and equipment offered with respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and
 - d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor's responsibilities for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.
 - 2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has satisfied Contractor's obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor's review of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal.
 - 3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any variations that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents. This notice shall be set forth in a written communication separate from the Shop Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, in the case of Shop Drawings by a specific notation made on each Shop Drawing submitted to Engineer for review and approval of each such variation.
- B. Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples: Contractor shall submit Shop Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals. Each submittal will be identified as Engineer may require.

1. *Shop Drawings*:

- a. Contractor shall submit the number of copies required in the Specifications.
- Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to provide and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D.

2. Samples:

- a. Contractor shall submit the number of Samples required in the Specifications.
- b. Contractor shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the submittal for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D.
- 3. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer's review and approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of Contractor.
- C. *Other Submittals*: Contractor shall submit other submittals to Engineer in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals, and pursuant to the applicable terms of the Specifications.

D. Engineer's Review:

- 1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with the Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer's review and approval will be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract Documents and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents.
- 2. Engineer's review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto.
- 3. Engineer's review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of the assembly in which the item functions.
- 4. Engineer's review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless Contractor has complied with the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.A.3 and Engineer has given written approval of each such variation by specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or Sample. Engineer will document any such approved variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents in a Field Order.
- 5. Engineer's review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.A and B.
- 6. Engineer's review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample, or of a variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents, shall not, under any circumstances,

- change the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such changes are included in a Change Order.
- 7. Neither Engineer's receipt, review, acceptance or approval of a Shop Drawing, Sample, or other submittal shall result in such item becoming a Contract Document.
- 8. Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and commitments set forth in approved Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 7.16.D.4.

E. Resubmittal Procedures:

- 1. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples for review and approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than the corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals.
- 2. Contractor shall furnish required submittals with sufficient information and accuracy to obtain required approval of an item with no more than three submittals. Engineer will record Engineer's time for reviewing a fourth or subsequent submittal of a Shop Drawings, sample, or other item requiring approval, and Contractor shall be responsible for Engineer's charges to Owner for such time. Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges.
- 3. If Contractor requests a change of a previously approved submittal item, Contractor shall be responsible for Engineer's charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges, unless the need for such change is beyond the control of Contractor.

7.17 Contractor's General Warranty and Guarantee

- A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on Contractor's warranty and guarantee.
- B. Contractor's warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by:
 - abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Contractor is responsible; or
 - 2. normal wear and tear under normal usage.
- C. Contractor's obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor's obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents:
 - 1. observations by Engineer;
 - 2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment;

- 3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment related thereto by Owner;
- 4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner;
- 5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal;
- 6. the issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer;
- 7. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or
- 8. any correction of defective Work by Owner.
- D. If the Contract requires the Contractor to accept the assignment of a contract entered into by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, and correction obligations contained in the assigned contract shall govern with respect to Contractor's performance obligations to Owner for the Work described in the assigned contract.

7.18 Indemnification

- A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other obligations of Contractor under the Contract or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.
- B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers' compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.
- C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not extend to the liability of Engineer and Engineer's officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of:
 - 1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or
 - 2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of the injury or damage.

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services

- A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless such services are required to carry out Contractor's responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in violation of applicable Laws and Regulations.
- B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials, or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional's written approval when submitted to Engineer.
- C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy, and completeness of the services, certifications, or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy.
- D. Pursuant to this paragraph, Engineer's review and approval of design calculations and design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Engineer's review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 7.16.D.1.
- E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria specified by Owner or Engineer.

ARTICLE 8 - OTHER WORK AT THE SITE

8.01 Other Work

- A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents, the Owner may perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may be performed by Owner's employees, or through contracts between the Owner and third parties. Owner may also arrange to have third-party utility owners perform work on their utilities and facilities at or adjacent to the Site.
- B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, or through contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Contractor written notice thereof prior to starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information regarding the start of any utility work at or adjacent to the Site, Owner shall provide such information to Contractor.
- C. Contractor shall afford each other contractor that performs such other work, each utility owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner's employees, proper and safe access to the Site, and provide a reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other work. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the

Work that may be required to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor may cut or alter others' work with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose work will be affected.

D. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor's Work depends upon work performed by others under this Article 8, Contractor shall inspect such other work and promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of Contractor's Work. Contractor's failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for integration with Contractor's Work except for latent defects and deficiencies in such other work.

8.02 Coordination

- A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, or to arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the Site, the following will be set forth in the Supplementary Conditions or provided to Contractor prior to the start of any such other work:
 - 1. the identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for coordination of the activities among the various contractors;
 - 2. an itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility; and
 - 3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities.
- B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole authority and responsibility for such coordination.

8.03 Legal Relationships

- If, in the course of performing other work at or adjacent to the Site for Owner, the Owner's employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner causes damage to the Work or to the property of Contractor or its Subcontractors, or delays, disrupts, interferes with, or increases the scope or cost of the performance of the Work, through actions or inaction, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering event. The entitlement to, and extent of, any such equitable adjustment shall take into account information (if any) regarding such other work that was provided to Contractor in the Contract Documents prior to the submittal of the Bid or the final negotiation of the terms of the Contract. When applicable, any such equitable adjustment in Contract Price shall be conditioned on Contractor assigning to Owner all Contractor's rights against such other contractor or utility owner with respect to the damage, delay, disruption, or interference that is the subject of the adjustment. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
- B. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site. If Contractor fails to take such

- measures and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any such other contractor or utility owner, then Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor, and assign to such other contractor or utility owner the Owner's contractual rights against Contractor with respect to the breach of the obligations set forth in this paragraph.
- C. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, Contractor shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a result of Contractor's failure to take reasonable and customary measures with respect to Owner's other work. In response to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference, Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor.
- D. If Contractor damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Contractor's failure to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such impacts, or if any claim arising out of Contractor's actions, inactions, or negligence in performance of the Work at or adjacent to the Site is made by any such other contractor or utility owner against Contractor, Owner, or Engineer, then Contractor shall (1) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with such other contractor or utility owner, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law, and (2) indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against any such claims, and against all costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference.

ARTICLE 9 – OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

- 9.01 *Communications to Contractor*
 - A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all communications to Contractor through Engineer.
- 9.02 Replacement of Engineer
 - A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Contractor makes no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer's status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former Engineer.
- 9.03 Furnish Data
 - A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents.
- 9.04 Pay When Due
 - A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in the Agreement.
- 9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings
 - A. Owner's duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 5.01.

- B. Owner's duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points are set forth in Paragraph 4.03.
- C. Article 5 refers to Owner's identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports of explorations and tests of conditions at the Site, and drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site.

9.06 *Insurance*

A. Owner's responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and property insurance are set forth in Article 6.

9.07 Change Orders

A. Owner's responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 11.

9.08 *Inspections, Tests, and Approvals*

A. Owner's responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in Paragraph 14.02.B.

9.09 Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition

A. Owner's responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set forth in Paragraph 5.06.

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements

A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that financial arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner's obligations under the Contract Documents (including obligations under proposed changes in the Work).

9.12 *Safety Programs*

- A. While at the Site, Owner's employees and representatives shall comply with the specific applicable requirements of Contractor's safety programs of which Owner has been informed.
- B. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor.

ARTICLE 10 - ENGINEER'S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION

10.01 *Owner's Representative*

A. Engineer will be Owner's representative during the construction period. The duties and responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner's representative during construction are set forth in the Contract.

10.02 Visits to Site

A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and

qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of Contractor's executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work. Engineer's efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against defective Work.

B. Engineer's visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer's authority and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 10.08. Particularly, but without limitation, during or as a result of Engineer's visits or observations of Contractor's Work, Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work.

10.03 Project Representative

A. If Owner and Engineer have agreed that Engineer will furnish a Resident Project Representative to represent Engineer at the Site and assist Engineer in observing the progress and quality of the Work, then the authority and responsibilities of any such Resident Project Representative will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, and limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in Paragraph 10.08. If Owner designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who is not Engineer's consultant, agent, or employee, the responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions.

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work

A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 14.

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments

- A. Engineer's authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, are set forth in Paragraph 7.16.
- B. Engineer's authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design drawings submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, are set forth in Paragraph 7.19.
- C. Engineer's authority as to Change Orders is set forth in Article 11.
- D. Engineer's authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 15.

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor as set forth in Paragraph 13.03.

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work

A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth herein for initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of the Work. In

rendering such decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality to Owner or Contractor, and will not be liable to Owner, Contractor, or others in connection with any proceedings, interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or rendered in good faith.

10.08 *Limitations on Engineer's Authority and Responsibilities*

- A. Neither Engineer's authority or responsibility under this Article 10 or under any other provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them.
- B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work.
- D. Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by Paragraph 15.06.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals, that the results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents.
- E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 10.08 shall also apply to the Resident Project Representative, if any.

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program

A. While at the Site, Engineer's employees and representatives will comply with the specific applicable requirements of Owner's and Contractor's safety programs (if any) of which Engineer has been informed.

ARTICLE 11 - AMENDING THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; CHANGES IN THE WORK

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents

A. The Contract Documents may be amended or supplemented by a Change Order, a Work Change Directive, or a Field Order.

1. Change Orders:

a. If an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents includes a change in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must be set forth in a Change Order. A Change Order also may be used to establish amendments and supplements of the Contract Documents that do not affect the Contract Price or Contract Times.

- b. Owner and Contractor may amend those terms and conditions of the Contract Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, without the recommendation of the Engineer. Such an amendment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
- 2. Work Change Directives: A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the modification ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order, following negotiations by the parties as to the Work Change Directive's effect, if any, on the Contract Price and Contract Times; or, if negotiations are unsuccessful, by a determination under the terms of the Contract Documents governing adjustments, expressly including Paragraph 11.04 regarding change of Contract Price. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after the completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Directive. Owner must submit any Claim seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 60 days after issuance of the Work Change Directive.
- 3. Field Orders: Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work if the changes do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. Such changes will be accomplished by a Field Order and will be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, which shall perform the Work involved promptly. If Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then before proceeding with the Work at issue, Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal as provided herein.

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. Such changes shall be supported by Engineer's recommendation, to the extent the change involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other engineering or technical matters. Such changes may be accomplished by a Change Order, if Owner and Contractor have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract Times or Contract Price; or by a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Work involved; or, in the case of a deletion in the Work, promptly cease construction activities with respect to such deleted Work. Added or revised Work shall be performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents. Nothing in this paragraph shall obligate Contractor to undertake work that Contractor reasonably concludes cannot be performed in a manner consistent with Contractor's safety obligations under the Contract Documents or Laws and Regulations.

11.03 Unauthorized Changes in the Work

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract Documents, as amended, modified, or supplemented, except in the case of an emergency as provided in Paragraph 7.15 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 14.05.

11.04 Change of Contract Price

- A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an adjustment in the Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Article 12.
- B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows:
 - 1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03); or
 - 2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, then by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 11.04.C.2); or
 - 3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 13.01) plus a Contractor's fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 11.04.C).
- C. *Contractor's Fee*: When applicable, the Contractor's fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows:
 - 1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or
 - 2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the various portions of the Cost of the Work:
 - a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.B.1 and 13.01.B.2, the Contractor's fee shall be 15 percent;
 - b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 13.01.B.3, the Contractor's fee shall be five percent;
 - c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 11.01.C.2.a and 11.01.C.2.b is that the Contractor's fee shall be based on: (1) a fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.A.1 and 13.01.A.2 by the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, and (2) with respect to Contractor itself and to any Subcontractors of a tier higher than that of the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, a fee of five percent of the amount (fee plus underlying costs incurred) attributable to the next lower tier Subcontractor; provided, however, that for any such subcontracted work the maximum total fee to be paid by Owner shall be no greater than 27 percent of the costs incurred by the Subcontractor that actually performs the work;
 - d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 13.01.B.4, 13.01.B.5, and 13.01.C;
 - e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a deduction in Contractor's fee by an amount equal to five percent of such net decrease; and

f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in Contractor's fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a through 11.04.C.2.e, inclusive.

11.05 Change of Contract Times

- A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Article 12.
- B. An adjustment of the Contract Times shall be subject to the limitations set forth in Paragraph 4.05, concerning delays in Contractor's progress.

11.06 Change Proposals

- A. Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an adjustment in the Contract Times or Contract Price; appeal an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents; contest a set-off against payment due; or seek other relief under the Contract. The Change Proposal shall specify any proposed change in Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, or other proposed relief, and explain the reason for the proposed change, with citations to any governing or applicable provisions of the Contract Documents.
 - 1. *Procedures*: Contractor shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after such initial decision. The Contractor shall submit supporting data, including the proposed change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to the Engineer and Owner within 15 days after the submittal of the Change Proposal. The supporting data shall be accompanied by a written statement that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is the entire adjustment to which Contractor believes it is entitled as a result of said event. Engineer will advise Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and consider any comments or response from Owner regarding the Change Proposal.
 - 2. Engineer's Action: Engineer will review each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after receipt of the Contractor's supporting data, either deny the Change Proposal in whole, approve it in whole, or deny it in part and approve it in part. Such actions shall be in writing, with a copy provided to Owner and Contractor. If Engineer does not take action on the Change Proposal within 30 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of Engineer's inaction the Change Proposal is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial under Article 12.
 - 3. *Binding Decision*: Engineer's decision will be final and binding upon Owner and Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor appeals the decision by filing a Claim under Article 12.
- B. Resolution of Certain Change Proposals: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties that the Engineer is unable to resolve the Change Proposal. For purposes of further resolution of such a Change Proposal, such notice shall be deemed a denial, and Contractor may choose to seek resolution under the terms of Article 12.

11.07 Execution of Change Orders

- A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering:
 - 1. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a Work Change Directive;
 - 2. changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Contractor has duly contested such set-off;
 - 3. changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 11.02, (b) required because of Owner's acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 14.04 or Owner's correction of defective Work under Paragraph 14.07, or (c) agreed to by the parties, subject to the need for Engineer's recommendation if the change in the Work involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other engineering or technical matters; and
 - 4. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other changes, which embody the substance of any final and binding results under Paragraph 11.06, or Article 12.
- B. If Owner or Contractor refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed under the terms of this Paragraph 11.07, it shall be deemed to be of full force and effect, as if fully executed.

11.08 Notification to Surety

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be Contractor's responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of any such change.

ARTICLE 12 - CLAIMS

12.01 *Claims*

- A. *Claims Process*: The following disputes between Owner and Contractor shall be submitted to the Claims process set forth in this Article:
 - 1. Appeals by Owner or Contractor of Engineer's decisions regarding Change Proposals;
 - 2. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other relief under the Contract Documents; and
 - 3. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other engineering or technical matters.
- B. Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within 30 days of the decision under appeal. The party submitting the Claim shall also furnish a copy to the Engineer, for its information only. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with the party making the Claim. In the case of a Claim by Contractor seeking an increase in the Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, Contractor shall certify that the Claim is made in good faith, that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and

- that to the best of Contractor's knowledge and belief the amount of time or money requested accurately reflects the full amount to which Contractor is entitled.
- C. Review and Resolution: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the exchange of information and direct negotiations. The parties may extend the time for resolving the Claim by mutual agreement. All actions taken on a Claim shall be stated in writing and submitted to the other party, with a copy to Engineer.

D. Mediation:

- 1. At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Contractor may mutually agree to mediation of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate shall stay the Claim submittal and response process.
- 2. If Owner and Contractor agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, either Owner or Contractor may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the termination. If the mediation proceeds but is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the conclusion of the mediation, as determined by the mediator.
- 3. Owner and Contractor shall each pay one-half of the mediator's fees and costs.
- E. *Partial Approval*: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in part, such action shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for final resolution of disputes.
- F. Denial of Claim: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does not take action on the Claim within 90 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of the inaction, the Claim is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial. A denial of the Claim shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of the denial the other party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for the final resolution of disputes.
- G. Final and Binding Results: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, whether through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a Claim is approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, and such actions become final and binding; then the results of the agreement or action on the Claim shall be incorporated in a Change Order to the extent they affect the Contract, including the Work, the Contract Times, or the Contract Price.

ARTICLE 13 - COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK

13.01 *Cost of the Work*

- A. *Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work*: The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined below. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.01 are used for two distinct purposes:
 - To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or

- 2. To determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor is entitled only to those additional or incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event giving rise to the adjustment.
- B. *Costs Included*: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in the Cost of the Work shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 13.01.C, and shall include only the following items:
 - 1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. Such employees shall include, without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other personnel employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers' compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, and vacation and holiday pay applicable thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent authorized by Owner.
 - 2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers' field services required in connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner deposits funds with Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates, and refunds and returns from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor shall make provisions so that they may be obtained.
 - 3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to Owner, who will then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor's Cost of the Work and fee shall be determined in the same manner as Contractor's Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this Paragraph 13.01.
 - 4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically related to the Work.
 - 5. Supplemental costs including the following:
 - a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of Contractor's employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work.
 - b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the

- performance of the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of Contractor.
- c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, whether rented from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work.
- d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations.
- e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses.
- f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with Paragraph 6.05), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes other than the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor's fee.
- g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site.
- h. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work.
- i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance that Contractor is required by the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain.
- C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items:
 - 1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor's officers, executives, principals (of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by Contractor, whether at the Site or in Contractor's principal or branch office for general administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred to in Paragraph 13.01.B.1 or specifically covered by Paragraph 13.01.B.4. The payroll costs and other compensation excluded here are to be considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor's fee.
 - 2. Expenses of Contractor's principal and branch offices other than Contractor's office at the Site.
 - 3. Any part of Contractor's capital expenses, including interest on Contractor's capital employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments.

- 4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property.
- 5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 13.01.B.
- D. *Contractor's Fee*: When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus, Contractor's fee shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor's fee shall be determined as set forth in Paragraph 11.04.C.
- E. *Documentation*: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to this Article 13, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable to Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data.

13.02 *Allowances*

- A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer.
- B. *Cash Allowances*: Contractor agrees that:
 - 1. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site, and all applicable taxes; and
 - 2. Contractor's costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional payment on account of any of the foregoing will be valid.
- C. *Contingency Allowance*: Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs.
- D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted.

13.03 Unit Price Work

- A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement.
- B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to Contractor for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities.
- C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be adequate to cover Contractor's overhead and profit for each separately identified item.

- D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor. Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer's preliminary determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer's written decision thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of the following paragraph.
- E. Within 30 days of Engineer's written decision under the preceding paragraph, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may file a Claim, seeking an adjustment in the Contract Price if:
 - 1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially and significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement;
 - 2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and
 - 3. Contractor believes that it is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a decrease in Contract Price, and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any such increase or decrease.

ARTICLE 14 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK

14.01 Access to Work

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction will have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them of Contractor's safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as applicable.

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals

- A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work (or specific parts thereof) for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests.
- B. Owner shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspections and tests expressly required by the Contract Documents to be furnished and paid for by Owner, except that costs incurred in connection with tests or inspections of covered Work shall be governed by the provisions of Paragraph 14.05.
- C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of such public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and furnish Engineer the required certificates of inspection or approval.

- D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and tests required:
 - 1. by the Contract Documents, unless the Contract Documents expressly allocate responsibility for a specific inspection or test to Owner;
 - 2. to attain Owner's and Engineer's acceptance of materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work;
 - 3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents;
 - 4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to be incorporated into the Work; and
 - 5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to Contractor's purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work.

Such inspections and tests shall be performed by independent inspectors, testing laboratories, or other qualified individuals or entities acceptable to Owner and Engineer.

- E. If the Contract Documents require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved by Owner, Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals.
- F. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor's expense unless Contractor had given Engineer timely notice of Contractor's intention to cover the same and Engineer had not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice.

14.03 Defective Work

- A. *Contractor's Obligation*: It is Contractor's obligation to assure that the Work is not defective.
- B. *Engineer's Authority*: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, and to reject defective Work.
- C. *Notice of Defects*: Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to Contractor.
- D. *Correction, or Removal and Replacement*: Promptly after receipt of written notice of defective Work, Contractor shall correct all such defective Work, whether or not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if Engineer has rejected the defective Work, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective.
- E. *Preservation of Warranties*: When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner's special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said Work.
- F. Costs and Damages: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations with respect to defective Work, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to defective Work, including but not limited to the cost of the inspection, testing, correction, removal, replacement, or reconstruction of such defective Work, fines levied against Owner by governmental authorities because the Work is defective, and the costs of repair or replacement of work of others resulting from defective Work. Prior to final payment, if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as

to the measure of such claims, costs, losses, and damages resulting from defective Work, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15.

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, to Engineer's confirmation that such acceptance is in general accord with the design intent and applicable engineering principles, and will not endanger public safety). Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages attributable to Owner's evaluation of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved by Engineer as to reasonableness), and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent not otherwise paid by Contractor. If any such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work shall be incorporated in a Change Order. If the parties are unable to agree as to the decrease in the Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. If the acceptance of defective Work occurs after final payment, Contractor shall pay an appropriate amount to Owner.

14.05 Uncovering Work

- A. Engineer has the authority to require special inspection or testing of the Work, whether or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed.
- B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer's observation, and then replace the covering, all at Contractor's expense.
- C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer or inspected or tested by others, then Contractor, at Engineer's request, shall uncover, expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may require, that portion of the Work in question, and provide all necessary labor, material, and equipment.
 - 1. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall be responsible for all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others); and pending Contractor's full discharge of this responsibility the Owner shall be entitled to impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15.
 - 2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, replacement, and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount or extent thereof, then Contractor may submit a Change Proposal within 30 days of the determination that the Work is not defective.

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated;

however, this right of Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them.

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work

- A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer, or if Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, then Owner may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct or remedy any such deficiency.
- B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07, Owner shall proceed expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and suspend Contractor's services related thereto, and incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner's representatives, agents and employees, Owner's other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer's consultants access to the Site to enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph.
- C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07 will be charged against Contractor as set-offs against payments due under Article 15. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor's defective Work.
- D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner's rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07.

ARTICLE 15 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD

15.01 Progress Payments

A. Basis for Progress Payments: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on the number of units completed during the pay period, as determined under the provisions of Paragraph 13.03. Progress payments for cost-based Work will be based on Cost of the Work completed by Contractor during the pay period.

B. *Applications for Payments*:

1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale,

invoice, or other documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens, and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance, a warehouse bond, or other arrangements to protect Owner's interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner.

- 2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment.
- 3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the Agreement.

C. Review of Applications:

- 1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including each resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to Owner, or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer's reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application.
- 2. Engineer's recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer's observations of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and on Engineer's review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of Engineer's knowledge, information and belief:
 - a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated;
 - b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, a final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under Paragraph 13.03, and any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and
 - c. the conditions precedent to Contractor's being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer's responsibility to observe the Work.
- 3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have represented that:
 - a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract; or
 - b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to Contractor.

- 4. Neither Engineer's review of Contractor's Work for the purposes of recommending payments nor Engineer's recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will impose responsibility on Engineer:
 - a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or
 - b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or
 - c. for Contractor's failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor's performance of the Work, or
 - d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the money paid on account of the Contract Price, or
 - e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens.
- 5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in Engineer's opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated in Paragraph 15.01.C.2.
- 6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer's opinion to protect Owner from loss because:
 - a. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement;
 - b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
 - c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04;
 - d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental Condition for which Contractor is responsible; or
 - e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify termination for cause under the Contract Documents.

D. Payment Becomes Due:

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer's recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor.

E. Reductions in Payment by Owner:

- 1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner is entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following:
 - a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor's conduct in the performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or damages on account of Contractor's conduct in the performance or furnishing of the Work, including but not limited to claims, costs, losses, or damages from workplace injuries, adjacent property damage, non-compliance with Laws and Regulations, and patent infringement;
 - b. Contractor has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damage, delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the Site:

- c. Contractor has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance;
- d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental Condition for which Contractor is responsible;
- e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal reviews, evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return visits to manufacturing or assembly facilities;
- f. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement;
- g. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04;
- h. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
- i. an event that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify a termination for cause has occurred;
- j. liquidated damages have accrued as a result of Contractor's failure to achieve Milestones, Substantial Completion, or final completion of the Work;
- k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and discharge of such Liens;
- l. there are other items entitling Owner to a set off against the amount recommended.
- 2. If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge or on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Contractor immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action and the specific amount of the reduction, and promptly pay Contractor any amount remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, if Contractor remedies the reasons for such action. The reduction imposed shall be binding on Contractor unless it duly submits a Change Proposal contesting the reduction.
- 3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner's refusal of payment was not justified, the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by Paragraph 15.01.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement.

15.02 Contractor's Warranty of Title

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all Liens and other title defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven days after the time of payment by Owner.

15.03 Substantial Completion

A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete and request that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Contractor shall at the same time submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be completed or corrected before final payment.

- B. Promptly after Contractor's notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor.
- C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of items to be completed or corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the preliminary certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions of the certificate or attached punch list. If, after considering the objections to the provisions of the preliminary certificate, Engineer concludes that the Work is not substantially complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the preliminary certificate to Owner, notify Contractor in writing that the Work is not substantially complete, stating the reasons therefor. If Owner does not object to the provisions of the certificate, or if despite consideration of Owner's objections Engineer concludes that the Work is substantially complete, then Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver to Owner and Contractor a final certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised punch list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the preliminary certificate as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any objections from Owner.
- D. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and Contractor will confer regarding Owner's use or occupancy of the Work following Substantial Completion, review the builder's risk insurance policy with respect to the end of the builder's risk coverage, and confirm the transition to coverage of the Work under a permanent property insurance policy held by Owner. Unless Owner and Contractor agree otherwise in writing, Owner shall bear responsibility for security, operation, protection of the Work, property insurance, maintenance, heat, and utilities upon Owner's use or occupancy of the Work.
- E. After Substantial Completion the Contractor shall promptly begin work on the punch list of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Contractor may submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list items, following the progress payment procedures set forth above.
- F. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and complete or correct items on the punch list.

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy

- A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract Documents, or which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended purpose without significant interference with Contractor's performance of the remainder of the Work, subject to the following conditions:
 - 1. At any time Owner may request in writing that Contractor permit Owner to use or occupy any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 15.03.A through E for that part of the Work.

- 2. At any time Contractor may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor considers any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work.
- 3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, Engineer will notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor. If Engineer considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of Paragraph 15.03 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto.
- 4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 regarding builder's risk or other property insurance.

15.05 Final Inspection

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work, or agreed portion thereof, is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies.

15.06 Final Payment

A. *Application for Payment*:

- 1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of inspection, annotated record documents (as provided in Paragraph 7.11), and other documents, Contractor may make application for final payment.
- 2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by:
 - a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents;
 - b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment;
 - c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment.
 - d. a list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and
 - e. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien rights arising out of the Work, and of Liens filed in connection with the Work.
- 3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 15.06.A.2 and as approved by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of Contractor that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (b) all payrolls, material

and equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner might in any way be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other burdens on Owner's property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, Contractor may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner against any Lien, or Owner at its option may issue joint checks payable to Contractor and specified Subcontractors and Suppliers.

B. Engineer's Review of Application and Acceptance:

- 1. If, on the basis of Engineer's observation of the Work during construction and final inspection, and Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract have been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer's recommendation of final payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Such recommendation shall account for any set-offs against payment that are necessary in Engineer's opinion to protect Owner from loss for the reasons stated above with respect to progress payments. At the same time Engineer will also give written notice to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 15.07. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, in which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for Payment.
- C. *Completion of Work*: The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is ready for final payment as established by the Engineer's written recommendation of final payment.
- D. *Payment Becomes Due*: Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer (less any further sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer's recommendation, including but not limited to set-offs for liquidated damages and set-offs allowed under the provisions above with respect to progress payments) will become due and shall be paid by Owner to Contractor.

15.07 Waiver of Claims

- A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights against Contractor. Owner expressly reserves claims and rights arising from unsettled Liens, from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 15.05, from Contractor's failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special guarantees specified therein, from outstanding Claims by Owner, or from Contractor's continuing obligations under the Contract Documents.
- B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly submitted or appealed under the provisions of Article 17.

15.08 Correction Period

A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents, or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents), any Work is found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that

Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas used by Contractor as permitted by Laws and Regulations, is found to be defective, then Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with Owner's written instructions:

- 1. correct the defective repairs to the Site or such other adjacent areas;
- 2. correct such defective Work;
- 3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective, and
- 4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work of others, or to other land or areas resulting therefrom.
- B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner's written instructions, or in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others).
- C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications.
- D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period hereunder with respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed.
- E. Contractor's obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and warranties. The provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose.

ARTICLE 16 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than 90 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension. Any Change Proposal seeking such adjustments shall be submitted no later than 30 days after the date fixed for resumption of Work.

- A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will constitute a default by Contractor and justify termination for cause:
 - 1. Contractor's persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule);
 - 2. Failure of Contractor to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Contract Documents:
 - 3. Contractor's disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; or
 - 4. Contractor's repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer.
- B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 16.02.A occurs, then after giving Contractor (and any surety) ten days written notice that Owner is considering a declaration that Contractor is in default and termination of the contract, Owner may proceed to:
 - 1. declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor (and any surety) notice that the Contract is terminated; and
 - 2. enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond.
- C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient.
- D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 16.02.B if Contractor within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure.
- E. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 16.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price exceeds the cost to complete the Work, including all related claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals) sustained by Owner, such excess will be paid to Contractor. If the cost to complete the Work including such related claims, costs, losses, and damages exceeds such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this paragraph, Owner shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed.
- F. Where Contractor's services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may thereafter accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor or any surety under any payment bond or performance bond. Any retention or payment of money due Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability.
- G. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions of Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond shall govern over any inconsistent provisions of Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D.

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience

- A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items):
 - 1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such Work;
 - expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such expenses; and
 - 3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal.
- B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate

- A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or (3) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate the contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 16.03.
- B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. The provisions of this paragraph are not intended to preclude Contractor from submitting a Change Proposal for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor's stopping the Work as permitted by this paragraph.

ARTICLE 17 - FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES

17.01 *Methods and Procedures*

- A. *Disputes Subject to Final Resolution*: The following disputed matters are subject to final resolution under the provisions of this Article:
 - 1. A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in full; and
 - 2. Disputes between Owner and Contractor concerning the Work or obligations under the Contract Documents, and arising after final payment has been made.

- B. *Final Resolution of Disputes*: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner or Contractor may:
 - 1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in the Supplementary Conditions; or
 - 2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution process; or
 - 3. if no dispute resolution process is provided for in the Supplementary Conditions or mutually agreed to, give written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction.

ARTICLE 18 - MISCELLANEOUS

18.01 *Giving Notice*

- A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will be deemed to have been validly given if:
 - 1. delivered in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the individual or to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for which it is intended; or
 - 2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last business address known to the sender of the notice.

18.02 Computation of Times

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract by days, it will be computed to exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation.

18.03 Cumulative Remedies

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract. The provisions of this paragraph will be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply.

18.04 *Limitation of Damages*

A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, and other matters at issue, neither Owner nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.

18.05 No Waiver

A. A party's non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract.

18.06 Survival of Obligations

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor.

18.07 Controlling Law

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located.

18.08 Headings

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts of these General Conditions.

END OF SECTION

SECTION 00 73 00 SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS

These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the General Conditions of the Construction Contract, EJCDC® C-700, Copyright © 2013. All provisions that are not so amended or supplemented remain in full force and effect.

The terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings stated in the General conditions. Additional terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings stated below, which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof.

The address system used in these Supplementary Conditions is the same as the address system used in the General Conditions, with the prefix "SC" added thereto

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE 1 – D	EFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY	3
SC- 1.01	Defined Terms	3
ARTICLE 2 – PI	RELIMINARY MATTERS	3
SC- 2.01	Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance	3
SC- 2.02	Copies of Documents	3
	VAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; H	
SC- 5.03	Subsurface and Physical Conditions	3
SC- 5.06	Hazardous Environmental Conditions	4
ARTICLE 6 – Bo	ONDS AND INSURANCE	4
SC- 6.02	Insurance—General Provisions	4
SC- 6.03	Contractor's Liability Insurance	4
SC- 6.05	Property Insurance	5
ARTICLE 7 – CO	ONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES	6
SC- 7.02	Labor; Working Hours	6
SC- 7.12	Safety and Protection	6
SC- 13.01	Cost of the Work	6
ARTICLE 15 – I	PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PE	RIOD 7
SC- 15.01	Progress Payments:	7
SC- 15.03	Substantial Completion	7

ARTI	CLE 16 – SUS	PENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION	8
9	SC- 16.04	Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate	8
ARTI	CLE 17 – FIN	AL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES	8
9	SC- 17.02	Arbitration	8
5	SC- 17.03	Attorneys' Fees	9
ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS			
9	SC- 18.04	Limitation of Damages	9
S	SC- 18.09	Right to Audit	9

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY

SC-1.01 Defined Terms

- SC-1.01. Add to the list of definitions in Paragraph 1.01.A by inserting the following as numbered items in their proper alphabetical positions:
 - B. Additional Defined Terms Add the following words and terms to those listed in Article GC-1.01.
 - 1. Landscape Architect The professional responsible for the design of the project. The term Landscape Architect is used interchangeably with Engineer in these documents.

ARTICLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS

- SC-2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance
 - SC-2.01 Delete Paragraph 2.01 B. and C. in their entirety and insert the following in their place:
 - B. Evidence of Contractor's Insurance: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner copies of the policies of insurance (including all endorsements, and identification of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles) required to be provided by Contractor in Article 6. Contractor may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision.

SC-2.02 Copies of Documents

- SC-2.02 Delete Paragraph 2.02.A in its entirety and insert the following new paragraph in its place:
 - A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor 3 copies of conformed Contract Documents incorporating and integrating all Addenda and any amendments negotiated prior to the Effective Date of the Contract (including one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement), and one copy in electronic portable document format (PDF). Additional printed copies of the conformed Contract Documents will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction.

ARTICLE 5 - AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

- SC-5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions
 - SC 5.03 Delete Paragraphs 5.03.A and 5.03.B in their entirety and insert the following:
 - A. No Technical Data are known to Owner.

SC 5.06 Delete Paragraphs 5.06.A and 5.06.B in their entirety and insert the following:

- A. No reports or drawings related to Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site are known to Owner.
- B. Not Used.

ARTICLE 6 - BONDS AND INSURANCE

SC-6.02 Insurance—General Provisions

SC-6.02 Add the following paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.02.B:

1. Contractor may obtain worker's compensation insurance from an insurance company that has not been rated by A.M. Best, provided that such company (a) is domiciled in the state in which the project is located, (b) is certified or authorized as a worker's compensation insurance provider by the appropriate state agency, and (c) has been accepted to provide worker's compensation insurance for similar projects by the state within the last 12 months.

SC-6.03 Contractor's Liability Insurance

SC 6.03 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 6.03.J:

- K. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.03 of the General Conditions shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws and Regulations:
 - 1. Workers' Compensation, and related coverages under Paragraphs 6.03.A.1 and A.2 of the General Conditions:

	State:	Statutory
2.	Contractor's Commercial General Liability unde	r Paragraphs 6.03.B

Contractor's Commercial General Liability under Paragraphs 6.03.E and 6.03.C of the General Conditions:

General Aggregate	\$	2,000,000
Products - Completed Operations Aggregate	\$_	2,000,000
Personal and Advertising Injury	\$_	1,000,000
Each Occurrence (Bodily Injury and Property Damage)	\$_	1,000,000

3. Automobile Liability under Paragraph 6.03.D. of the General Conditions:

Bodily Injury:

\$ \$	1,000,000 1,000,000
\$	1,000,000
	, ,
\$	1,000,000
mit of \$	1,000,000
iability:	
\$	2,000,000
\$	2,000,000
on Liability:	
\$	\$1,000,000
\$	\$2,000,000
the following: Owner Boa	Engineer, include as rd Members, United
ional Liability:	
\$	1,000,000
\$	2,000,000
	mit of \$ Liability: Son Liability: Scked, Contractor is not required Pollution Liability insurance the following: Owner and the following: Owner Boatreau of Reclamation. Sional Liability: \$

SC-6.05 Property Insurance

SC 6.05. Delete Paragraph 6.05 in its entirety and insert the following:

Owner shall purchase and maintain builder's risk insurance upon the Work on a completed value basis, in the amount of the full insurable replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible amounts as may be acceptable to Owner). Such insurance will, subject to such deductibles, insure the interests of the Owner, Contractor, and the Bureau of Reclamation in the Work.

ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

SC-7.02 Labor; Working Hours

SC-7.02.B. Delete Paragraph 7.02.B in its entirety and insert the following:

B. Except in connection with the safety or protection of persons at the Work, or property at the Project Site or adjacent thereto, all Work at the Project Site shall be performed during regular working hours (7:00 a.m. - 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday), and the Contractor will not permit overtime work or the performance of work on Saturday, Sunday or any legal holiday observed by the Owner without the Owner's written consent given after prior written notice to the Engineer. Except as otherwise provided in this Paragraph, the Contractor shall receive no additional compensation for overtime work, i.e., work in excess of 8 hours in any one calendar day or 40 hours in any one calendar week, even though such overtime work may be required under emergency conditions and may be ordered by the Engineer in writing. Additional compensation will be paid to the Contractor for overtime work in the event extra work is ordered by the Engineer and the Change Order specifically authorizes the use of overtime work, but only to the extent that the Contractor pays overtime wages on a regular basis being paid (>40 hours per week) for overtime work of a similar nature in the same locality.

SC-7.02.C. Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 7.02.B:

C. All costs of inspection and testing performed during overtime work approved solely for the convenience of the Contractor shall be borne by the Contractor. The Owner shall have the authority to deduct the costs of the related inspection and testing from any partial payments otherwise due to the Contractor.

SC-7.12 Safety and Protection

SC-7.12 Insert the following after the second sentence of Paragraph 7.12.C:

The following Owner safety programs are applicable to the Work: Provo River Water Users Association Illness and Injury Prevention Program, October 5, 2015; United States Bureau of Reclamation Safety and Health Standards, Current Edition.

SC-13.01 Cost of the Work

SC 13.01.B.5.c Delete Paragraph 13.01.B.5.c in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

- c. Construction Equipment and Machinery:
 - 1) Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, in accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work.

2) Costs for equipment and machinery owned by Contractor will be paid at a rate shown for such equipment in the 2018 Building Construction Costs Book with RSMeans data. An hourly rate will be computed by dividing the monthly rates by 176. These computed rates will include all operating costs. Costs will include the time the equipment or machinery is in use on the changed Work and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal when directly attributable to the changed Work. The cost of any such equipment or machinery, or parts thereof, shall cease to accrue when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the changed Work. Equipment or machinery with a value of less than \$1,000 will be considered small tools.

ARTICLE 15 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD

SC-15.01 Progress Payments:

- SC 15.01.D.1 Delete Paragraph 15.01.D.1 in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
 - 1. 45 days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer's recommendation provided that such Application for Payment have been submitted on or before the 10th of the month following completion of the work, the amount recommended will (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 14.02.E) become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor.

SC-15.03 Substantial Completion

SC 15.03.BAdd the following new subparagraph to Paragraph 15.03.B:

1. If some or all of the Work has been determined not to be at a point of Substantial Completion and will require re-inspection or re-testing by Engineer, the cost of such re-inspection or re-testing, including the cost of time, travel and living expenses, shall be paid by Contractor to Owner. If Contractor does not pay, or the parties are unable to agree as to the amount owed, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15.

ARTICLE 16 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

SC-16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate

- SC-16.04.A In Paragraph A, delete the two "30 days" callouts and replace both with "45 days."
- SC-16.04.B In Paragraph B, delete the two "30 days" callouts and replace both with "45 days."

ARTICLE 17 - FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES

SC-17.02 Arbitration

SC-17.02 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 17.01.

SC-17.02 Arbitration

- A. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, will be settled by arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association (AAA) in accordance with its then most current version of its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules. Judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having personal and subject matter jurisdiction of the matter. Claims will be heard by a single arbitrator.
- B. If the parties are unable to agree on an arbitrator within ten (10) business days of a request to arbitrate, the arbitrator will be selected using the AAA's list process as provided in its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules. The place of arbitration will be Salt Lake City, Utah. The arbitration will be governed by the laws of the State of Utah.
- C. Each party will, upon written request of the other party, promptly provide the other with copies of all relevant documents. Any additional discovery or disclosures may be ordered in the discretion of the arbitrator.
- D. Hearings will take place pursuant to the standard procedures of the Construction Arbitration Rules that contemplate in person hearings. Time is of the essence for any arbitration under this Agreement and arbitration proceedings will take place within ninety (90) days of appointment of an arbitrator and awards rendered within sixty (60) days thereafter. The arbitrator must agree to these limits prior to accepting appointment.
- E. The arbitrator will have no authority to award punitive or other damages not measured by the prevailing party's actual damages, except as may be expressly required by this Agreement or statute. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses and an equal share of the arbitrators' and administrative fees of arbitration. The award of the arbitrator will be accompanied by a reasoned opinion. Except as may be required by law, neither a party nor an arbitrator may disclose the existence, content, or results of any arbitration hereunder without the prior written consent of both parties. Notwithstanding any language to the contrary in the

contract documents, the parties hereby agree: that the Underlying Award may be appealed pursuant to the AAA's Optional Appellate Arbitration Rules ("Appellate Rules"); that the Underlying Award rendered by the arbitrator(s) will, at a minimum, be a reasoned award; and that the Underlying Award will not be considered final until after the time for filing the notice of appeal pursuant to the Appellate Rules has expired. Appeals must be initiated within thirty (30) days of receipt of an Underlying Award, as defined by Rule A-3 of the Appellate Rules, by filing a Notice of Appeal with any AAA office. Following the appeal process the decision rendered by the appeal tribunal may be entered in any court having personal and subject matter jurisdiction of the matter.

SC-17.03 Attorneys' Fees

SC-17.03 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 17.02.

SC-17.03 Attorneys' Fees: For any matter subject to final resolution under this Article, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of its attorneys' fees incurred in the final resolution proceedings, in an equitable amount to be determined in the discretion of the court, arbitrator, arbitration panel, or other arbiter of the matter subject to final resolution, taking into account the parties' initial demand or defense positions in comparison with the final result.

ARTICLE 18 - MISCELLANEOUS

SC-18.04 Limitation of Damages

SC-18.04 Delete Paragraph 18.04 in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, and other matters at issue, no party (Owner, Engineer, Contractor, etc), nor any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project..

SC-18.09 Right to Audit

SC-18.09 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 18.08.

SC-18.09 Right to Audit

A. If the Contractor submits a claim to the Owner for additional compensation, the Owner shall have the right, as a condition to considering the claim, and as a basis for evaluation of the claim, and until the claim has been settled, to audit the Contractor's books. This right shall include the right to examine books, records, documents, and other evidence and accounting procedures and practices, sufficient to discover and verify all direct and indirect costs of whatever nature claimed to have been incurred or anticipated to be incurred and for which the claim has been submitted. The right to audit shall include the right to inspect the Contractor's plants, or such parts thereof, as may be or have been engaged

in the performance of the Work. The Contractor further agrees that the right to audit encompasses all subcontracts and is binding upon subcontractors. The right to examine and inspect herein provided for shall be exercisable through such representatives as the Owner deems desirable during the Contractor's normal business hours at the office of the Contractor. The Contractor shall make available to the Owner for auditing, all relevant accounting records and documents, and other financial data, and upon request, shall submit true copies of requested records to the Owner.

END OF SECTION

DIVISION 1 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 01 11 00 SUMMARY OF WORK

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SUMMARY

A. The Work to be performed under this Contract consists of furnishing all plant, tools, equipment, materials, supplies, and manufactured articles and furnishing all labor, transportation, and services, including fuel, power, water, and essential communications, and performing all Work, or other operations required for the fulfillment of the Contract in strict accordance with the Contract Documents. The Work shall be complete, and all Work, materials, and services not expressly indicated or called for in the Contract Documents, which may be necessary for the complete, safe and proper construction of the Work in good faith shall be provided by Contractor as though originally so indicated, at no increase in cost to Owner.

1.2 WORK COVERED BY CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

- A. The Work of this Contract comprises the construction of new landscape features according to the landscape plan. This includes but it is not limited to the installation of new trees, shrubs, grasses, perennials, boulders, boulder walls, ground covers, block walls, signs, concrete curbing, a dry creek bed, a concrete pad, a shade structure, and irrigation system in accordance with the drawings.
- B. The Work is located at 285 W 1100 N, Pleasant Grove, UT 84062 as indicated on the Drawings.

1.3 CONTRACT METHOD

A. The Work hereunder will be constructed under a single lump-sum contract.

1.4 STREAMLINED SPECIFICATIONS

- A. These specifications are written in streamlined or declarative style, often using incomplete sentences. This imperative language is directed to Contractor unless specifically noted otherwise.
- B. Omissions of such words and phrases as "Contractor shall," "in conformity therewith," "shall be," "as shown on the Drawings," "a," "an," "the," and "all" are intentional in streamlined sections.
 - 1. Omitted words shall be supplied by inference in the same manner as when a note appears on the Drawings.
 - 2. Omission of such words shall not relieve Contractor from providing the items and work described herein or indicated on the Drawings.
 - 3. Words "shall be" are included by inference where a colon (:) is used within sentences or phrases.

1.5 WORK BY OTHERS

- A. Owner reserves the right to perform or award other work concurrent with the Work included in this Contract
 - 1. Work may be conducted at or adjacent to the Site by other contractors during the performance of the Work under this Contract. Conduct operations so as to cause a minimum of interference with the Work of such other contractors and cooperate fully with such contractors to provide continued safe access to their respective portions of the Site, as required to perform Work under their respective contracts.
- B. Interference With Work On Utilities:
 - 1. Cooperate and coordinate fully with all utility forces of Owner or forces of other public or private agencies engaged in the relocation, altering, or otherwise rearranging of any facilities which interfere with the progress of the Work.
 - 2. Schedule the Work to minimize interference with said relocation, altering, or other rearranging of facilities.

1.6 WORK SEQUENCE AND SCHEDULING CONSTRAINTS

- A. Schedule and perform the Work in such a manner as to result in the least possible disruption to the public's use of roadways, driveways, and utilities. Utilities shall include but not be limited to water, sewerage, drainage structures, ditches and canals, gas, electric, cable television, and telephone. Refer to Utility Adjustment and other plan and profile sheets for approximate location of utilities. However, there is no guarantee as to accuracy or completeness. Contractor shall incorporate as-built locations on the reproducible record plans, in red ink, showing proper location on each sheet where these utilities are located.
- B. The CONTRACTOR may work on the various components in any order desired.
- 1.7 CONTRACTOR USE OF PROJECT SITE
- A. Use of the Project Site shall be limited to construction operations, including on-Site storage of materials, on-Site fabrication facilities, and field offices.
- 1.8 OWNER USE OF THE PROJECT SITE
- A. Owner shall be allowed safe access to the Project Site during the period of construction.
- 1.9 CONTRACTOR'S WORKING HOURS
- A. Perform work within Owner's regular working hours. If Contractor desires to work overtime or work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday, obtain prior approval from Owner and Engineer.
- 1.10 STORAGE
- A. Storage conditions shall be acceptable to Owner for all materials and equipment not incorporated into the Work but included in Applications for Payment. Such storage arrangements and conditions shall be presented in writing for Owner's review and approval and shall afford adequate and satisfactory security and protection. Off-site storage facilities

shall be accessible to Engineer. The stored materials shall be insured for full value. Certificates of liability insurance coverage must be submitted to Engineer with the request for payment by Contractor. All arrangements and costs for storage facilities shall be paid by Contractor, unless specifically designated in the Contract Documents to be furnished by Owner.

1.11 NOTICES TO OWNERS OF ADJACENT PROPERTIES AND UTILITIES

- A. Notify Owners of adjacent property and utilities when prosecution of the Work may affect them.
- B. When it is necessary to temporarily deny access by owners or tenants to their property, or when any utility service connection must be interrupted, Give notices sufficiently in advance to enable the affected person(s) to provide for their needs. Notices shall conform to any applicable local ordinance and, whether delivered orally or in writing, shall include appropriate information concerning the interruption and instructions on how to limit any resulting inconvenience.
- C. Utilities and other concerned agencies shall be contacted at least seven days prior to cutting or closing streets or other traffic areas or excavating near underground utilities or pole lines.
- D. Review with the various utility companies the construction methods, safety procedures, and Work to be done in the vicinity of utilities. When temporary relocation of utilities is necessary, provide sufficient advance notice to the utility involved.

1.12 LINES AND GRADES

- A. Perform all Work to the lines, grades, and elevations shown on the Drawings.
- B. Basic horizontal and vertical control points will be established or designated as provided in General Conditions paragraphs. Use these points as datum for the Work. Perform any additional survey, layout, or measurement work needed for proper construction of the Work as a part of the Work at no additional cost to Owner.
- C. Employ experienced instrument personnel, competent assistants, and such instruments, tools, stakes, and other materials required to complete the survey, layout, and measurement work. In addition, furnish, without additional charge, competent personnel and such tools, stakes, and other materials as Engineer may require in establishing or designating control points or in checking survey, layout, and measurement of Work performed.
- D. Keep Engineer informed, a reasonable time in advance, of the times and places at which Work is to be done, so that horizontal and vertical control points may be established and any checking deemed necessary by Engineer may be done with minimum delay to the Project.
- E. Remove and reconstruct Work, which is improperly located.

1.13 PROJECT MEETINGS

A. Preconstruction Conference

- 1. Prior to the commencement of Work at the Site, a preconstruction conference will be held at a mutually agreed time and place which shall be attended by Contractor's Project Manager, its Superintendent, its Safety Representative, and its Subcontractors as Contractor deems appropriate. Other attendees will be:
 - a. Engineer
 - b. Representatives of Owner
 - c. Governmental representatives as appropriate
 - d. Others as requested by Contractor, Owner, or Engineer
 - e. Engineer's Representative
- 2. Bring to the conference, any submittals so indicated in Section 01 33 20 Contractor Submittals.
- 3. The purpose of the conference is to designate responsible personnel, discuss contract requirements and establish a working relationship. Matters requiring coordination will be discussed and procedures for handling such matters established. The complete agenda will be furnished by Engineer prior to the meeting date. However, be prepared to discuss all of the items listed below.
 - a. Contractor's assignments for safety and first aid, including Designated Competent person(s) and Contractor's safety Representative.
 - b. Status of Contractor's insurance and bonds.
 - c. Contractor's tentative schedules.
 - d. Transmittal, review, and distribution of Contractor's submittals.
 - e. Processing applications for payment.
 - f. Maintaining record documents.
 - g. Critical Work sequencing.
 - h. Field decisions and Change Orders.
 - i. Use of project site, office and storage areas, security, housekeeping, and Owner's needs.
 - j. Major equipment deliveries and priorities.
 - k. Permits required for construction.
 - l. Utilities required for construction.
 - m. Contract Owner and channels of communication.
 - n. Coordination with others.
- 4. Engineer will preside at the preconstruction conference and will arrange for keeping and distributing the minutes to all persons in attendance.

B. Progress Meetings

- 1. Engineer will schedule and hold regular on-Site progress meetings at least weekly and at other times as deemed necessary by Engineer or as required by progress of the Work. Contractor, Engineer and all Subcontractors active on the Site must attend each meeting. Contractor may at its discretion request attendance by representatives of its Suppliers, manufacturers, and other Subcontractors.
- 2. Engineer will preside at the meetings and will arrange for keeping and distributing the minutes. The purpose of the meetings will be to review the progress of the Work, discuss safety, maintain coordination of efforts, discuss commercial issues, discuss changes in scheduling, and resolve other problems, which may develop. During each meeting, all parties are required to present any issues, which may impact its Work, with a view toward resolving these issues expeditiously.

- 1.14 AVAILABLE SUPPLEMENTAL REPORTS
- A. None.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS (NOT USED)
- PART 3 EXECUTION (NOT USED)

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 01 20 00 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT

1.1 DESCRIPTION

- A. This Section defines the manner in which the Lump Sum Prices, Unit Prices, and the Allowances listed in the Bid Schedule will be used to determine measurement and payment for all Work and describes the required procedures for monthly progress payments to the Contractor.
- B. Bid amounts will include all plant, equipment, tools materials, labor, service, and all other items required to complete the Work included in the Agreement unless specifically excluded by this section. Work required for which no separate Bid item is identified will be considered as a subsidiary obligation of the Contractor, and the cost therefore shall be included in the most applicable Bid item. Refer to Section 01 32 20 Bar Chart Schedule for resource loading and progress payments. Compensation for partial completion of the Work will be determined by use of the Construction Schedule. Bid amounts for each item will be the basis for development of budget values for activities included in the Construction Schedule and in the Schedule of Values. Adjustments to Allowance Bid Item amounts will be applied to the Contract Price when Work is completed, and actual Allowance item amounts are known.
- C. Payment for all items in the Bid Schedule will include full compensation for furnishing all tools, equipment, supplies, and manufactured articles, and for all labor, operations, and incidentals appurtenant to the items of Work being described, as necessary to complete the various items of the Work in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, including all appurtenances thereto, and including but not limited to all costs of permits and cost of compliance with the regulations of public agencies having jurisdiction, including Safety and Health Requirements of the Utah Division of Industrial Safety and the Occupational Safety and Health Administration of the U.S. Department of Labor (OSHA).
- D. All costs shall be included in the prices named in the Bid Schedule for the various items of Work. Except as otherwise provided herein, no separate payment will be made for any item that is not specifically set forth in the Bid Schedule.
- E. When included, all estimated quantities stipulated in the Bid or other Contract Documents are approximate and are to be used only as a basis for estimating the probable cost of the Work and for the purpose of comparing the Bids submitted for the Work. The actual amounts of Work done and materials furnished under unit price items may differ from the estimated quantities. The basis of payment for work and materials will be the actual amount of work done and materials furnished. Contractor agrees that it will make no claim for damages, anticipated profits, or otherwise on account of any difference between the amounts of work actually performed and materials actually furnished and the estimated amounts thereof.
- F. The unit or lump sum item of work, which involves excavation or trenching shall include all costs for such work. No direct payment will be made for excavation or trenching. All excavation and trenching will be unclassified as to materials which may be encountered; in addition, trenches will be unclassified as to depth. No additional payment will be made for rock or caliche excavation, nor for blasting which the Contractor determines is required for rock or caliche excavations.

- G. Monthly pay requests are due on the 30th of each month, and while pay requests will be accepted prior to this date, pay request processing will not begin until this date for purposes of meeting the Owner's pay request processing obligations. Failure to submit a pay request by this day may be cause for the rejection of the pay request. If rejected, Contractor may have to resubmit the pay request the next month. Should the submittal date fall on a holiday or weekend day during the month, then consider the next working day as the due date.
- H. Note that the information provided in this Section is intended for use as a general description of the breakdown of work to be included in the Bid Schedule. The following descriptions are NOT intended to represent a complete listing of all Work required by the Contract Documents. It is the Bidder's responsibility to make sure that costs for all Work required in the plans and specifications is accounted for in the appropriate Bid Items, whether or not specifically described in this Measurement and Payment section. The Owner is not responsible for Contractor's failure to properly coordinate with Subcontractors and Suppliers regarding the breakdown of Work in these Contract Documents.

1.2 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT

A. Unit Price Bid Items

- 1. All Work Required by the Contract Documents Unit Price Items.
 - a. Measurement and calculation of quantities for payment to be as indicated in this section.
 - b. Unit prices or lump sum amounts to include full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, products, tools, equipment, transportation, services and incidentals; erection, application or installation of an item of the Work; overhead and profit, and doing all work shown on the Drawings, defined in the Specifications, and/or stipulated herein.
 - c. Payment covers the cost of incidental work which includes: CQC program; safety procedure plan; dust control; irrigation, surface water and drainage management; coordination with property owners, electric work, contractors, and government agencies; all provisions required to provide and maintain full and continuous access to all properties affected by construction operations; unclassified excavation; removal and disposal of waste materials; select import fill material; hauling and stockpiling of materials and equipment; protection and support of existing surface and subsurface features except as identified as bid items; replacement and restoration of existing utilities (mains and services) and other items damaged by the CONTRACTOR's operations; and all other necessary work, to install the Work complete in place.
- B. BID SCHEDULE BASE BID, Measurement and Payment to be as follows:

1) Bid Item 1 - Mobilization / Demobilization and Site Cleanup

- a. Measurement and payment for mobilization will be made on a lump sum basis.
- b. Payment Covers: Cost of mobilization; demobilization; video taping site conditions

prior to construction; temporary facilities; preparation of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan; obtaining any additional; permits not already obtained by the OWNER. This pay item shall constitute full compensation for all labor, equipment, tools, supplies and materials required to complete this portion of the Work for this construction project.

c. For purposes of payment, Mobilization shall be paid for on a complete basis. The lump sum bid price for this bid item shall not exceed 8 percent of the total bid price listed in the Bid Schedule. The OWNER will pay the adjusted lump sum price for Mobilization. Mobilization will be paid on a percent complete basis as summarized in the following table.

Partial Payment	Amount	When Paid
1 st	30 percent of mobilization lump sum.	With 1st pay request
2 nd	50 percent (up to 80 percent total) of the lump sum on the Bid Schedule	With 2^{nd} pay request, or when contract is at least 50 percent complete.
3 rd	20 percent (up to 100 percent total) of the lump sum on the Bid Schedule	With 3 rd pay request, or when contract is at least 95 percent complete.

2) Bid Item 2 - Construction Survey

- a. Payment Covers: Costs associated with all labor, materials, and equipment required to provide any and all construction surveying in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.
- b. Measured and paid for on a lump sum basis for the construction areas indicated in the bid schedule.

3) **Bid Item 3 - Clear and Grub**

- a. Payment Covers: Costs associated with all labor, materials, and equipment required to clear and grub all disturbed areas necessary for the construction of the trailhead in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. Any and all tree roots that are impacted or disturbed during the construction of the trailhead shall be clean cut with a saw to minimize damage to the root.
- b. Measured and paid for on a lump sum basis for the construction areas indicated in the bid schedule.

4) Bid Item 4 - <u>Erosion Control (Silt Fence, Track Out Pad, Inlet Protection)</u>

a. Payment Covers: Costs associated will all labor, materials, and equipment required to install the silt fence, gravel track out pad, and inlet protection materials to mitigate debris flowing to the existing or new storm drain facilities; storm water pollution prevention plan preparation, development and implementation, including fees as outlined in the specifications; periodic maintaining of erosion control features; replacement of damage features throughout construction; etc. with adherence to state

and local laws and as required by the stormwater pollution prevention plan and the requirements of the Contract Documents.

b. Measured as a lump sum bid item.

5) Bid Item 5 - <u>Haul off and Dispose of Excess Material</u>

- a. Payment Covers: Payment shall be complete compensation for all labor, tools, materials, and equipment required to complete this item in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. It includes, but is not limited to: loading; hauling off-site; legally disposing off of the Owner's property; and all other appurtenances and work required to complete this bid item
- b. Measured and paid for as a lump sum volume hauled from the site.

6) **Bid Item 6 - Grading**

- a. Payment Covers: Costs associated will all labor, materials, and equipment required to grade the site; excavation of bedrock; hauling; placing and compaction of native materials on the site as required by the Contract Documents.
- b. Measured as a lump sum bid item.

7) Bid Item 7 - Relocation of Existing Light Pole

- a. Payment Covers: Costs associated with all labor, materials, and equipment required to relocate and install necessary conduit, trenching and backfill, any repair of asphalt in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. This Bid item only relates to the light pole relocation as shown on the drawings.
- b. Measured and paid for on a lump sum basis.

8) Bid Item 8 - Block Retaining Wall

- a. Payment Covers: Payment shall be complete compensation for all labor, tools, materials, and equipment required to complete this item in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. It includes, but is not limited to: purchasing block wall; hauling; embedding the bottom row of block by 6" minimum; and all other appurtenances and work required to complete this bid item.
- b. Measured and paid for on the basis of a unit price per square foot of exposed wall face.

9) **Bid Item 9 - Boulder Retaining Wall**

a. Payment Covers: Payment shall be complete compensation for all labor, tools, materials, and equipment required to complete this item in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. It includes, but is not limited to: purchasing

- rock; hauling; gravel, mirifi fabric, embedding bottom row of rock 6" minimum; and all other appurtenances and work required to complete this bid item.
- b. Measured and paid for on the basis of a unit price per square foot of exposed wall face.

10) Bid Items 10 - Engraved Boulder Entry Sign and Installation

- a. Payment Covers: Costs associated will all labor, materials, and equipment required to install District engraved boulder sign; as shown on the Contract Documents, in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.
- b. Measured and paid for based on a unit price of the sign installed boulder sign.

11) Bid Items 11 - Pedestal Information Sign and Installation

- a. Payment Covers: Costs associated will all labor, materials, and equipment required to install District pedestal information sign and concrete footing; as shown on the Contract Documents, in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.
- b. Measured and paid for based on a unit price of the sign installed pedestal sign.

12) Bid Item 12 - Steel Structure

- a. Payment Covers: Costs associated will all labor, materials, and equipment required to install an Icon steel pergola shelter; installing structure; pour and construction of concrete footings for structure or anchors per manufacturer recommendations; as shown on the Contract Documents, in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.
- b. Measured and paid for based on a unit price of each the single steel structure.

13) Bid Item 13 -Pad and Installation for Steel Structure

- a. Payment Covers: Costs associated will all labor, materials, and equipment required to install a 4" thick concrete pad; 6" untreated base course; installing structure; pour and construction of concrete footings for structure; as shown on the Contract Documents, in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.
- b. Measured and paid for based on a unit price of each the single steel structure.

14) Bid Item 14 - 8" Concrete Curbing

- a. Payment covers the cost of providing and installing the concrete landscape curbing. Installation and materials shall be of the size indicated on the construction documents.
- b. Measured as a lump sum item.
- c. Payment covers: All labor, material, tools and supplies required to supply and install concrete curbing as indicated on the Contract Documents.

15) Bid Item 16 - Large, Flat Stones and Gravel for Dry Creek Bed Crossing

- a. Payment covers the cost of providing and installing the grading, stones, and gravel of the dry creek bed crossing. Installation and materials shall be of the size and type indicated on the construction documents.
- b. Measured as a lump sum item.

16) **Bid Item 17 - Landscape Complete**

- a. Payment covers the cost of providing and installing the groundcovers, mulch, and landscape plantings. Installation and materials shall be of the size and type indicated on the construction documents.
- b. Measured as a lump sum item.
- c. Payment covers: All labor, material, tools and supplies required to supply and install trees; shrubs; annuals/perennials; grasses; sod; bark mulch; decomposed granite; gravel mulch; and all items necessary for a complete the landscaped per the Contract Documents.

17) Bid Item 18 - Irrigation Complete

- a. Payment covers the cost of providing and installing the irrigation system. Installation and materials shall be of the size and type indicated on the construction documents.
- b. Measured as a lump sum item.
- c. Payment covers: All labor, material, tools and supplies required to supply and install pipe and plantings of the size and type indicated; PVC pipe; fittings; valves; backflow; heads; nozzles; backfill; trenching; and all items necessary for a complete irrigated system per the Contract Documents.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1 GENERAL PROGRESS PAYMENT REQUIREMENTS

- A. A Payment for Work performed shall be in accordance with installed quantities as assessed in comparison to the Schedule of Values and the Construction Schedule. The Engineer will verify measurements and quantities. Each activity necessary to manage and complete the Work is identified on the Contract schedules. Each activity will be assigned its respective value, a portion of the Contract Price, as shown on the Schedule of Values (Roll-up), and detailed cost loaded activity schedule.
- B. Payment for all lump sum costs and services incurred on this Agreement shall be based on the earned value of Work accomplished during the reporting period. Earned value is determined by the completion percentage of each activity as determined by the Schedule of Values and the Construction Schedule applied to the total value of the activity. No construction activity shall be deemed 100 percent complete until the Contractor has completed the physical check out and inspection of the completed Work and has submitted the signed inspection form to the Engineer.
- C. Earned value is derived from the current status of the Contractor Construction Schedule as determined by the monthly schedule status submittals. Each schedule status submittal is

reviewed and approved by the Engineer prior to the Contractor obtaining approval for the Summary of Earned Values or quantities installed and the Application for Payment.

3.2 APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT

- A. Submit application for payment on the Owner's form and be certified by signature of an Authorized Officer of the Contractor.
- B. The Application for Payment shall contain all necessary references and attachments that substantiate the invoice for progress payment (e.g., certified payrolls, labor reports, progress schedule data, and Summary of Earned Values). It shall substantiate the invoice for progress payment and shall be preceded or accompanied by the schedule and status data as a condition of payment, in accordance with the Construction Schedule and the Schedule of Values.

3.3 REVIEWS/APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT

A. Review meetings between the Contractor and the Engineer will be held weekly and within 7 Days prior to the payment application date designated by the Engineer. Three Days prior to the last review meeting of the month, submit an updated schedule and a signed application for payment showing a Summary of Earned Values for the reporting and payment period so that the Engineer can compare earned values to available status data. Make any adjustments to the Master Record Documents, updated schedule, and payment applications required by the Engineer. Upon completion of the adjustments, the Engineer will sign the payment request and forward it to the Owner. The Engineer will determine payment amounts if agreement with the Contractor is not reached.

3.4 PAYMENT FOR SUPPLIES AND MATERIALS

B. Payment based on the actual cost of supplies, materials and equipment on hand shall be made by the Owner with or without a paid invoice. "Actual cost" of materials shall be the invoice amount, whether paid or not, and shall not include any costs associated with installation, testing, etc. The Contractor shall be entitled to payment of the actual cost of supplies, materials and equipment only if it (1) presents an invoice to the Owner with the application for payment and (2) states in the application for payment that the materials have been delivered and stored in the time and manner specified in the contract between the Contractor and his Supplier or Subcontractor. If Contractor fails to comply with those conditions, the Owner may withhold payment in accordance with the provisions. The Owner expressly reserves the right to withhold retention until Contractor presents to the Owner a paid invoice, or some other proof of payment satisfactory to the Owner, for the Owner's use in verifying the accuracy of the actual cost of the supplies, materials or equipment. If the amount paid does not match the actual cost, the Owner will adjust the amount of retention accordingly. Payment for supplies, materials or equipment on hand does not alter the responsibility of the Contractor for all supplies, materials and equipment until Final Acceptance of the Work.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 01 29 73 SCHEDULE OF VALUES

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 GENERAL

A. This Section defines the process whereby the Schedule of Values shall be developed and incorporated into the cost loading function of the Construction Progress Schedule as specified in Section 01 32 16 - Construction Progress Schedule. Monthly progress payment amounts shall be determined from the weekly progress updates of the scheduled activities. The schedule of values shall, as a minimum, list the value of every activity on the schedule, and shall include such additional breakdowns as required herein. The values in the Schedule of Values do not establish a commitment by either Contractor or Owner when negotiating changes to the Contract Documents.

1.2 DETAILED SCHEDULE OF VALUES

- A. Prepare and submit a detailed Schedule of Values to Engineer as part of the Construction Progress Schedule submittal. Because the ultimate requirement is to develop a detailed Schedule of Values sufficient to determine appropriate monthly progress payment amounts through resource loading of the schedule activities, sufficient detailed breakdown shall be provided to meet this requirement. The Schedule of Values shall have a one-to-one relationship to the work activities of the Construction Schedule even though additional detailed breakdowns for the Schedule of Values may be required. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptable breakdowns, details, and descriptions of the values established. If, in the opinion of Engineer, a greater number of Schedule of Values items than proposed is necessary, add the additional items so identified.
- B. The minimum details of a breakdown of the major Work components are indicated below. Provide greater detail when directed by Engineer.
 - 1. Mobilization: Five percent of Contract Price.
 - 2. Construction Progress Schedule shall be broken down by initial submittal and monthly updates.
 - 3. Break down percent complete landscape Work.
 - 4. Break down all other Work not specifically included in the above items as necessary for establishment of pay and schedule activity items.
- C. After submittal of the Schedule of Values, as part of the Construction Progress Schedule submittal, meet with Engineer and jointly review the schedules. Review the value allocations and extent of detail to determine any necessary adjustments to the values and to determine if sufficient detail has been proposed. Make adjustments deemed necessary to the value allocation or level of detail and submit a revised detailed Schedule of Values within 5 work days from receipt of comments from Engineer.

1.3 CROSS REFERENCE LISTING

A. To assist in the correlation of the Schedule of Values and the Construction Progress Schedule, provide a cross referenced listing in two parts as follows:

- 1. In the first part, list each scheduled activity with the breakdown of the respective valued items making up the total cost of the activity.
- 2. In the second part, list the valued items with the respective scheduled activity or activities that make up the total cost indicates.
- 3. Where a number of schedule items make up the total cost for a valued item (shown in the Schedule of Values), the total cost for each scheduled item shall be indicated.
- B. Update and submit the listings in conjunction with the monthly Construction Progress Schedule updates.
- C. Incorporate approved Change Orders reflected in the Construction Progress Schedule into the Schedule of Values as a single unit identified by the Change Order number.

1.4 CHANGES TO SCHEDULE OF VALUES

- A. Assign values, approved by Engineer, for changes to the Construction Schedule which add activities not included in the original Construction Schedule but are included in the original Work (schedule omissions). Reduce other activity values to provide equal value adjustment increases for added activities as approved by Engineer.
- B. In the event that Contractor and Engineer agree to make adjustments to the original Schedule of Values because of inequities discovered in the original accepted detailed Schedule of Values, increases and equal decreases to values for activities may be made. Engineer may direct changes to the schedule when inequities are discovered and agreement on the reallocation cannot be achieved.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION (NOT USED)

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 01 31 30 SAFETY

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SUMMARY

A. Contractor's safety program shall conform to the requirements specified in the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions.

1.2 DEFINITIONS

- A. For the purposes of this Section, an "active construction area" is any area where construction activities are occurring or construction activities could be considered a potential hazard to people.
- B. A "Designated Safety Officer" or "Safety Representative" for the purposes of this Contract, means anyone who is capable of identifying the existing and predictable hazards in the areas surrounding a construction project or those working conditions at a construction project that are unsanitary or dangerous to employees. A "Designated Safety Officer" has the authority to make prompt corrective measures to eliminate those hazards.

1.3 SUBMITTALS

- A. Demonstrate compliance action with the stipulations of Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA), and other applicable local, state, and federal safety requirements by submitting to Engineer a copy of all safety plans, programs, and permits. Such plans and programs shall include, but are not limited to:
 - 1. Hazard Analysis Prior to Major Activities (job safety analysis, JSA).
 - 2. Emergency Plan.
 - 3. Rigging and Hoisting Plans.
 - 4. Excavation and Trenching Plans.
 - 5. Respiratory Protection Program.
 - 6. Fire Protection Plan.
 - 7. Confined Space Entry Program.
 - 8. Explosives Handling and Storage.
 - 9. Confined Space Entry Program.
 - 10. Electrical Safety (drop cords, temporary power, GFCI's, etc.)
 - 11. Lock Out/Tag Out.
 - 12. Fall Protection.
 - 13. Heavy Equipment Operations.
 - 14. Burning and Welding Operations.
 - 15. Training Plan.
 - 16. Tunneling/Underground/Jacking/Boring Operations.
 - 17. Project Site Rules and Regulations (hazard protection plan).
 - 18. Material Handling (storage-disposal).
 - 19. Fuel Storage and Refueling.
 - 20. Hazard Communication/Right to Know.

- 21. Subcontractor Requirements.
- 22. Ventilation.
- 23. Personal Protective Equipment (hearing, eye, face).
- 24. Power Transmission/Distribution (temporary and/or permanent).
- 25. Traffic Control.
- 26. Environmental Controls.
- 27. Safety Meetings.
- 28. Spill Control Plan.
- 29. First Aid Facilities.
- B. Engineer's receipt of safety plans or programs will not relieve Contractor in any way from the full and complete responsibility for safety and training of its personnel, and the onsite personnel of Owner, Engineer, and other visitors to areas of active construction areas. On a daily basis, inform Engineer of changes to the boundaries of the active construction areas.
- C. Be responsible for safety training all personnel who will have access to the active construction areas to meet state, federal, local and Contractor requirements. Maintain reasonable, regularly scheduled training sessions in mutually accessible facilities through entire Contract. Training costs for all personnel and visitors, except those costs associated with training personnel of Contractor, subcontractors, suppliers, and visitors will be considered incidental to other lump-sum portions of the Work and no additional compensation for such training will be provided.
- D. Safety Program Requirements:
 - 1. Safety Representative Requirements:
 - a. Assign a full-time Safety Representative as defined in the General Conditions of the Contract.
 - b. The Safety Representative's duties and responsibilities will be hazard recognition, accidents prevention, new employee orientation (including subcontractors), and the maintaining and supervising of safety precautions and program. This person shall have no other duties. The Safety Representative or a qualified and approved deputy shall be onsite at all times while Work is ongoing.
 - c. Qualifications of the Safety Representative and assigned deputies shall be submitted to Engineer for review. Acceptance of their qualifications by Engineer is required prior to the start of any activity on the Project. The Safety Representative will, as a minimum, meet the requirements of regulations for the Occupational Safety & Health Enforcement Program.
 - 2. Hazardous Substances:
 - a. Provide Engineer with a list of all hazardous substances anticipated to be brought on-site.
 - b. Maintain on site Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) prior to arrival of any hazardous substances on the Project.
 - c. Use storage area(s) as outlined in the spill control plan.
 - 3. Job Safety Analysis (JSA):
 - a. Outline the sequence of the Work, equipment to be used, identify hazards that may exist or may be created and what procedures and/or safety equipment will be used to eliminate or reduce these hazards. A Scope of Work JSA shall

be prepared and provided to the Engineer prior to the start of unusual, hazardous, or have risk potential activities on the Project. The name of the competent person assigned to this activity will be included on the JSA.

b. Complete a JSA for any activity, which may be of an unusual nature or involves unique hazards.

4. Reports

- a. Provide to Engineer copies of Contractor's and subcontractor's:
 - 1) First aid, recordable, lost time and near miss, monthly logs.
 - 2) OSHA 200 injury log (annually).
 - 3) Safety meeting reports and topics (weekly).
 - 4) List of competent persons as required by OSHA and the Project Health and Safety Manual for each required task and their qualification as such.
 - 5) Injury and accident reports will be submitted to Engineer within 24 hours of any incident. **Immediate** notification to Engineer of an accident is **required**. Full cooperation with Engineer in accident investigation is required.
- b. Conduct weekly safety inspections. Corrective actions shall be taken within 24 hours to address all deficiencies identified during inspections. Deficiency reports shall be prepared and submitted to Engineer within 48 hours indicating corrective actions taken. Failure to comply with required corrective measures identified in the safety inspection will result in the delayed signing of the monthly application for progress payment by Engineer.
- c. Provide Engineer with a report of any periodic audit of Contractor's safety performance and/or records.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 01 33 20 SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SUMMARY

A. Section includes administrative and procedural requirements for submittals required in performance of the Work, including shop drawings, schedules, surveys, reports, samples, plans, lists, drawings, documents, warranties, certifications, findings, programs, manuals, data sheets, or any other item of information required by the Contract Documents to be submitted in accomplishing the Work.

1.2 RELATED SECTIONS

- A. Section 01 11 00 Summary of Work.
- B. Section 01 25 10 Products, Materials, Equipment and Substitutions.
- C. Section 01 29 73 Schedule of Values.
- D. Section 01 31 30 Safety.
- E. Section 01 32 00 Electronic Project Management System.
- F. Section 01 32 16 Construction Progress Schedule.
- G. Section 01 40 26 Permits.
- H. Section 01 45 00 Quality Control.
- I. Section 01 77 00 Project Closeout.
- J. Section 01 71 40 Public Information Program.
- K. Section 01 71 50 Protection and Restoration of Existing Facilities.
- L. Section 01 78 39 Project Record Documents.

1.3 DEFINITIONS

- A. Action Submittal: Written and graphic information submitted by Contractor that requires Engineer's approval for inclusion in the Work.
- B. Deferred Submittal: Information in accordance with the applicable Building Code, submitted by Contractor for portions of the design that are to be submitted to permitting agency after the time of permit application and prior to installation of that portion of Work. Deferred Submittals must include Engineer's review documentation stating that submittal has been found to be in general conformance with overall Project design.

- C. Informational Submittal: Information submitted by Contractor to represent compliance with Contract Requirements included in the Work, but which are not part of the Work itself. Informational Submittals must be submitted to Engineer for information and for determination that submitted information is in accordance with Contract requirements.
- D. Shop Drawing: The term "Shop Drawing" as used herein shall be understood to include detail design calculations, shop drawings, fabrication and installation drawings, erection drawings, lists, graphs, and similar items.
- E. PDF: Abbreviation for "Portable Document Format", used for transmittal of electronic documents.

1.4 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

- A. Whenever submittals are required hereunder, transmit all documents to Engineer in electronic format.
- B. Be responsible for the accuracy, completeness, and coordination of all submittals. Do not delegate this responsibility in whole or in part to any subcontractor. Submittals may be prepared by Contractor, subcontractor, or supplier, but Contractor shall ascertain that each submittal meets the requirements of the Contract and the Project. Ensure that there is no conflict with other submittals and notify Engineer in each case where a submittal may affect the work of another contractor or Owner.

C. Coordination

- 1. Ensure coordination of submittals of related crafts and subcontractors.
- 2. Coordinate preparation and processing of submittals with performance of construction activities. Transmit each submittal sufficiently ahead of performance of related construction activities to avoid delay.
- 3. Coordinate transmittal of different types of submittals for related elements of the Work so processing will not be delayed by the need to review submittals concurrently for coordination. Engineer reserves the right to withhold action on a submittal requiring coordination with other submittals until related submittals are received.
- 4. Carefully review all submittals prior to submission. Sign and date each transmittal with a direct statement acknowledging that the equipment or material in the submittal meets all the requirements specified or shown in the Contract Documents without exception. No consideration or review of any submittals will be made for any items, which have not been so certified. All non-certified submittals will be returned without action taken, and any delays caused thereby shall be the total responsibility of Contractor. Submittals which cannot bear this certification because they contain an exception or deviation to the Contract Documents shall be so noted in the electronic transmittal and shall only be submitted in accordance with Section 01 25 10 Products, Materials, Equipment and Substitutions.
- D. Processing: Allow sufficient review time so that installation will not be delayed because of the time required to process submittals, including time for resubmittals.
 - 1. Except as may otherwise be indicated herein, Engineer will return each submittal, with comments noted thereon, within 14 calendar days following receipt by Engineer.

- 2. For resubmittal, Engineer will be allowed the same review period as for the original submittal.
- 3. It is considered reasonable that Contractor will make a complete and acceptable submittal to Engineer by the second submission of an item. Owner reserves the right to withhold monies due Contractor to cover additional costs of any review beyond the second submittal.
- 4. Allow additional time if processing must be delayed for coordination with subsequent submittals. Engineer will promptly advise Contractor when a submittal being processed must be delayed for coordination.
- 5. If an intermediate submittal is necessary, process the same as the initial submittal.
- 6. No extension of Contract Time will be authorized resulting from non-compliant submittals or failure to transmit submittals to Engineer sufficiently in advance of the Work to permit processing.
- 7. If an incomplete submittal is made, the submittal may be returned without review. A complete submittal will contain sufficient data to demonstrate that the items contained therein comply with the Contract Documents, meet the minimum requirements for submittals as described in the Contract Documents, and include all corrections as required from previous submittals.

E. Submittal Schedule

- 1. Within 30 days of the Notice to Proceed, submit a complete list of anticipated submittals, which includes Specification and Drawing references.
 - a. Coordinate submittal schedule with any subcontracts, schedule of values, the list of products, and Contractor's construction schedule.
 - b. Prepare schedule in chronological order.
 - c. Update the list with "early start" submittal dates within 15 days of submittal of the Construction Progress Schedule.
 - d. Update submittal dates whenever the schedule is updated and include any additional submittals identified after the initial submittal in the updates.
- F. Unsolicited Submittals: Unsolicited submittals may be returned without being reviewed.
- G. Changes in Work: Changes in the Work will not be authorized by submittal review actions. No review action, implicit or explicit, will be interpreted to authorize changes in the Work. Changes will only be authorized by separate written direction from Owner, in accordance with the General Conditions.

1.5 ACTION SUBMITTALS / INFORMATIONAL SUBMITTALS

A. Product Data:

- 1. Collect Product Data into a single submittal for each element of construction or system. Product Data includes printed information such as manufacturer's installation instructions, catalog cuts, standard color charts, roughing-in diagrams and templates, standard wiring diagrams and performance curves. Where Product Data must be specially prepared because standard published data is not suitable for use, submit as "Shop Drawings."
- 2. Mark each data sheet to show applicable choices and options pertinent to the Project. Where printed Product Data includes information on several products, some of which

are not required for the Project, mark the data sheets to indicate the applicable information. Include the following information:

- a. Manufacturer's printed recommendations.
- b. Compliance with recognized trade association standards.
- c. Compliance with recognized testing agency standards.
- d. Application of testing agency labels and seals.
- e. Notation of dimensions verified by field measurement.
- f. Notation of coordination requirements.
- 3. Do not submit Product Data until compliance with requirements of the Contract Documents has been confirmed.

B. Samples

- 1. Whenever in the Specifications, samples are required, submit not less than 3 samples of each item or material to Engineer for acceptance at no additional cost to Owner.
- 2. Submit full-size, fully fabricated Samples cured and finished as specified and physically identical with the material or product proposed. Samples include partial sections of manufactured or fabricated components, cuts or containers of materials, color range sets, and swatches showing color, texture, and pattern.
- 3. Submit samples for acceptance, a minimum of 21 days prior to ordering such material for delivery to the jobsite. Submit in an orderly sequence so that dependent materials or equipment can be assembled and reviewed without causing delays in the Work.
- 4. Transmit a submittal as a single PDF document with list of samples.
- 5. Individually and indelibly label and tag all samples to indicate all specified physical characteristics and Manufacturer's name for identification. Upon receiving acceptance by Engineer, one set of the samples will be stamped, dated, and returned. One set of samples will be retained by Engineer, and one set of samples will remain at the Project site until completion of the Work.
- 6. Unless indicated otherwise, all colors and textures of specified items presented in sample submittals shall be from the manufacturer's standard colors and standard materials, products, or equipment lines. If the samples represent non-standard colors, materials, products, or equipment lines and their selection will require an increase in Contract time or Price, clearly indicate this information in the submittal.

C. Shop Drawings

1. Wherever called for in the Contract Documents, or where required by Engineer, transmit an electronic Shop Drawing Submittal to Engineer for review. Whenever required to submit design calculations as part of a Submittal, such calculations shall bear the signature and seal of a professional engineer registered in the appropriate discipline in the state of Utah unless otherwise directed.

2. Organization

a. Prepare a single shop drawing submittal for each item or class of material or equipment for which submittal is required. At a minimum, separate submittals are required for different Specification Sections except as follows. A single submittal covering multiple sections will not be accepted unless the primary specification references other sections for components. Example: If a pump section references other sections for the motor, protective coating, anchor bolts, local control panel, and variable frequency drive, a single submittal would be accepted; a single submittal covering vertical turbine pumps and horizontal split case pumps would not be acceptable.

- b. Index the components for the submittal and reference the specification sections and paragraph numbers for all components in the description field of the electronic submittal. Relate the submittal components to drawing number, detail number, schedule title, or room number and building name, as applicable.
- c. Unless indicated otherwise, terminology and equipment names and numbers used in submittals shall match the Contract Documents.
- d. Engineer will assign a single review action to each submittal, which action shall pertain to every part of the submittal as a whole.
- e. Disorganized submittals, which do not meet the requirements specified herein will be returned without review.

3. Format

- a. Assemble submittals into a single PDF file for each transmittal. Except for templates, patterns, and similar full-size Drawings, submit Shop Drawings on PDF sheets at least 8-1/2" x 11" and no larger than 36" X 48"
- b. Where product data from a manufacturer is submitted, clearly mark which model is proposed, with all pertinent data, capacities, dimensions, clearances, diagrams, controls, connections, anchorage, and supports. Present sufficient level of detail for assessment of compliance with the Contract Documents.
- c. Assign each Submittal a unique number, including the specification section under which it is submitted. Number all submittals sequentially within the applicable specification section. Original submittals will be assigned a numeric submittal number. Resubmittals shall be numbered with a revision number in addition to the original submittal number.

D. Engineer's Action

- 1. If submittal is returned to Contractor marked "NO ACTION TAKEN", indicating that the submittal has been received and is being retained for record-keeping purposes. Formal revision and resubmission of said submittal will not be required.
- 2. If submittal is returned to Contractor marked "NO EXCEPTIONS TAKEN", formal revision and resubmission of said Submittal will not be required and construction may proceed.
- 3. If submittal is returned to the Contractor marked "MAKE CORRECTIONS NOTED", formal revision and resubmission of said submittal will not be required but construction must proceed according to the review comments included with the submittal.
- 4. If submittal is returned marked "REVISE AND RESUBMIT", revise said submittal and resubmit. Construction may not proceed.
- 5. If submittal is returned marked "REJECTED-RESUBMIT", revise said submittal and resubmit. Construction may not proceed.
- 6. Resubmittal of portions of multi-page or multi-drawing submittals will not be allowed. For example, if a Shop Drawing Submittal that consists of ten drawings contains only one drawing that needs to be amended and resubmitted, the submittal as a whole is deemed as "REVISE AND RESUBMIT", and all ten drawings included in the submittal are required to be resubmitted.
- 7. On resubmittals, flag any changes made, other than those made or requested by Owner or Engineer.

- E. Commence fabrication of an item only after Engineer has reviewed the pertinent submittals and Engineer has assigned action as either "NO EXCEPTIONS TAKEN" or "MAKE CORRECTIONS NOTED". Corrections indicated on submittals are considered as changes necessary to meet the requirements of the Contract Documents and shall not be taken as the basis for changes to the Contract requirements.
- F. Owner's and/or Engineer's review of shop drawing submittals does not relieve Contractor of the responsibility for correctness of details and dimensions and for compliance with the Contract Documents. Assume responsibility and risk for misfits due to errors in submittals. Be responsible for dimensions and design of adequate connections and details.
- G. Deferred Design Submittals: Items noted on the Contract Documents as "Deferred Submittals" must be submitted to Engineer, who will review them and forward them to the building official with a notation indicating that the deferred submittal documents have been reviewed and found to be in general conformance with the design of the Project. Do not install Deferred Submittal items until the deferred submittal documents have been approved by the permitting agency.
- H. Test and Evaluation Reports: Submit technical data, test reports, calculations, surveys, and certifications based on field tests and inspections by independent inspection and testing agency and by authorities having jurisdiction.
 - 1. Reports of results of inspections and tests will not be considered Contract Documents.
 - 2. Refer to Section 01 45 00 Quality Control for additional requirements.

1.6 PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE SUBMITTALS

- A. At the preconstruction conference referred to in Section 01 11 00 Summary of Work, submit the following items to Engineer for review:
 - 1. A preliminary schedule of Shop Drawings, Samples, and proposed Substitute ("Or-Equal") submittals listed in the Bid.
 - 2. A list of all permits and licenses to be obtained, indicating the agency required to grant the permit, the expected date of submittal for the permit, and required date for receipt of the permit.
 - 3. A preliminary Schedule of Values in accordance with Section 01 29 73 Schedule of Values.
 - 4. A preliminary Construction Project Schedule in accordance with requirements of Section 01 32 16 Construction Progress Schedule.
 - 5. The name and qualifications of the Designated Safety Representative in accordance with requirements of Section 01 31 30 Safety.

1.7 SITE CONDITION SURVEYS

A. Submit the site conditions survey data as required in Section 01 71 30 – Site Conditions Surveys.

1.8 CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS REPORTS

A. Transmit a progress report to Engineer with each Application for Payment. If the Work falls behind schedule, submit additional progress reports at such intervals as Engineer may request.

- B. In each progress report, include sufficient narrative to describe any current and anticipated delaying factors, effect on the construction schedule, and proposed corrective actions. Any Work reported complete, but which is not readily apparent to Engineer, must be substantiated with satisfactory evidence.
- C. In each progress report, include a list of the activities completed with their actual start and completion dates, a list of the activities currently in progress, and the number of working days required to complete each.

1.9 SURVEY DATA

A. Make available for examination throughout the construction period, all field books, notes, and other data developed while performing the surveys required by the Work and submit all such data to Engineer with documentation required for final acceptance of the Work.

1.10 UTILITY INVESTIGATION

A. Transmit the findings of the utility investigation in accordance with Section 01 71 50 – Protection and Restoration of Existing Facilities.

1.11 QUALITY ASSURANCE/QUALITY CONTROL PLAN

A. Prepare and submit a Quality Assurance/Quality Control Plan for the Work contained in the Contract in accordance with Section 01 41 10 – Quality Control.

1.12 CONTRACTOR DAILY REPORT

- A. Submit to Engineer, or designee, a daily report. Upload report not later than 9:00 A.M. of the workday following the report date and include the following:
 - 1. Day of week, date, Contractor name and Report number.
 - 2. Summary of work in process (segregated by Contractor and Subcontractor).
 - 3. Details of work accomplished including quantities of Work installed.
 - 4. Summary of equipment working and where working.
 - 5. Summary of manpower by work element and Subcontractor.
 - 6. Receipt of major equipment or materials.
 - 7. All required testing performed and, if available, documented results.
 - 8. Notification of percent of Work delayed by abnormal weather conditions.
 - 9. Notification of percent of Work delayed by other utility conflicts or conditions.

1.13 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS

A. Operation and Maintenance Manual

- 1. Submit technical operation and maintenance information for each item of mechanical, electrical and instrumentation equipment in an organized manner in the *Operations and Maintenance Manual*, written so that it can be used and understood by the Owner's operation and maintenance staff.
- 2. Furnish initial submittal of the *Operations and Maintenance Manual* to Engineer upon delivery of the respective equipment.

- 3. Subdivide the *Operations and Maintenance Manual* first by Specification Section number; second, by equipment item; and last, by "Part." Conform "Parts" to the following (as applicable):
 - a. Part 1 Equipment Summary:
 - 1) Summary: In a summary table, indicate the equipment name, equipment number, and process area in which the equipment is installed.
 - 2) Form: Furnish an Equipment Summary Form for each item of mechanical, electrical and instrumentation equipment in the Work. Fill in the relevant information on the form and include it in Part 1.
 - b. Part 2 Operational Procedures:
 - 1) Procedures: Include manufacturer-recommended procedures on the following in Part 2:
 - a) Installation
 - b) Adjustment
 - c) Startup
 - d) Location of controls, special tools, equipment required, or related instrumentation needed for operation
 - e) Operation procedures
 - f) Load changes
 - g) Calibration
 - h) Shutdown
 - i) Troubleshooting
 - j) Disassembly
 - k) Reassembly
 - l) Realignment
 - m) Testing to determine performance efficiency
 - n) Tabulation of proper settings for all pressure relief valves, low and high-pressure switches, and other protection devices
 - o) List of all electrical relay settings including alarm and contact settings
 - p) Lubrication.
 - c. Part 3 Preventive Maintenance Procedures:
 - 1) Procedures: Preventive maintenance procedures shall include all manufacturer-recommended procedures to be performed on a periodic basis, both by removing and replacing the equipment or component, and by leaving the equipment in place.
 - 2) Schedules: Include recommended frequency of preventive maintenance procedures. Cover lubrication schedules, including lubricant SAE grade, type, and temperature ranges.
 - d. Part 4 Parts List:
 - 1) Parts List: Furnish a complete parts list, including a generic description and manufacturer's identification number for each part. Include addresses and telephone numbers of the nearest supplier and parts warehouse.
 - 2) Drawings: Include cross-sectional or exploded view drawings with the parts list.
 - e. Part 5 Wiring Diagrams:

- 1) Diagrams: In this part, include complete internal and connection wiring diagrams for electrical equipment items.
- f. Part 6 Shop Drawings:
 - 1) Drawings: In this part, include approved shop or fabrication drawings, complete with dimensions.
- g. Part 7 Safety:
 - 1) Procedures: This part describes the safety precautions to be taken when operating and maintaining the equipment or working near it.
- h. Part 8 Documentation:
 - 1) Place all equipment warranties, affidavits, and certifications required by the Technical Specifications in this part.
- 4. Transmit to Engineer, one copy of the *Operations and Maintenance Manual* in digital format. In addition to the digital copy, furnish Engineer with four identical hard copies of the *Operations and Maintenance Manual*. Each set shall consist of one or more volumes, each of which shall be bound in a standard size, 3-ring, loose-leaf, vinyl plastic hard cover binder suitable for bookshelf storage. Binder ring size shall not exceed 2.5 inches. Prepare a table of contents indicating all equipment in the manuals. Display the title of each volume on the cover and spine.
- 5. Submit *Operations and Maintenance Manuals* in final form, not later than the 75 percent of construction completion date. Correct all discrepancies found by Owner or Engineer in the *Operations and Maintenance Manual* within 30 days from the date of written notification.
- 6. Incomplete or unacceptable *Operations and Maintenance Manuals* at the 75 percent construction completion point constitute sufficient justification to withhold the amount stipulated in paragraph "*Operations and Maintenance Manual* Submittals" of Section 01 70 10 Project Closeout, from any monies due.

B. Certificates

- 1. When specified in individual specification sections, submit manufacturers' certificates to Engineer for review as specified.
- 2. Submit in form of letter or company standard forms, signed by officer of manufacturer.
- 3. Include the following with each certification
 - a. Project name and location.
 - b. Contractor's name and address.
 - c. Quantity and date or dates of shipment or delivery to which certificate applies.
 - d. Manufacturer's name.
 - e. Indicate material or product conforms to or exceeds specified requirements. Submit supporting reference data, affidavits, and certifications as appropriate.
 - f. Certificates may be recent or previous test results on material or product, but must be acceptable to Engineer.

C. Record Documents

1. Prepare and maintain one set of record documents at the Project Site per the requirements of Section 01 78 39 – Project Record Documents. Submit to Engineer at close of Project.

1.14 MAINTENANCE MATERIAL SUBMITTALS

A. Spare Parts: Submit list of spare parts information for all mechanical, electrical, and instrumentation equipment. Include the current list price of each spare part. Limit the spare parts list to those spare parts which each manufacturer recommends be maintained by Owner in inventory at the plant site. Each manufacturer or supplier shall indicate the name, address, and telephone number of its nearest outlet of spare parts to facilitate Owner in ordering. Cross-reference all spare parts lists to the equipment numbers designated in the Contract Documents. In addition to electronic submittal, bind the spare parts lists in standard size, 3-ring, loose-leaf, vinyl plastic hard cover binders suitable for bookshelf storage. Binder ring size not to exceed 2.5 inches.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION (NOT USED)

SECTION 01 41 26 PERMITS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

- A. Obtain permits required for the execution of Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Provide copies of these permits to Owner.
- B. The intent of this Section is to furnish the known list of required permits for the Work under the Contract Documents. Owner does not guarantee that this list is complete. Be responsible for determining and verifying the extent of all permits required and for obtaining such permits.
- C. In the Bid Price, include costs for obtaining all necessary permits, including application fees and other costs, and the costs of complying with the conditions of all permits. Any fees listed in this section are estimates and are for information only. Verify and pay all actual fees.
- D. Within 30 Days of the Limited Notice to Proceed, submit a list of all permits and licenses to be obtained, indicating the agency required to grant the permit, the expected date of submittal for the permit, and required date for receipt of the permit.

1.2 SUMMARY OF PERMITS TO BE OBTAINED BY CONTRACTOR

- A. Obtain the following permits. Submit copies of these permits to Engineer and maintain copies on-site. Comply with all conditions of the permits.
 - 1. Utah Occupational Safety and Health Administration:
 - a. Construction Permit: Covers worker safety and health for all project features.
 - 2. Utah Department of Environmental Quality, Division of Water Quality:
 - a. UPDES General Permit for Construction Dewatering/Hydrostatic Testing of Pipelines: Covers discharge waters associated with dewatering operations and hydrostatic testing of pipelines.
 - 1) Agency: Utah Department of Environmental Quality, Division of Drinking Water
 - 2) Contact Person: Harry Campbell
 - 3) Telephone No.: (801) 538-6923
 - 4) Email: hcampbell@utah.gov
 - b. Notification of Chlorinated Water Discharge: This notification provides 30 days notice prior to disinfection of pipeline and discharge of pipeline and discharge of chlorinated water.
 - 3. Utah Division of Environmental Protection, Bureau of Water Pollution Control
 - a. Temporary Groundwater Discharge Permit is necessary if groundwater is present.
 - 4. Utah Division of Environmental Protection, General Storm Water Permit for Construction Activities:
 - a. As a condition of contract award, sign a certification of agreement to comply with the terms and conditions of the permit. Permit not required if area of disturbance is less than one acre.

- b. Agency and Contact Person:
 - 1) Agency: Utah Department of Environmental Quality, Division of Drinking Water
 - 2) Contact Person: Tom Rushing
 - 3) Address: 288 North 1460 West (Cannon Building) 3rd Floor, PO Box 144870, Salt Lake City, Utah 84114-4870
 - 4) Telephone No.: (801) 538-6951
 - 5) Email: trushing@utah.gov
- 5. Utah State Division of Health:
 - a. Letter of Approval to Construct: Letter and Certificate are required for construction and operations of a water supply system.
- 6. Summit County
 - a. Building and Grading Permit: Permit is for construction in unincorporated Summit County.
 - 1) Agency: Utah County
 - 2) Contact: Planning and Zoning
 - 3) Address: 51 South University Avenue Suite 117 Provo, Utah 84601
 - 4) Telephone No. 801-851-8342
- 1.3 SUMMARY OF PERMITS OBTAINED BY OWNER
- A. The following permits have been or will be obtained by Owner for this Project. Verify and comply with conditions of said permits.
 - 1) None

SECTION 01 42 19 REFERENCE STANDARDS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SUMMARY

- A. Titles of Sections and Paragraphs: Captions accompanying Specification Sections and Paragraphs are for convenience of reference only, and do not form a part of the Specifications.
- B. Applicable Publications: Whenever in these Specifications, references are made to published specifications, codes, standards, or other requirements, it shall be understood that wherever no date is specified, only the latest specifications, standards, or requirements of the respective issuing agencies, which have been published as of the date that the Work is advertised for bids, shall apply; except to the extent that said standards or requirements may be in conflict with applicable laws, ordinances, or governing codes. No requirements set forth herein or shown on the Drawings shall be waived because of any provision of, or omission from, said standards or requirements.
- C. Specialists, Assignments: In certain instances, Specification text requires (or implies) that specific Work is to be assigned to specialists or expert entities, who must be engaged for the performance of that Work. Such assignments shall be recognized as special requirements with no choice or option. These requirements shall not be interpreted so as to conflict with the enforcement of building codes and similar regulations governing the Work; also they are not intended to interfere with local union jurisdiction settlements and similar conventions. Such assignments are intended to establish which party or entity involved in a specific unit of Work is recognized as "expert" for the indicated construction processes or operations. Nevertheless, accept the final responsibility for fulfillment of the entire set of contract requirements.

1.2 REFERENCE SPECIFICATIONS, CODES, AND STANDARDS

- A. Without limiting the generality of other requirements of the Specifications, all Work specified herein shall conform to or exceed the requirements of applicable codes and the applicable requirements of the following documents.
- B. References herein to "Building Code", "Plumbing Code", "Mechanical Code", "Fuel Gas Code", or "Fire Code" shall mean the latest adopted version of the International Building Code (IBC), the International Plumbing Code (IFC), the International Mechanical Code (IMC), the International Fuel Gas Code (IFGC), and the International Fire Code (IFC) as published by the International Code Council (ICC). Similarly, references to the "Uniform Mechanical Code" or the "Uniform Plumbing Code" shall mean the Uniform Mechanical Code or the Uniform Plumbing Code as published by the International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials (IAPMO) References to the "Electric Code" or "National Electric Code (NEC)" shall mean the National Electric Code of the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA). The latest edition of any "building" code as approved by the Municipal Code and adopted by the authority having jurisdiction, shall apply to the Work herein, including all addenda, modifications, amendments, or other lawful changes thereto.

- C. In case of conflict between codes, reference standards, Drawings and the other Contract Documents, the most stringent requirements shall govern. Bring all conflicts to the attention of Engineer for clarification and directions prior to ordering or providing any materials or furnishing labor. Bid the most stringent requirements.
- D. Construct the Work indicated herein in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents and the referenced portions of those referenced codes, standards, and specifications listed herein.
- E. Applicable Standard Specifications: References in the Contract Documents to the "Standard Specifications" shall mean the *Manual of Standard Specifications* (APWA), latest version.
- F. References herein to "OSHA Regulations for Construction" shall mean *Title 29, Part 1926, Construction Safety and Health Regulations*, Code of Federal Regulations (OSHA), including all changes and amendments thereto.
- G. References herein to "OSHA Standards" shall mean *Title 29, Part 1910, Occupational Safety and Health Standards*, Code of Federal Regulations (OSHA), including all changes and amendments thereto.
- H. References herein to "UDOT Standards" shall mean *Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction*.
- I. References herein to "MSHA Standards" shall mean *Mine Safety and Health Administration Standards*, latest version.
- 1.3 REGULATIONS RELATED TO HAZARDOUS MATERIALS
- A. Be responsible that all Work included in the Contract Documents, regardless if shown or not, complies with all EPA, OSHA, RCRA, NFPA, and any other Federal, State, and Local Regulations governing the storage and conveyance of hazardous materials, including petroleum products.
- B. Where no specific regulations exist, all chemical, hazardous, and petroleum product piping and storage in underground locations must be installed with double containment piping and tanks, or in separate concrete trenches and vaults, or with an approved lining which cannot be penetrated by the chemicals, unless waived in writing by Owner.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION (NOT USED)

SECTION 01 45 00 QUALITY CONTROL

PART 1 - GENERAL

- 1.1 SUMMARY
- A. The requirements of this Section apply to, and are a component part of, each Section of the Specifications.
- 1.2 REFERENCES
- A. ASTM International (ASTM) standards, most recent editions:

ASTM C1077	Standard Practice for A	Agencies Testing	Concrete and Concrete

Aggregates for Use in Construction and Criteria for Testing

Agency Evaluation

ASTM D3740 Standard Practice for Minimum Requirements for Agencies

Engaged in Testing and/or Inspection of Soil and Rock as Used

in Engineering Design and Construction

ASTM D3666 Standard Specification for Minimum Requirements for

Agencies Testing and Inspecting Road and Paving Materials

1.3 SUBMITTALS

- A. Submit in accordance with Section 01 33 20 Contractor Submittals.
- B. Submit Quality Control Plan.
- C. Submit credentials for field Quality Control Representative showing experience acceptable to Engineer.
- D. Submit credentials for testing laboratory showing compliance with Specifications and acceptable to Engineer.
- E. Submit results of testing as specified below.
- 1.4 SITE INVESTIGATION AND CONTROL
- A. Check and verify all dimensions and conditions in the field continuously during construction. Be solely responsible for any inaccuracies built into the Work due to Contractor's (including Subcontractor's) failure to comply with this requirement.
- B. Inspect related and appurtenant Work and report in writing to Engineer, any conditions which will prevent proper completion of the Work. Failure to report any such conditions constitutes acceptance of all Site conditions. Required removal, repair, or replacement caused by unsuitable conditions shall be performed at no additional cost to Owner.

1.5 INSPECTION OF THE WORK

- A. Inspect all Work performed by the both Contractor and Subcontractors. Nonconforming Work and any safety hazards in the work area shall be noted and promptly corrected. Be responsible for the Work to be performed safely and in conformance with the Contract Documents.
- B. The Work shall be conducted under the general observation of Engineer and is subject to inspection by representatives of Owner acting on behalf of Owner to ensure strict compliance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. Such inspection may include mill, plant, shop, or field inspection, as required. Owner, Engineer, or any inspector(s) shall be permitted access to all parts of the Work, including plants where materials or equipment are manufactured or fabricated.
- C. The presence of Engineer, or any inspector(s), shall not relieve Contractor of responsibility for the proper execution of the Work in accordance with all requirements of the Contract Documents. Compliance is the responsibility of Contractor. No act or omission on the part of Engineer, or any inspector(s) shall be construed as relieving Contractor of this responsibility. Inspection of Work later determined to be nonconforming shall not be cause or excuse for acceptance of the nonconforming Work. Owner may accept nonconforming Work when adequate compensation is offered and it is in Owner's best interest as determined solely by Owner.
- D. All materials and articles furnished shall be subject to rigid documented inspection by qualified personnel. No materials or articles shall be used in the Work until they have been inspected and accepted by Contractor's Quality Control Representative and Engineer or other designated representative. No Work shall be backfilled, buried, cast in concrete, covered, or otherwise hidden until it has been inspected. Any Work covered in the absence of inspection shall be subject to uncovering. Where uninspected Work cannot be easily uncovered, such as in concrete cast over reinforcing steel, all such Work shall be subject to demolition, removal, and reconstruction under proper inspection.
- E. All Owner furnished materials and articles shall be subject to rigid inspection by Contractor's Quality Control Representative before being used or placed in the Work. Inform Engineer, in writing, of the results of said inspections within one working day after completion of inspection. In the event that any material or articles provided by Owner are considered to be of insufficient quality for use in the Work, immediately notify Engineer.

1.6 TIME OF INSPECTION AND TESTS

- A. Furnish and prepare samples and test specimens required under these Specifications and for testing in ample time for the completion of the necessary tests and analyses before said articles or materials are to be used. Furnish and prepare all required test specimens without additional expense to Owner. As provided in the Contract Documents, performance of certain tests will be by Owner, and all costs therefore will be borne by Owner, except that the costs of any test, which shows unsatisfactory results shall be back charged to Contractor.
- B. Notify Engineer at least three Work Days before being ready to backfill, bury, cast in concrete, hide, or otherwise cover any Work under this Contract and request inspection before

beginning any such Work of covering. Failure to notify Engineer at least three Work Days in advance of any such inspections shall be reasonable cause for Engineer to order a sufficient delay in scheduled operations to allow time for such inspection. Be responsible for costs of any remedial or corrective work required, and all costs of such delays, including its impact on other portions of the Work.

1.7 SAMPLING AND TESTING

- A. Unless otherwise specified, all sampling and testing shall be in accordance with the methods prescribed in the current standards of the ASTM, as applicable to the class and nature of the article or materials considered. However, Engineer reserves the right to use any generally-accepted system of inspection which, in the opinion of Engineer, will ensure Engineer that the quality of the workmanship is in full accord with the Contract Documents.
- B. Owner reserves the right to waive tests or quality control measures. However, waiver of any specific testing or other quality control measure, whether or not such waiver is accompanied by a guarantee of substantial performance as a relief from the specified testing or other quality control requirements as originally specified, and whether or not such guarantee is accompanied by a performance bond to assure execution of any necessary corrective or remedial work, shall not be construed as a waiver of any technical or qualitative requirements of the Contract Documents.
- C. Notwithstanding the existence of such waiver, Owner reserves the right to make independent investigations and tests as specified in the following paragraph and failure of any portion of the Work to meet qualitative requirements of the Contract Documents shall be reasonable cause for Owner to require the removal or correction and reconstruction of any such Work.
- D. In addition to any other inspection or quality control provisions that may be specified, Owner reserves the right to independently select, test, and analyze, at the expense of Owner, additional test specimens of any or all of the materials to be used. Results of such additional tests and analyses shall be considered along with the tests or analyses made by the Contractor to determine compliance with the applicable specifications for the materials so tested or analyzed provided that wherever any portion of the Work is discovered, as a result of such independent testing or investigation by Engineer, which fails to meet the requirements of the Contract Documents, all costs of such independent inspection and investigation and all costs of removal, correction, reconstruction, or repair of any such Work shall be borne by Contractor.

1.8 RIGHT OF REJECTION

A. Engineer or designated representative, acting for Owner, reserves the right at all times and places to reject any articles or materials furnished hereunder which, in any respect, fail to meet the requirements of the Contract Documents, regardless of whether the defects in such articles or materials are detected at the point of manufacture or after completion of the Work at the Site. If Engineer or designated representative, through an oversight or otherwise, has accepted materials or Work which are defective or in any way contrary to the Contract Documents, such materials, no matter in what stage or condition of manufacture, delivery, or erection, may be rejected.

- B. Promptly remove or replace rejected articles or materials from the Site of the Work after notification of rejection.
- C. Bear all costs of removal and replacement of rejected articles or materials.
- D. Failure to promptly remove and replace rejected Work shall be considered a breach of this Contract and Owner may, after 7 days' notice, terminate Contractor's right to proceed with the affected Work and remove and replace the Work and issue a backcharge to cover the cost of the Work.

1.9 QUALITY CONTROL REQUIREMENTS

- A. Establish and execute a Quality Control program for the services, which are being provided. The program shall provide adequate measures for verification and conformance to defined requirements of all personnel, including lower-tier subcontractors (including fabricators, suppliers, and sub-subcontractors). Prepare and submit a plan responsive to this Section for review by Engineer.
- B. Furnish Engineer with a project specific Quality Control Plan. The plan shall contain a comprehensive account of quality control procedures applicable to this Project. The detailed requirements for this Plan are delineated in the following paragraphs. No progress payments will be made until the Quality Control Plan is fully accepted by Engineer.
- C. Using the Quality Control Plan, describe and define the personnel requirements described herein. Provide personnel with assigned quality control functions reporting to a field Quality Control Representative. The field Quality Control Representative shall report to a senior manager of Contractor and shall not have supervisory or managerial responsibility over the work force. Persons performing quality control functions shall have sufficient qualifications, authority, and organizational freedom to identify quality problems and to initiate and recommend solutions. Contractor's Quality Control representative(s) shall be on-site as often as necessary (but not less than the daily hours specified in the Contract Documents) to remedy and demonstrate that Work is being performed properly and to make multiple observations of all Work in progress. The Quality Control Plan shall include a statement by the senior manager designating the Quality Control Representative and specifying authorities delegated to the Quality Control Representative to direct cessation or removal and replacement of defective Work.
- D. The Quality Control Plan shall ensure the achievement of adequate quality throughout all applicable areas of the contract. In the Quality Control Plan, describe the program and include procedures, work instructions and records. In addition, describe methods relating to areas that require special testing and procedures as noted in the Specifications.
- E. Identification and Control of Items and Materials: Describe procedures in the Quality Control Plan to ensure that items or materials that have been accepted at the site are properly used and installed. Provide procedures for proper identification and storage, and to prevent the use of incorrect or defective materials.
- F. Inspection and Tests: Provide written procedures defining a program for control of inspections performed. These procedures shall be described in the Quality Control Plan.

- 1. Inspections and tests shall be performed and documented by qualified individuals. At a minimum, "qualified" shall mean having performed similar quality control functions on similar type projects. Records of personnel experience, training and qualifications shall be maintained and made available for review by Engineer upon request.
- 2. Maintain and provide to Engineer, within two working days of completion of each inspection and test, adequate records of all such inspections and tests. Inspection and test results shall be documented and evaluated to ensure that requirements have been satisfied.
- 3. Procedures shall include:
 - a. Specific instructions defining procedures for observing all Work in process and comparing this Work with the Contract requirements (organized by specification section).
 - b. Maintaining and providing Daily Inspection Reports. Such reports shall, at a minimum, include the following:
 - 1) Item(s) inspected
 - 2) Quality characteristics in compliance
 - 3) Quality characteristics not in compliance
 - 4) Corrective/remedial actions taken
 - 5) Statement of certification
 - 6) QC Manager's signature
 - c. Specific instructions for recording all observations and requirements for demonstrating through the reports that the Work observed was in compliance or a deficiency was noted and action to be taken.
 - d. Procedures to preclude the covering of deficient or rejected Work.
 - e. Procedures for halting or rejecting Work.
 - f. Procedures for resolution of differences between the Quality Control Representative(s) and the production representative(s).
- 4. The Quality Control Plan shall identify all contractual hold/inspection points as well as any Contractor imposed hold/inspections points.
- 5. The Quality Control Plan shall include procedures to provide verification and control of all testing provided, including:
 - a. Maintaining and providing to Engineer Daily Testing Records. Such records shall, at a minimum, contain the following:
 - 1) Item(s) tested
 - 2) Quality characteristics in compliance
 - 3) Statement of correctness & certification
 - 4) Quality characteristics not in compliance
 - 5) Corrective/remedial actions taken
 - 6) QC Manager's signature
 - b. Individual test records will contain the following information:
 - 1) Item tested –item number and description
 - 2) Test results
 - 3) Test designation
 - 4) Test work sheet including location sample was obtained
 - 5) Acceptance or rejection
 - 6) Date sample was obtained
 - 7) Retest information, if applicable
 - 8) Control requirements
 - 9) Tester signature

- 10) Testing QC staff initials
- c. Providing for location maps for all tests performed or location of Work covered by the tests.
- d. Maintaining copies of all test results.
- e. Ensuring Engineer receives independent copy of all tests.
- f. Ensuring testing lab(s) are functioning independently and in accordance with the specifications.
- g. Ensuring re-tests are properly taken and documented.
- G. Control of Measuring and Test Equipment: Measuring and/or testing instruments shall be adequately maintained, calibrated, and adjusted to maintain accuracy within prescribed limits. Perform calibration at specified periods against valid standards traceable to nationally recognized standards and documented.
- H. Supplier Quality Assurance: The Quality Control Plan shall include procedures to ensure that procured products and services conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents. Requirements of these procedures shall be applied, as appropriate, to lower-tier suppliers and/or Subcontractors.
- I. Deficient and Nonconforming Work and Corrective Action: The Quality Control Plan shall include procedures for handling of deficiencies and non-conformances. Deficiencies and non-conformances are defined as documentation, drawings, material, equipment, and Work not conforming to the specified requirements or procedures. The procedure shall prevent non-conformances by identification, documentation, evaluation, separation, disposition and corrective action to prevent recurrence. Conditions having adverse effects on quality shall be promptly identified and reported to the senior level management. The cause of conditions adverse to quality shall be determined and documented and measures implemented to prevent recurrence. In addition, at a minimum, this procedure shall address:
 - 1. Personnel responsible for identifying deficient and non-complying items within the work.
 - 2. How and by whom deficient and non-compliant items are documented "in the field".
 - 3. The personnel and process utilized for logging deficient and non-compliant work at the end of each day onto a Deficiency Log.
 - 4. Tracking processes and tracking documentation for deficient and non-compliant items.
 - 5. Personnel responsible for achieving resolution of outstanding deficiencies.
 - 6. Once resolved, how are the resolutions documented and by whom.
- J. Special Processes and Personnel Qualifications
 - 1. The Quality Control Plan shall include detailed procedures for the performance and control of special process (e.g. welding, soldering, heat treating, cleaning, plating, nondestructive examination, etc.).
 - 2. Personnel performing special process tasks shall have the experience, training and certifications commensurate with the scope, complexity, or nature of the activity. They shall be approved by Engineer before the start of Work on the Project.
- K. Audits: The Quality Control Plan shall provide for documented audits to verify that quality control procedures are being fully implemented by Contractor as well as its subcontractors. Audit records shall be made available to Engineer upon request.

- L. Documented Control/Quality Records
 - 1. Establish methods for control of Contract Documents, which describe how Drawings and Specifications are received and distributed to assure the correct issue of the document being used. The methods shall also describe how as-built data are documented and furnished to Engineer.
 - 2. Maintain evidence of activities affecting quality, including operating logs, records of inspections and tests, audit reports, material analyses, personnel qualification and certification records, procedures, and document review records.
 - 3. Quality records shall be maintained in a manner that provides for timely retrieval, and traceability. Quality records shall be protected from deterioration, damage, and destruction.
 - 4. Provide a list with specific records as specified in the Contract Documents, which will be furnished to Engineer at the completion of activities.
- M. Acceptance of Quality Control Plan: Engineer's review and acceptance of the Quality Control Plan shall not relieve Contractor from any of its obligations for the performance of the Work. Contractor's quality control staffing is subject to Engineer's review and continued acceptance. Owner, at its sole option, without cause, may direct Contractor to remove and replace the Quality Control Representative. No Work covered by the Quality Control Plan shall start until Engineer's acceptance of the Quality Control Plan has been obtained.
- N. Engineer may perform independent quality assurance audits to verify that actions specified in the Quality Control Plan have been implemented. No Engineer audit finding or report shall in any way remove any requirements of this Contract.

1.10 TESTING SERVICES

- A. All tests which require the services of a laboratory to determine compliance with the Contract Documents shall be performed by an independent commercial testing firm acceptable to Engineer. The testing firm's laboratory shall be staffed with experienced technicians, properly equipped and fully qualified to perform the tests in accordance with the specified standards.
- B. Independent testing laboratory shall be accredited by the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) for the tests they will perform and as appropriate for the Work being performed. The laboratory shall also be accredited under ASTM C1077, ASTM D3740, and ASTM D3666.
- C. Engineer shall have the right to inspect work performed by the independent testing laboratory both at the project and at the laboratory. This shall include inspection of the independent testing laboratory's internal quality assurance records (quality assurance manual, equipment calibrations, proficiency sample performance, etc.).
- D. Obtain Engineer's acceptance of the testing firm before having services performed. Pay all costs for these testing services.
- E. Testing services provided by Owner, if any, are for the sole benefit of Owner. However, test results shall be available to Contractor. Testing necessary to satisfy Contractor's internal quality control procedures shall be the sole responsibility of Contractor.

- F. Testing Services furnished by Contractor: Unless otherwise specified, and in addition to all other specified testing requirements, provide all testing services in connection with the following materials as required for Engineer's review:
 - 1. Concrete materials and mix designs.
 - 2. Embankment, fill, and backfill materials.
 - 3. Quality control testing of all precast concrete.
 - 4. All other tests and engineering data required for Engineer's review of materials and equipment proposed to be used in the Work.
 - 5. In addition, the following quality control tests shall be performed by Contractor:
 - a. Holiday testing of pipeline coatings.
 - b. Air testing of field-welded joints for steel pipe or pipe cylinders and fabricated specials.
 - c. All testing and inspection of welding work including, but not limited to, welding procedure qualifications, welder operator qualifications, all work performed by the certified welding inspector, all appropriate nondestructive testing of welds and all repair and retest of weld defects.
- G. Testing Services furnished by Owner: Unless otherwise specified, Owner will provide quality control testing services in connection with the following materials and equipment incorporated in the Work;
 - 1. Concrete strength tests.
 - 2. Moisture-density and relative density tests on embankment, fill, and backfill materials.
 - 3. In-place field density test on embankments, fills, and backfill.
 - 4. Other materials and equipment as specified herein.
 - 5. Testing, including sampling, shall be performed by Engineer or testing firm's laboratory personnel, in general manner and frequency indicated in the Specifications.
 - 6. Furnish all sample materials and cooperate in the testing activities, including sampling. Interrupt the Work when necessary to allow testing, including sampling to be performed. There shall be no claim for an increase in Contract Price or Contract Times due to such interruption. When testing activities, including sampling, are performed in the field by the testing firm's laboratory personnel, furnish personnel and facilities to assist in the activities.
 - 7. The testing firm's laboratory shall perform all laboratory tests within a reasonable time consistent with the specified standards and will furnish a written report of each test. Distribution of the reports shall be as directed by Engineer.
- H. Transmittal of Test Reports: Written reports of tests and engineering data furnished for Engineer's review of materials and equipment proposed to be used in the Work shall be submitted per Section 01 33 20 Contractor Submittals.
- I. The testing firm retained for material field testing shall furnish a minimum of five copies of written report of each test. Three copies of each test report will be transmitted to Engineer within three Work Days after each test is completed. Consecutively number each report for each type of test.

J. Testing firm shall furnish one copy of each field and laboratory quality control test to Contractor.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION (NOT USED)

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 01 50 10 SITE ACCESS AND STORAGE

PART 1 - GENERAL

- 1.1 REFERENCES
- A. U.S. Dept. of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) standards.

MUTCD

Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices

- B. U.S. Dept. of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) standards.
 - Subpart G, Part 1926

Safety and Health Standards for Construction

- 1.2 SUBMITTALS
- A. Provide design and engineering calculations for custom temporary bridges or steel plates to be employed.
- B. Submit hazardous materials storage plan.
- C. Submit the EPA issued number for wastes generated at the site.
- 1.3 ROADWAY AND TRAFFIC LIMITATIONS
- A. Investigate the condition of available public and private roads and of clearances, restrictions, bridge load limits, and other limitations affecting transportation and ingress and egress to the site of the Work. Comply with the provisions specified in the Traffic Management Plan. Accept responsibility to construct and maintain any haul roads required for construction operations.
- B. Maintain a maximum speed limit of 25 mph while on the Project Site.
- C. Confine all vehicles to the designated construction area. Cross-country travel is prohibited.
- 1.4 TEMPORARY CROSSINGS
- A. General: Provide continuous, unobstructed, safe, and adequate pedestrian and vehicular access to fire hydrants, commercial and industrial establishments, churches, schools, parking lots, service stations, motels, fire and police stations, and hospitals. Provide safe and adequate public transportation stops and pedestrian crossings at intervals not exceeding 300 fee. Cooperate with parties involved in the delivery of mail and removal of trash and garbage to maintain existing schedules for such services. Maintain vehicular access to residential driveways to the property line except when necessary construction precludes such access for reasonable periods of time.
- B. Temporary Bridges: Wherever necessary, provide suitable temporary bridges or steel plates over unfilled excavations, except where written consent of the individuals or authorities

concerned to omit such temporary bridges or steel plates has been secured. Any such obtained written consent shall be delivered to Engineer prior to excavation. Maintain all such bridges or steel plates in service until access is provided across the backfilled excavation. Temporary bridges or steel plates for street and highway crossing shall conform to the requirements of the authority having jurisdiction in each case. Adopt designs furnished by said authority for such bridges or steel plates, or submit designs to said authority for approval, as may be required. New designs shall be stamped and signed by a professional engineer, licensed to practice in the State which the work is taking place.

- C. Street Use: Nothing herein shall be construed to entitle Contractor to the exclusive use of any public street, alleyway, or parking area during the performance of the Work hereunder. Conduct operations so as not to interfere unnecessarily with the authorized work of utility companies or other agencies in such streets, alleyways, or parking areas. No street shall be closed to the public without first obtaining permission of Engineer and proper governmental authority. Where excavation is being performed in primary streets or highways, maintain one lane in each direction open to traffic at all times unless otherwise indicated. Provide toe boards to retain excavated material if required by Engineer or the agency having jurisdiction over the street or highway. Fire hydrants on or adjacent to the Work shall be kept accessible to fire-fighting equipment at all times. Temporary provisions shall be made to assure the use of sidewalks and the proper functioning of all gutters, storm drain inlets, and other drainage facilities.
- D. Traffic Control: For the protection of traffic in public or private streets and ways, provide, place, and maintain all necessary barricades, traffic cones, warning signs, lights, and other safety devices in accordance with the requirements of the MUTCD, Part VI Traffic Controls for Street and Highway Construction and Maintenance Operations."
- E. Take all necessary precautions for the protection of the Work and the safety of the public. All barricades and obstructions shall be illuminated at night, and all lights shall be kept burning from sunset until sunrise. Station such guards or flaggers and conform to such special safety regulations relating to traffic control as may be required by the public authorities within their respective jurisdictions. All signs, signals, and barricades shall conform to OSHA Safety and Health Standards for Construction.
- F. Temporary Street Closure: If closure of any street is required during construction, apply in writing to the authority having jurisdiction at least 30 days in advance of the required closure for signage and detour requirements.
- G. Temporary Driveway Closure: Notify property owner or occupant (if not owner-occupied) of the closure of the driveways to be closed more than one eight-hour work day at least three working days prior to the closure. Minimize the inconvenience and minimize the time period that the driveways will be closed. Fully explain to the owner/occupant how long the work will take and when closure is to start.

1.5 WORK AND STORAGE AREA

A. Owner will designate as indicated in the Contract Documents, and arrange for the Contractor's use, a portion of the property for use during the term of the Contract as a storage

- and shop area for construction operations on the Work. Provide a plot plan of intended storage/work area use to Engineer.
- B. Make independent arrangements for any necessary off-site storage or shop areas necessary for the proper execution of the Work.
- C. Lands to be furnished by Owner for construction operation and other purposes are indicated. Should it be necessary to use any additional land for staging or for other purposes during the construction of the Work, independently arrange for the use of such lands and pay any required rental or use fees. Unless otherwise shown, specified, or agreed, all sites shall be returned to their original condition or better upon completion of the Work.
- D. Nothing herein shall imply granting an exclusive use of roadways or public and/or private land employed to perform the Work.
- E. Temporary Storage Buildings and Enclosures
 - 1. Provide environmental control systems that meet recommendations of manufacturers of equipment and materials to be stored therein.
 - 2. Arrange and partition to provide security of contents and ready access for inspection and inventory.
- F. Construct and use a separate storage area with adequate spill containment for hazardous materials used in constructing the Work.
 - 1. For the purpose of this paragraph, hazardous materials to be stored in the separate area are all products labeled with any of the following terms: Warning, Caution, Poisonous, Toxic, flammable, Corrosive, Reactive, or Explosive. In addition, whether or not so labeled, the following materials shall be stored in the separate area: diesel fuel, gasoline, new and used motor oil, hydraulic fluid, cement, paints and paint thinners, two-part epoxy coatings, sealants, asphaltic products, glues, solvents, wood preservatives, sand blast materials, and spill absorbent.
 - 2. Hazardous materials shall be stored in groupings according to the Material Safety Data Sheets.
 - 3. Develop and submit to Engineer a plan for storing and disposing of the materials above.
 - 4. The separate storage area shall meet the requirements of authorities having jurisdiction over the storage of hazardous materials.
 - 5. Hazardous materials which are delivered in containers, shall be stored in the original containers until use. Hazardous materials which are delivered in bulk, shall be stored in containers which meet the requirements of authorities having jurisdiction.
 - 6. Obtain and submit to Engineer a single EPA number for wastes generated at the site.
 - 7. The separate storage area shall be inspected by the proper authorities prior to construction of the area, upon completion of construction of the area, and upon cleanup and removal of the area.
- G. In the event machinery and equipment need servicing on site, be responsible to clean environmentally hazardous materials from the site immediately.

- 1.6 PARKING/CONSTRUCTION TRAILER
- A. Employees shall park in areas indicated **or** as directed by Engineer.
- B. Traffic and parking areas shall be maintained in a sound condition, free of excavated material, construction equipment, mud, and construction materials. Repair breaks, potholes, low areas, which collect standing water, and other deficiencies.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION (NOT USED)

SECTION 01 57 19 TEMPORARY ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROLS

PART 1 - GENERAL

- 1.1 EXPLOSIVES AND BLASTING
- A. The use of explosives on the Work will will not be permitted.
- 1.2 DUST ABATEMENT
- A. Furnish all labor, equipment, and methods required to prevent, control, and mitigate fugitive dust from the construction activities. In complying with this requirement, conform to all local requirements in all circumstances. Be responsible for damage resulting from dust generated by its activities. Dust abatement measures shall be continued until Engineer directs otherwise.
 - 1. Unpaved Roads: Apply liquid dust palliative as appropriate for traffic areas as approved by Engineer.
 - 2. All other Non-Paved Work Areas: Apply a liquid dust palliative (soil stabilizer type) derived from natural organic plant sources and containing no growth or germination inhibiting materials as approved by Engineer. Application shall be effective for dust suppression according to applicable County Health District Air Pollution Control Division dust regulations. Do not allow movement of vehicles or storage of materials on treated areas.

1.3 RUBBISH CONTROL

- A. Prepare a trash abatement program and submit to Engineer for review. The program shall include placing all litter, trash, garbage, construction debris, and refuse in scavenger-proof, resealable containers. Trash includes, but is not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, gum wrappers, tissue, cans, paper, and bags. During the progress of the Work, keep the Project Site and other areas used by it in a neat and clean condition, and free from any accumulation of rubbish. Dispose of all rubbish and waste materials of any nature occurring at the Project Site, establish regular intervals of collection and disposal of such materials and waste. Keep haul roads free from dirt, rubbish, and unnecessary obstructions resulting from construction operations. Disposal of all rubbish and surplus materials shall be off the Site in accordance with local codes and ordinances governing locations and methods of disposal, and in conformance with all applicable safety laws, and to the particular requirements of Part 1926 of the OSHA Safety and Health Standards for Construction.
- B. Clean up and properly dispose of any oil, fuel, and other equipment leaks at the time of occurrence. Service and maintenance vehicles shall carry a bucket and pads to absorb leaks and spills. Notify Engineer of any spills or leaks at the time of occurrence.

1.4 SANITATION

A. Toilet Facilities: Provide fixed or portable chemical toilets wherever needed for the use of employees. Toilets at construction job sites shall conform to the requirements of Part 1926 of the OSHA Standards for Construction.

B. Sanitary and Other Organic Wastes: Establish a regular collection of all sanitary and organic wastes. All wastes and refuse from sanitary facilities or organic material wastes from any other source related to the construction operations shall be disposed of away from the Site in a manner satisfactory to Engineer and in accordance with all laws and regulations pertaining thereto.

1.5 CHEMICALS

A. All chemicals used during project construction or furnished for project operation, whether soil sterilant, pesticide, disinfectant, polymer, reactant or of other classification, shall show approval of either the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or the U.S. Department of Agriculture. Use of all such chemicals and disposal of residues shall be in strict accordance with the printed instructions of the manufacturer.

1.6 CULTURAL RESOURCES

- A. Direct attention to the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (16 U.S.C. 470) and 36 CFR 800 and NRS 383.121 which provide for the preservation of potential historical architectural, archaeological, or cultural resources (hereinafter called "cultural resources").
- B. Conform to the applicable requirements of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 and NRS 383.121 as they relate to the preservation of cultural resources.
- C. In the event potential cultural resources are discovered during subsurface excavations at the Site of construction, institute the following procedures:
 - 1. Engineer will issue a Field Order directing the cessation all construction operations at the location of such potential cultural resources find. Mark the area in an appropriate manner to ensure that all construction equipment, activities, and personnel remain clear of the area until further notice.
 - 2. Field Order shall be effective until such time as a qualified archaeologist can be called to assess the value of these potential cultural resources and make recommendations to the State Historic Preservation Office.
- D. If the archaeologist determines that the potential find is a bona fide cultural resource, at the direction of the State Historic Preservation Office, suspend work at the location of the find under the provisions for changes contained in Articles 10, 11, and 12 of the General Conditions.

1.7 AIR QUALITY

- A. Maintain all vehicles and equipment in proper tune.
- B. Use Best Available Control Technology on construction equipment, including a timing retardation.
- C. Use natural-gas powered construction equipment where possible.
- D. Encourage employee car-pooling.

1.8 NOISE

- A. Comply with the hours of work as allowed by the local jurisdiction or land management agency.
- B. Noise limits on construction equipment will comply with the noise limits of the local jurisdiction or land management agency. All construction equipment shall be equipped with manufacturer's standard noise control devices (i.e., mufflers, acoustical lagging, and/or engineer enclosures). Take special care not to throttle the engine excessively and keep engine speed as low as possible. Do not leave the equipment running or idling needlessly, especially when near noise-sensitive land uses. Noise-sensitive land uses include, but are not limited to, residences, schools, hospitals, libraries, retirement and elderly care centers, religious and worship facilities, courts of law, certain noise-sensitive professional offices, and quiet recreational areas such as campgrounds and hiking trails.
- C. Use newer equipment whenever possible. Inspect all construction equipment at periodic intervals to ensure proper maintenance and the presence of noise control devices (i.e., mufflers and shrouding, etc.)
- D. Keep heavy, noisier equipment a minimum of 100 feet away from the property line of any noise-sensitive land use for any length of time. Avoid coming closer than 200 feet if multiple pieces of equipment are operating simultaneously. If such cases are unavoidable, avoid throttling the engine excessively or leaving the equipment running needlessly. Heavy equipment shall be operated in a manner to comply with the jurisdiction's noise ordinance and vibration performance standard. In order to comply with these requirements, it may be necessary to operate heavy equipment only 30 minutes out of each one-hour period at distances closer than 200 feet from an occupied property. During the remaining 30 minutes, the equipment should move further away or be shut down, but may resume 30 minutes later.
- E. Locate stationary noisy equipment away from construction boundaries that are near noise-sensitive uses.
- F. Concrete trucks shall perform initial mixing and other activities that require high revving of the truck engine a minimum of 600 feet from noise-sensitive land uses. Keep engine revolutions per minute as low as possible at closer distances.
- G. Whenever possible, use electric hand tools rather than gas-powered tools.
- H. If operation of dewatering pumps and generators is required between the hours of 6 p.m. and 7 a.m. and within 600 feet of a noise-sensitive land use, they shall be treated with acoustical noise control measures (e.g., mufflers, shrouding, and/or enclosures) so as not to exceed 56 dba at 50 feet or other appropriate requirements of the local jurisdiction.
- I. If requested by the Engineer, install temporary noise barriers for construction activities, including staging areas that occur closer than 100 feet from noise-sensitive land uses. Noise barriers can be made of plywood, heavy vinyl curtain material, natural or temporary earth berms, or stockpiles of construction material.

1.9 CONTROL OF SURFACE WATER

- A. Be advised that portions of the Work site are subject to flooding from surface waters. Many portions of the site are located directly in washes or drainage ways. Other portions of the Work are located outside major drainage ways, but are still subject to minor channelized flows and overland sheet flow during some rainfall events.
- B. Be responsible for protecting the Work and temporary facilities from damage due to flooding, runoff, surface water flows, and related subsurface flows until final Project closeout. Provide protection for all aspects of the Work whether temporary or permanent. Provide all materials and equipment required to protect the Work. No additional payment will be made by Owner for providing protective measures or for any damage resulting from said flows. All damage from said flows shall be completely replaced in accordance with the Contract Documents at no additional cost to Owner.

SECTION 01 71 00 MOBILIZATION

PART 1 - GENERAL

- 1.1 SECTION INCLUDES
- A. Organization and mobilization of the forces.
- B. Transporting construction plant and equipment to the jobsite and setting up of same.
- C. Transporting various tools, materials, and equipment to the jobsite.
- D. Erection of temporary buildings and facilities as required for field offices, staging, storage, and construction operations.
- 1.2 RELATED SECTIONS
- A. Section 01 20 00 Measurement and Payment
- B. Section 01 31 30 Safety and Security Program
- 1.3 PAYMENT FOR MOBILIZATION
- A. Payment for mobilization shall be as described in Section 01 20 00 Measurement and Payment.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION

- 3.1 GENERAL
- A. Mobilization shall include the following principal items:
 - 1. Provide all required insurance certificates and bonds.
 - 2. Move onto the site, or portion of site as available, of all plant and equipment required for first month's operations including office and storage trailers.
 - 3. Install temporary construction power, wiring, and lighting facilities.
 - 4. Develop construction water supply.
 - 5. Provide all on-site communication facilities, including telephones, cordless phone antenna, and radio pagers.
 - 6. Provide on-site sanitary facilities and potable water facilities.
 - 7. Arrange for and erection of work and storage yard.
 - 8. Construct and implement security features and requirements complying with Section 01 31 30 Safety and Security Program.
 - 9. Obtain all required permits.
 - 10. Post all OSHA required notices and establish safety programs.

11. Provide Superintendent at the job site full time.

3.2 SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The following submittals are due by the day indicated and must be approved by Owner as a condition precedent to completion of mobilization.

No.	Submittal	Specification Section
1.	Quality Assurance / Control Plan	01 45 00
2.	Mobilization Plan	01 71 00
3.	Safety Program	01 31 30
4.	Concrete Mix Designs	03 30 00
5.	List of Permits and Licenses	01 41 26
6.	Schedule of Submittals	01 33 20

3.3 MOBILIZATION PLAN

- A. Within 15 Days after receipt of the Notice to Proceed, submit a mobilization plan to Engineer for approval, which shall include a breakdown showing the estimated value of each component of mobilization as described in paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 herein.
- B. Include a bar chart schedule showing each item of mobilization listed in paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 herein and include scheduled start date, finish dates, and total duration. The plan shall also list each activity to be initiated in the first 90 Days following Notice to Proceed, complete, with scheduled start date, finish date, and total duration.

SECTION 01 77 00 CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES

PART 1 - GENERAL

- 1.1 SECTION INCLUDES
- A. Contract closeout, including final cleaning, preparation, and submittal of closeout documents, warranties and bonds, and final completion certification.
- B. Closeout submittals and submittal forms in both hard copy and electronic format.
- 1.2 RELATED SECTIONS
- A. Section 01 45 00 Quality Control.
- B. Section 01 78 39 Project Record Documents
- 1.3 SUBMITTALS
- A. Closeout Documents: Submit the following closeout documents prior to making a written request for Final Completion.
 - 1. Project record drawings and documents per Section 01 78 39 Project Record Documents.
 - 2. Shop drawings.
 - 3. Keys and keying schedule.
 - 4. Post construction survey record documents, where required.
 - 5. Quality Control reports per Section 01 45 00 Quality Control.
 - 6. Final Operation and Maintenance Manuals.
 - 7. Maintenance stock items; spare parts and special tools.
 - 8. Written warranties and bonds where required.
 - 9. Bonds for roofing or maintenance, if indicated.
 - 10. Access Badges and Parking Permits.
 - 11. Release of liens or release of claims forms submitted by all subcontractors and suppliers, if requested by Owner
- B. Evidence of Compliance With Inspections and Other Requirements of Governing Authorities: Submit the following:
 - 1. Special Inspection Reports.
 - 2. Certificate of Occupancy, if applicable.
 - 3. Release from each affected property owner or agency indicating final acceptance.
- C. Operation and Maintenance Manuals
 - One percent of the contract price will be withheld from any monies due as progress payments, if at the 75 percent construction completion point, the approved *Operations and Maintenance Manual* complying with Section 01 33 20- Contractor Submittals has not been submitted. The aforementioned amount will be withheld by Owner as the agreed, estimated value of the approved *Operations and Maintenance Manuals*. Any such retention of money for failure to submit the approved *Operations*

and Maintenance Manuals on or before the 75 percent construction completion point shall be in addition to the retention of any payments due under General Conditions of the Contract.

D. Final Change Order: A final Change Order shall be submitted and processed if required. Final payment and close-out procedures shall comply with requirements of the Contract Documents.

1.4 CLOSEOUT TIMETABLE

A. Establish dates for equipment testing, acceptance periods, and on-site instructional periods as required under the Contract Documents. Such dates shall be established not less than one week prior to beginning any of the required activities, to allow Owner, Engineer, and their authorized representatives sufficient time to schedule attendance at such activities.

1.5 COMPLETION PROCEDURES

- A. When Contractor believes Substantial Completion has been achieved, request in writing to Engineer that Substantial Completion be recognized as having been achieved and request that Owner issue a Certificate of Substantial Completion. Prior to making such request, the following must be complete:
 - 1. Work necessary for the safe, proper, and complete use or operation of the facility as intended.
 - 2. Punch list of items remaining to be completed, for submission with the request for issuance of a Certificate of Substantial Completion.
 - 3. Submit and receive acceptance of accurate record drawings for all work completed to date.
 - 4. Submit and receive acceptance of all specified warranties, bonds, guarantees and operation and *Operations and Maintenance Manuals*.
 - 5. Complete all required vendor training, testing, and where required, start-up.
 - 6. Deliver all required spare parts, maintenance stock items, and special tools.
 - 7. Complete equipment and communications system testing successfully.
- B. Upon receipt of the request, Engineer and designated representatives will review the request, the Work, and the above requirements to determine whether Substantial Completion has been achieved. If this review fails to support Substantial Completion, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing citing the reasons for rejection. If Engineer determines that Substantial Completion has been achieved, the following procedures will be followed:
 - 1. Engineer, his/her representative, and user representatives will review the Work and the punch list to assure all deficiencies are noted on a final punch list.
 - 2. Engineer will schedule and conduct a pre-final walk-through of the facility with representatives of Owner, Engineer, Contractor, and others, for the purpose of formally reviewing the Work, the final punch list, and the readiness of the Work for use. A copy of the final punch list will be furnished to all participants and any additional items noted during the walk-through will be added to the list.
 - 3. Upon completion of the pre-final walk-through, Engineer will prepare a request to Owner establishing the date for Substantial Completion as date of the walk-through, provided the walk-through has verified that the Work is in fact ready for use and

occupancy by Owner for its intended purpose. Upon approval of this request by Owner, the facility will be considered Substantially Complete.

- C. Final Completion will be deemed to have occurred when Work is completed including the following:
 - 1. All final punch list items have been corrected, signed off by Contractor and Engineer, and demonstrated to Owner during a final walk-through.
 - 2. All updates to record drawings, and *Operations and Maintenance Manuals* have been made.
 - 3. Demobilization and site cleanup are complete.
 - 4. Facilities and/or equipment have been properly demonstrated to be functioning as required.
 - 5. Owner has received releases from all parties who are entitled to claims against the subject project, property, or improvement pursuant to the provisions of law.
 - 6. New permanent cylinders and key blanks for all locks have been provided to Owner.

D. Certificate of Final Completion

- 1. When all items have been completed or corrected, submit written documentation to Engineer that the entire Work is complete in accordance with the Contract Documents and request final inspection.
- 2. Upon completion of final inspection by Owner and Engineer, Owner will either prepare a Certificate of Final Completion of the entire Work or advise all parties of Work not satisfactorily complete. If necessary, repair or replacement and inspection procedures will be repeated until Owner accepts the Work and issues a Certificate of Final Completion.
- E. Partial Utilization may be desired at Owner's option, as described in the General Conditions. If Partial Utilization is requested, the same procedure for completion of that portion of the Work as indicated in paragraphs A and B above, will be used.

1.6 CLOSE-OUT PROCEDURE

- A. Engineer and Contractor shall meet and resolve all outstanding issues including, but not limited to:
 - 1. Claims and adjustments for time or costs
 - 2. Outstanding, unused allowances
 - 3. Procedures for handling warranty issues.
- B. A Final Change Order shall be processed if required. Final payment and close out procedures shall comply with all requirements of the Contract Documents.

1.7 MAINTENANCE AND GUARANTEE

- A. Comply with the maintenance and guarantee requirements contained in General Conditions of the Contract.
- B. Replacement of earth fill or backfill, where it has settled below the required finish elevations, shall be considered as a part of such required repair work, and any repair or resurfacing which becomes necessary by reason of such settlement shall likewise be considered as a part of such required repair work unless Contractor has obtained a statement in writing from the

- affected private authority or public agency releasing Owner from further responsibility in connection with such repair or resurfacing. Submit such release(s) to Engineer.
- C. Make all repairs and replacements promptly upon receipt of written order from the Owner. If the Contractor fails to make such repairs or replacements promptly, the Owner reserves the right to do the Work and the Contractor and his surety shall be liable to the Owner for the cost thereof.
- 1.8 BOND
- A. Furnish a Performance Bond as required by General Conditions of the Contract.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1 FINAL CLEANING

- A. Certificate of Final Completion of the Work by Owner will be withheld until requirements for final cleanup of the Project Site are complete as follows:
 - 1. Perform final cleaning prior to inspections for final acceptance.
 - 2. Employ skilled workers who are experienced in cleaning operations.
 - 3. Use cleaning materials that are recommended by manufacturers of surfaces to be cleaned.
 - 4. Avoid scratching, discoloring, and otherwise damaging surfaces being cleaned.
 - 5. Clean roofs.
 - 6. Broom clean and power wash exterior paved surfaces and rake clean other surfaces of sitework. Police yards and grounds to keep clean.
 - 7. Remove dust, cobwebs, and traces of insects and dirt.
 - 8. Clean grease, mastic, adhesives, dust, dirt, stains, fingerprints, paint, blemishes, sealants, plaster, concrete, and other foreign materials from sight-exposed surfaces, fixtures, and Equipment.
 - 9. Remove nonpermanent protection and labels.
 - 10. Polish finish hardware.
 - 11. Wash and shine mirrors.
 - 12. Polish glossy surfaces to clear shine.
 - 13. Clean ducts, blowers, and coils when units were operated without filters during construction.
 - 14. Clean light fixtures and replace burned-out or dim lamps.

3.2 WASTE DISPOSAL

- A. Remove temporary structures and facilities and arrange for and dispose of surplus materials, waste products, and debris as follows:
 - 1. Prior to making disposal on private property, obtain written permission from owner of such private property.
 - 2. Do not fill ditches, washes, or drainage ways which may create drainage problems.
 - 3. Do not create unsightly or unsanitary nuisances during disposal operations.

- 4. Maintain disposal site in safe condition and good appearance.
- 5. Complete leveling and clean-up prior to final acceptance of the Work.

3.3 TOUCH-UP AND REPAIR

- A. Touch up or repair finished surfaces on structures, equipment, fixtures, and installations that have been damaged prior to inspection for final acceptance.
- B. Refinish or replace entire surfaces that cannot be touched-up or repaired satisfactorily.

3.4 DEMOBILIZATION

- A. Demobilization shall include moving plant and equipment, field trailers, construction materials, debris, and so forth from the Site as well as performing final cleanup.
 - 1. Disturbed areas shall be restored to their original state or better.
 - 2. Permanent improvements damaged during construction operations shall be repaired or replaced at no additional cost to Owner.
 - 3. Remove all equipment, materials, waste, and debris from the site and restore site to original condition upon completion of construction.
 - 4. The work area shall be restored to its original or better condition and shall be inspected and approved by Engineer.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK

SECTION 01 78 39 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SUMMARY

- A. Maintain at the Site for Owner, one record copy of the Drawings, Specifications, Operation and Maintenance manuals, coordination drawings, and Shop Drawings that are clearly marked with a red pen to indicate all changes and or revisions resulting from, but not limited to, the following:
 - 1. Actual Project as constructed.
 - 2. Addenda.
 - 3. Change Orders and other modifications.
 - 4. Engineer's instructions.
 - 5. Field revisions.
 - 6. Requests for Information (RFI).
 - 7. All other changes.
- B. Give special attention to recording the horizontal and vertical location of all buried utilities that differ from the locations indicated, or which were not indicated on the Contract Drawings.
- C. Record drawings shall be supplemented by any detailed sketches as necessary or directed to fully indicate the Work, as actually constructed.
- D. Section Includes:
 - 1. Maintenance of Documents and Samples
 - 2. Marking Devices.
 - 3. Recording.
 - 4. Close-out Submittal Delivery.
- 1.2 RELATED SECTIONS
- A. 01 77 00 Project Closeout
- 1.3 MAINTENANCE OF DOCUMENTS AND SAMPLES
- B. Store documents and samples in field office apart from documents used for construction.
- C. Provide files and racks for storage of documents.
- D. Provide locked cabinet or secure storage space for storage of samples.
- E. Maintain documents in clean, dry, legible condition and in good order. Keep record documents separate from those used for construction.
- F. Make documents and samples available at all times for reference by Engineer and Owner.

- G. In the case of those drawings which depict the detail requirement for equipment to be assembled and wired in the factory, such as motor control centers and the like, the record drawings shall be updated by indicating those portions which are superseded by change order drawings or final shop drawings, and by including appropriate reference information describing the change orders by number and the shop drawings by manufacturer, drawing, and revision numbers.
- H. During progress meetings, record documents may be reviewed to ascertain that changes have been recorded.
- I. Updated Drawings, when provided by Engineer, will be substituted for the hand markups provided Contractor prints the applicable Drawings and inserts them into the record set each month.
- J. Copies of the record drawings will be audited regularly by Engineer after the month in which the Notice to Proceed is given as well as on completion of the Work. Failure to properly maintain record drawings in a up-to-date condition may result in the withholding of payments due at the sole discretion of Owner.

1.4 MARKING DEVICES

A. Use a red color pen for recording all information to all documents defined herein.

1.5 RECORDING

- A. Label each document "CONFORMING TO CONSTRUCTION RECORD" in neat large red printed letters.
- B. Record information concurrently with construction progress, at the time the material or equipment is installed. Do not conceal any work until required information is recorded.
- C. Drawings shall be legibly marked to record actual construction per the following:
 - 1. Record actual depths of various elements of foundations in relation to finish first floor datum.
 - 2. Record actual as-built depths, horizontal and vertical location, (at every direction change and a maximum of 100 feet intervals on straight runs), of underground pipes, duct banks, and other buried utilities. Reference horizontal location to Project coordinate system and vertical elevations to Project datum.
 - 3. Identify and record specific details of pipe connections, location of existing buried features and utilities located during excavation, and the final locations of piping, equipment electrical conduits, manholes, and pull boxes (horizontal coordinates and vertical elevation).
 - 4. Identify and record location of spare conduits including beginning, ending, and routing through pull boxes, and manholes. Record spare conductors, including number and size, within spare conduits, and filled conduits.
 - 5. Record actual schedules, lists, layout drawings, and wiring diagrams.
 - 6. Record field changes of dimension and detail.
 - 7. Record changes made by instruction from Engineer or by Change Order.
 - 8. Record details not on original Contract Drawings.

- D. Specifications and Addenda shall be legibly marked to record:
 - 1. Manufacturer, trade name, catalog number, and supplier for each product and item of equipment actually installed.
 - 2. Changes made by instruction from Engineer or by Change Order.
- E. Record potholing data and installation of marker balls.
- F. All surveying for record documents shall be performed by a licensed surveyor.
- 1.6 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS
- A. At Contract closeout, deliver complete record documents to Engineer as required in Section 01 77 00 Project Closeout. Final payment will not be acted upon until the record drawings have been prepared and delivered to Engineer.
- B. The information submitted will be incorporated by Engineer into final drawings to be provided to Owner. Be responsible for the accuracy of submitted construction information. Engineer will assume that the information provided by Contractor is correct and faithfully represents actual construction.
- C. This submittal shall include the record paper set along with 2 CDs. Each CD shall contain .pdf files and .dwg files of each drawing.
- D. Prepare submittal with transmittal letter containing:
 - 1. Date.
 - 2. Project title and number.
 - 3. Contractor's name and address.
 - 4. Title and number of each record as-built document.
 - 5. Signature of Contractor's authorized representative and a statement that certifies that the record documents are accurate and reflect what was actually installed during construction.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION (NOT USED)

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

DIVISION 2 EXISTING CONDITIONS

SECTION 02 41 00 DEMOLITION, SALVAGE, AND RECONSTRUCTION

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SUMMARY

A. The Contractor shall demolish, salvage and reconstruct existing civil, landscaping, structural, and electrical facilities as indicated, in accordance with the Contract Documents.

1.2 COORDINATION

- A. The Contractor shall carefully coordinate the Work in areas where existing facilities are interconnected with new facilities and where existing facilities remain operational. The Work as indicated is not all inclusive, and the Contractor shall be responsible to perform the reconstruction indicated plus that which can be reasonably inferred from the Contract Documents as necessary to complete the Project. The Specifications and Drawings identify the major facilities that shall be demolished and reconstructed, but auxiliary utilities such as water, air, chemicals, drainage, lubrication, fluid power, electrical wiring, controls, and instrumentation are not necessarily shown.
- B. The Contractor shall note that the Drawings used to indicate demolition and reconstruction are based on record drawings of the existing facilities. These record drawings have been reproduced to show existing conditions and to clarify the scope of Work as much as possible. Prior to bidding, the Contractor shall conduct a comprehensive survey at the Site to verify the correctness and exactness of the Drawings, the scope of Work, and the extent of auxiliary utilities. A complete set of record drawings is available for review at the Project site.
- C. While demolition and reconstruction are being performed, the Contractor shall provide adequate access for the continued operation and maintenance of equipment and treatment processes. The Contractor shall erect and maintain fences, warning signs, barricades, and other devices around the reconstruction as required for the protection of the Contractor's employees and the Owner's personnel at the plant. The Contractor shall remove such protection when reconstruction activities are complete, or as work progresses, or when directed by the Engineer.

1.3 CONTRACTOR SUBMITTALS

A. Demolition and reconstruction activities and procedures, including operational sequence, shall be submitted to the Engineer for approval. The procedures shall provide for safe conduct of the Work, careful removal and disposition of materials and equipment, protection of existing facilities which are to remain undisturbed, coordination with existing facilities to remain in service, and timely disconnection and reconnection of utility services. The procedures shall include a detailed description and time schedule of the methods and equipment to be used for each operation and the sequence of operation. A storage plan for salvaged items shall be included.

1.4 DEMOLITION AND ABANDONMENT

A. Existing pavement, concrete, retaining walls, curb and gutter, sidewalks, buildings, yard structures, equipment, piping, valves, ductwork, duct banks, electrical gear, instrumentation, utilities, and related appurtenances such as anchors, supports, and hardware indicated or required to be demolished as part of the Work shall be removed and disposed of unless otherwise indicated. Removal of buried structures, utilities, and appurtenances includes the related excavation and backfill as required. Removed items shall be disposed of offsite by the Contractor.

1.5 SALVAGE

A. Items of existing equipment, piping, valves, electrical gear, instrumentation, utilities, and appurtenances indicated to be salvaged shall be removed without any degradation in condition from that prior to removal. Salvaged items shall be stockpiled and protected on the Site at a location directed by the Engineer. The Contractor shall be responsible to properly safeguard the salvaged items against damage and loss during removal and handling.

1.6 RELOCATION

A. Items of existing equipment, piping, valves, electrical gear, instrumentation, utilities, and appurtenances required to be relocated shall be removed without any degradation in condition from that prior to removal. The Contractor shall be responsible to properly safeguard the relocated items against damage and loss during removal, handling, storage, and installation in the new location.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

PART 3 - EXECUTION

- A. GENERAL
- B. The Contractor shall coordinate demolition and reconstruction Work with the Owner and Engineer. Unless otherwise indicated, the Contractor shall be responsible for the sequence of activities. Work shall be performed in accordance with applicable safety rules and regulations.
- C. The Contractor shall verify that any utilities connected to structures, equipment, and facilities to be removed, relocated, salvaged, replaced, or abandoned are rendered inoperable, replaced with new utilities, or adequately bypassed with temporary utilities before proceeding with demolition and reconstruction.
- D. The Contractor shall take precautions to avoid damage to adjacent facilities and to limit the Work activities to the extent indicated. If reconstruction beyond the scope indicated is required, the Contractor shall obtain approval from the Engineer prior to commencing.

3.2 PROTECTION OF EXISTING FACILITIES

- A. Before beginning any reconstruction, the Contractor shall carefully survey the existing facilities and examine the Specifications and Drawings to determine the extent of reconstruction and coordination with the Work. Existing facilities not subject to reconstruction shall be protected and maintained. Damaged existing facilities shall be repaired to the previous condition or replaced.
- B. Persons shall be afforded safe passages around areas of demolition.
- C. Structural elements shall not be overloaded. The Contractor shall be responsible for shoring, bracing, or adding new supports as may be required for adequate structural support as a result of Work performed under this Section. The Contractor shall remove temporary protection when the Work is complete or when so authorized by the Engineer.
- D. The Contractor shall carefully consider bearing loads and capacities before placement of equipment and material on Site. In the event of any questions as to whether an area to be loaded has adequate bearing capacity, the Contractor shall consult with the Engineer prior to the placement of such equipment or material.

3.3 DEMOLITION, SALVAGE, AND RELOCATION

- A. The Contract Documents indicate existing facilities to be demolished, salvaged, and/or relocated. Auxiliary utilities including such services as water, air, chemicals, drainage, lubrication, fluid power, electrical wiring, controls, and instrumentation are not necessarily indicated. The Contractor shall verify the scope of the Work to remove the equipment indicated; coordinate its shutdown, removal, replacement, or relocation; and submit an outage plan. The removal of existing facilities for demolition, salvage, and relocation shall include the following requirements:
 - 1. Equipment supports, including concrete pads, baseplates, mounting bolts, and support hangers, shall be removed. Damage to the existing structure shall be repaired as indicated.
 - **2.** Electrical control panels, junction boxes, motor control centers, and local switches and pushbuttons shall be removed.
 - **3.** Exposed electrical conduits and associated wiring shall be removed. Resultant openings in structures shall be repaired as indicated.
 - 4. Connections to embedded electrical conduits shall be removed a minimum of 2-inches inside the finished surface of the existing structure. Wiring shall be removed and the resulting openings shall be repaired as indicated.
 - **5.** Auxiliary utility support systems shall be removed.
 - 6. Asphalt and concrete pavement, curbs, and gutters shall be removed as necessary to perform reconstruction. The limits of removal shall be sawcut. When the required improvements have been constructed, new asphalt and concrete pavement, curbs, and gutters shall be placed to match the original unless otherwise indicated.
 - 7. Below-grade areas and voids resulting from demolition of structures shall be completely filled. Fill and compaction shall be in accordance with Section 31 23 00 Earthwork. After fill and compaction, surfaces shall be graded to meet adjacent contours and to provide flow to surface drainage structures, or as indicated.

- **8.** When existing pipe is removed, the Contractor shall plug the resulting open ends whether or not so indicated. Where removed piping is exposed, the remaining piping shall be blind-flanged or fitted with a removable cap or plug.
- 9. When existing piping is removed from existing structures, the Contractor shall fill resulting openings in the structures and repair any damage such that the finished rehabilitated structure shall appear as a new homogeneous unit with little or no indication of where the new and old materials join. The openings in water-bearing structures shall be filled with non-shrink grout to be watertight and reinforced as required or indicated. In locations where the surface of the grout will be exposed to view, the grout shall be recessed approximately 1/2-inch and the recessed area filled with cement mortar grout.
- 10. Electrical reconstruction shall be conducted by the Contractor in a safe and proper manner to avoid injury from electrical shock to the Owner's and Contractor's personnel. Electrical equipment to be shut off for a period of time shall be tagged, locked out, and sealed with a crimped wire and lead seal and made inoperable. At no time shall electrical wiring or connections, which are energized or could become energized be accessible to Contractor, Owner, or other personnel without suitable protection or warning signs.
- B. The Contractor shall perform a functional test of existing equipment that is relocated and reinstalled to ensure the equipment functions in the manner documented during the initial inspection. The Contractor shall inform the Engineer in writing a minimum of 5 Days prior to the functional testing in order for the Owner and Engineer to witness the test. If, in the opinion of the Engineer, the relocated equipment does not function in a satisfactory manner, the Contractor shall make repairs and modifications necessary to restore the equipment to its original operating condition at no additional cost to the Owner.

3.4 ABANDONMENT

A. Existing facilities to be abandoned shall be prepared as indicated. Where existing buried piping is to be abandoned, the Contractor shall remove the abandoned pipe for a distance of 5-feet from any connecting structures. Openings at the existing structures shall be repaired. The remaining pipe shall be capped at both ends prior to backfill. Buried piping, 12-inches diameter or greater shall be completely sand-filled prior to closure of the piping ends.

3.5 DISPOSAL

- A. Demolition and removal of debris shall minimize interference with roads, streets, walks, and other adjacent occupied or used facilities, which shall not be closed or obstructed without permission from the Owner. Alternate routes shall be provided around closed or obstructed traffic ways.
- B. Site debris, rubbish, and other materials resulting from reconstruction operations shall be legally removed and disposed of. Structures and equipment to be demolished shall be cleaned prior to demolition and the wash water properly disposed of. No trace of these structures shall remain prior to placing of backfill in the areas from which structures were removed.

- C. Refuse, debris, and waste materials resulting from demolition and clearing operations shall not be burned.
- 3.6 OCCUPANCY AND POLLUTION CONTROL
- A. Water sprinkling, temporary enclosures, chutes, and other suitable methods shall be used to limit dust and dirt rising and scattering in the area. The Contractor shall comply with government regulations pertaining to environmental protection.
- B. Water shall not be used if it creates hazardous or objectionable conditions such as ice, flooding, or pollution.
- 3.7 CLEANING
- A. During and upon completion of Work, the Contractor shall promptly remove tools and equipment, surplus materials, rubbish, debris, and dust and shall leave areas affected by Work in a clean, approved condition.
- B. Adjacent structures shall be cleaned of dust, dirt, and debris caused by reconstruction, as directed by the Engineer or governing authorities, and adjacent areas shall be returned to condition existing prior to start of Work.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

DIVISION 31 EARTHWORK

SECTION 31 10 00 SITE PREPARATION

GENERAL

1.1 SUMMARY

- A. The Work of this Section includes all those measures required during the Contractor's initial move onto the site to protect existing fences, structures and associated improvements, streets, and utilities downslope of construction areas from damage due to boulders, trees or other objects dislodged during the construction process: clearing, grubbing and stripping; and regrading of areas to receive embankment fill.
- B. The Contractor is required to protect and preserve all things designated to remain. Where Contractor's operation causes damage or injury to trees and plants designated to remain, an arborist or other qualified professional shall be employed by the Contractor, at no additional cost to the Owner, to repair the damage or provide adequate replacement to the Owner's satisfaction where damage is beyond repair.

1.2 SITE INSPECTION

- A. Prior to moving onto the Project site, the Contractor shall inspect the site conditions and review maps of the existing plant site and off-site pipeline routes and facilities delineating the Owner's property and right-of-way lines.
- B. Contractor shall submit photographs or videotape, sufficiently detailed, of existing conditions of trees and plantings, adjoining construction, and site improvements that might be misconstrued as damage caused by site preparation.
- C. The Contractor shall identify and accurately locate utilities and other subsurface structural, electrical, and mechanical conditions. Existing conditions shall be incorporated into the record drawings for the project.

1.3 DEFINITIONS

- A. The following definitions apply to the Work of this Section:
 - 1. Clearing is defined as cutting trees, removing fences and posts, removing curbs and other improvements to prepare the site for grubbing and stripping.
 - 2. Grubbing is defined as the below grade part of clearing to remove roots, small piping, irrigation systems, etc., to prepare the site for stripping.
 - 3. Stripping is defined as removing a surface layer of soil and organic material, sod, topsoil, and other unsuitable material to a depth that earthwork can proceed.

PRODUCTS (NOT USED)

EXECUTION

3.1 PREPARATION

- A. Protect and maintain benchmarks and survey control points from disturbance during construction.
- B. Provide erosion-control measures to prevent soil erosion and discharge of soil-bearing water runoff or airborne dust to adjacent properties and walkways.
- C. Locate and clearly flag trees and vegetation to remain or to be relocated.
- D. Protect existing site improvements to remain from damage during construction.
 - **1.** Restore damaged improvements to their original condition, as acceptable to Owner.

3.2 UTILITIES

- A. Locate, identify, disconnect, and seal or cap off utilities indicated to be removed.
 - **1.** Owner will arrange to shut off indicated utilities when requested by Contractor.
 - **2.** Arrange to shut off indicated utilities with utility companies.
- B. Existing Utilities: Do not interrupt utilities serving facilities occupied by Owner or others unless permitted under the following conditions and then only after arranging to provide temporary utility services according to requirements indicated:
 - 1. Notify Engineer not less than two days in advance of proposed utility interruptions.
 - **2.** Do not proceed with utility interruptions without Engineer's written permission.
- C. Excavate for and remove underground utilities indicated to be removed.

3.3 PRIMARY PLANT SITE ACCESS

- A. Develop any necessary access to the site, including barrier facilities to be installed at the beginning of construction in order to prohibit entry of unauthorized persons.
- B. Utility Interference: Where existing utilities interfere with the Work of this Section, notify the Engineer and work around the interferences until a directive is issued.

3.4 CLEARING, GRUBBING, AND STRIPPING

A. All construction areas shall be cleared of grass and weeds to at least a depth of six inches and cleared of structures, concrete or masonry debris, trees, logs, upturned stumps, loose boulders, and any other objectionable material of any kind which would interfere with the performance or completion of the Work, create a hazard to safety, or impair the Work's subsequent usefulness or obstruct its operation. Loose boulders within 10 feet of the top of cut lines shall be incorporated in landscaping or removed from the site. Trees and other natural vegetation outside the actual lines of construction shall be protected from damage during construction, as directed by the Engineer.

- B. Within the limits of clearing, the areas below the natural ground surface shall be grubbed to a depth necessary to remove all stumps, roots, buried logs, and all other objectionable material. Debris or waste shall be totally removed if they are found on the site. All objectionable material from the clearing and grubbing process shall be removed from the site and wasted in approved safe locations in compliance with state and federal regulations.
- C. The area to be affected by construction that have not been pre-excavated to the subgrade elevation shall be removed and placed in the designated stockpile areas, and/or incorporated into landscaped areas or other nonstructural embankments.
- D. For all areas that have not been previously disturbed, including staging areas and temporary construction easements, topsoil-salvaging operation shall immediately follow clearing operations. The area shall be stripped of topsoil to a depth of 8 inches. Unsuitable materials, specified in Section 31 23 00, shall not be considered topsoil. The Contractor shall strip to the depth indicated regardless of the material encountered using a D8 Caterpillar, or equal, fitted with a standard dozer blade and dual shank rippers. All stripped topsoil shall be stockpiled within stripped areas in stockpiles not to exceed 15 feet in height. Vegetation shall be ground or chipped to a mulching consistency and mixed with the stripped soil. Stockpiles shall be placed away from high construction traffic areas and shall be fenced and signed to prevent accidental use as fill prior to topsoil replacement.
- E. Upon completion of Work within the construction areas stripped of topsoil, the stored topsoil shall be respread over the disturbed areas. Topsoil shall be spread in about a 6-inch layer using paddlewheel scrapers and front-end wheel loaders. Respread topsoil shall match the existing terrain as much as possible. Interfaces between restored disturbed areas and undisturbed areas shall be chain dragged to eliminate obvious edges. All tracks and equipment marks shall be chain dragged or hand raked away. Replaced topsoil shall be thoroughly watered for dust control upon completion of the respreading operations. Once topsoil replacement has been completed, no vehicles or other motorized equipment shall be allowed to travel on the finished surface.
- F. Unless otherwise indicated, native trees larger than three inches in diameter at the base shall not be removed without the Engineer's approval. The removal of any trees, shrubs, fences, or other improvements outside of rights-of-way, if not necessary for the Contractor's choice of means and methods, shall be arranged with the property owner and be removed and replaced at no increased cost to the Owner.
- G. Except in areas to be excavated, holes and other holes resulting from Work of this section shall be backfilled with suitable material.

3.5 SITE IMPROVEMENTS

- A. Remove existing above- and below-grade improvements as indicated and as necessary to facilitate new construction.
- B. Remove slabs, paving, curbs, gutters, and aggregate base as indicated.
 - 1. Unless existing full-depth joints coincides with line of demolition, neatly saw-cut length of existing pavement to remain before removing existing pavement. Saw-cut faces vertically.

3.6 DISPOSAL

A. Disposal: Remove surplus soil material, unsuitable topsoil, obstructions, demolished materials, and waste materials, including trash and debris, and legally dispose of them off Owner's property.

END OF SECTION

SECTION 31 23 00 EARTHWORK

PART 1 - GENERAL

- 1.1 THE REQUIREMENT
- A. The Contractor shall perform all earthwork indicated and required for construction of the Work, complete and in place, in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- B. The geotechnical investigation report performed for the site shall be followed throughout construction. The report is included and made part of the Contract Documents.
- 1.2 REFERENCE SPECIFICATIONS, CODES, AND STANDARDS
- A. Commercial Standards

00 000 4006

29 CFR 1926	OSHA Safety and Health Regulations for Construction
ASTM C150	Portland Cement
ASTM D 422	Method for Particle-Size Analysis of Soils
ASTM D 1556	Test Method for Density of Soil in Place by the Sand-Cone Method
ASTM D 1557	Laboratory Compaction Characteristics of Soil Using Modified Effort (56,000 ft-lbf/ft 3) (2,700 kN-m/m 3)
ASTM D 1633	Test Method for Compressive Strength of Molded Soil-Cement Cylinders
ASTM D 2419	Test Method for Sand Equivalent Value of Soils and Fine Aggregate
ASTM D 2487	Classification of Soils for Engineering Purposes
ASTM D 2901	Test Method for Cement Content of Freshly Mixed Soil Cement
ASTM D 2922	Test Methods for Density of Soil and Soil-Aggregate in Place by Nuclear Methods
ASTM D 4253	Test Methods for Maximum Index Density of Soils using a Vibratory Table
ASTM D4254	Test Method for Minimum Index Density and Unit Weight of Soils and Calculation of Relative Density

ASTM D 4318	Test Method for Liquid Limit, Plastic Limit, and Plasticity Index of Soils
ASTM D4832	Test Method for Preparation and Testing of Controlled Low Strength Material (CLSM) Test Cylinders
ASTM D 5971	Practice for Sampling Freshly Mixed Controlled Low Strength Material (CLSM)
ASTM D 6023	Test Method for Unit Weight, Yield, Cement Content, and Air Content (Gravimetric) of Controlled Low Strength Material (CLSM)
ASTM D 6024	Test Method for Ball Drop on Controlled Low Strength Material (CLSM) to Determine Suitability for Load Application
ASTM D 6103	Test Method for Flow Consistency of Controlled Low Strength Material (CLSM)

1.3 CONTRACTOR SUBMITTALS

- A. The Contractor's attention is directed to the provisions of Subpart P, 29 CFR 1926 of the OSHA Safety and Health Standards for Construction, which relate to protection of employees in excavations. The Contractor shall submit, for information to the Engineer, the project excavation plan and the name of the Contractor's competent person, prior to commencing any excavation.
- B. Submit samples of all materials proposed to be used in the work in accordance with the requirements in Section 01 33 20 Contractor Submittals. Sample sizes shall be as determined by the testing laboratory.
- C. Submit dewatering and water removal plan prior to performing any dewatering or water removal.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

- 2.1 SUITABLE FILL AND BACKFILL MATERIAL REQUIREMENTS
- A. General: Fill, backfill, and embankment materials shall be suitable material.
- B. Suitable Materials: Suitable material is defined as selected or processed clean, well graded earth material, sands and gravels free of excessive fines, less than 20 percent rock and boulders larger than 4 inches, grass, roots, brush, vegetation, or other deleterious materials.
- C. Fill and backfill materials within 6 inches of any structure or pipe shall be smaller than 1 inch in any dimension.
 - 1. Suitable materials may be obtained from onsite excavations, may be processed onsite materials, or may be imported. If imported materials are required by this Section or to meet the quantity requirements of the Project, provide the imported materials at

no additional expense to the Owner, unless a unit price item is included for imported materials in the bidding schedule. Onsite materials shall be stockpiled and segregated prior to use.

The following types of suitable materials are defined: 2.

Type A (Granular Backfill): Crushed rock or gravel, and sand well graded and readily compacted, non-plastic, meeting the following gradation requirements:

Sieve Size	Percentage Passing
1-inch	100
No. 40	15 - 60
No. 200	0 - 15

Type B (Crushed Rock): Manufactured angular, crushed rock, non-plastic, meeting the following gradation requirements:

Sieve Size	Percentage Passing
3/8-inch No. 4	100 30 - 50
No. 200	0 - 5

Type C (Sand Backfill): Sand non-plastic, meeting the following gradation requirements:

<u>Sieve Size</u>	Percentage Passing
3/4-inch	100
No. 4	80 - 100
No. 10	30-50
No. 40	10-30
No. 200	7 - 15

Squeegee is not acceptable as sand backfill.

Type D (Select Backfill): Suitable material that can be readily compacted and meets the requirements of AASHTO M 145 classification A-1-a, non-plastic, well graded with a maximum particle size of 2 inches.

Percentage Passing
100
30-50
15-30
0 - 15

Type E (Pea Gravel Backfill): Crushed rock or gravel with 100 percent passing a 1/2-inch sieve and not more than 10 percent passing a No. 4 sieve.

Type F (Drainrock): Crushed rock or gravel conforming to one of the following gradation requirements, as shown on the Drawings or approved by the Engineer:

	Percentage P	assing	
Sieve Size	3-inch Max.	2-inch Max.	3/4-inch Max.
3-inch	100		

2-inch	90 - 100	100	
1-1/2 inch	70 - 100	95 - 100	
3/4 inch	0 - 50	50 - 100	100
1/2-inch			95 - 100
3/8-inch	0 - 10	0 - 70	70 - 100
No. 4	0 - 25	0 - 55	
No. 8	0 - 5	0 - 15	
No. 200	0 - 3	0 - 3	0 - 3

Type G (Type II Aggregate Base): Well-graded, clean, hard, tough, durable, and sound mineral aggregates consisting of crushed stone, or crushed gravel, free of organic matter and contamination from chemical or petroleum products meeting State specification requirements and conforming to the following Table and gradations:

Aggregate Properties			
	Aggregate Class		
	A	В	
Dry Rodded Unit Weight	Not less than ?	75 lb/ft³	AASHTO T 19
Liquid Limit/Plastic Index	Non-plastic	PI ≤ 6	AASHTO T 89 AASHTO 90
Aggregate Wear	Not to exceed 50 percent		AASHTO T 96
Gradation	Table 2		AASHTO T 11 AASHTO T 27
CBR with a 10 lb surcharge measured at 0.20 inch penetration	70% Minimum	N/A	AASHTO T 193
Two Fractured Faces	50% Min	N/A	AASHTO T 335

<u>Sieve Size</u>	Percentage Passing
3/4-inch	100
3/8-inch	75 - 95
No. 4	55 - 70
No. 16	30 - 40
No. 200	2 - 10

Type H (Graded Drainrock): Graded drainrock shall be crushed rock or gravel, durable and free from slaking or decomposition under the action of alternate wetting and drying. The material shall be uniformly graded and shall meet the following gradation requirements:

Sieve Size	Percentage Passing
1-inch	100
3/4 inch	90 - 100
3/8-inch	40 - 100
No. 4	25 - 40
No. 8	18 - 33
No. 30	5 - 15
No. 50	0 - 7
No. 200	0 - 3

Type I: (Levee Material): Clayey sand to sandy clay obtained from off-site borrow sources or from onsite excavations, processed to the extent required to produce a material with a maximum size of 4 inches, well-graded from coarse to fine, and free from roots, sticks, organic matter, concrete, asphalt and other deleterious material. Levee material shall meet the following gradation requirements:

Percentage Passing
100
50 - 70
30 - 50

Type J (Cement-Treated Backfill): Material which consists of Type F material, or any mixture of Types B, C, G, and H materials which has been cement-treated so that the cement content of the material is not less than 5 percent by weight when tested in accordance with ASTM D 2901. The ultimate compressive strength at 28 days shall be not less than 400 psi when tested in accordance with ASTM D 1633.

Type K (Topsoil): Stockpiled topsoil material which has been obtained at the site by removing soil to a depth as defined in Section 31 10 00 - Site Preparation. Removal of the topsoil shall be done after the area has been stripped of vegetation and debris.

Type M (Aggregate Subbase): Crushed rock aggregate subbase material non-plastic that can be compacted readily by watering and rolling to form a stable base. The sand equivalent value shall not be less than 18 and shall meet one of the following gradation requirements, as shown on the Drawings or approved by the Engineer:

	<u>Pe</u>	rcentage Pa	ssing
Sieve S	<u> 3-i</u>	nch Max.	2-inch Max.
3-inch	10	0 -	
2-inch	90	- 100	100
1-1/2 inch	-		95 - 100
1-inch	70	- 90	-
No. 4	30	- 65	30 - 65
No. 16	15	- 40	15 - 40
No. 200	2 -	12	2 - 12

Type N (trench plug): Low permeable fill material, a nondispersable clay material having a minimum plasticity index of 10.

Type O (Controlled Low Strength Material (CLSM)): CLSM shall consist of a mixture of portland cement, aggregate, fly ash, water, and approved admixtures conforming to the following requirements:

- 3. Portland Cement: ASTM C150, Type V.
- 4. Aggregate: Clean imported sand and gravel or selected material from the excavation, imported material, or a combination thereof as approved by the Engineer. Maximum aggregate size shall be 1 to 3 inches. The soluble sulfate content of aggregate in the mixture shall not exceed 0.3 percent by dry weight.

- 5. Water: Potable quality.
- 6. Fly Ash: Class C, ASTM C 618 or approved alternate.
- 7. The minus 200 sieve fraction shall be nonplastic, as defined by ASTM D 4318. By this standard, a soil is considered nonplastic if either the liquid or plastic limit cannot be determined, or if the plastic limit is equal to or greater than the liquid limit.
- 8. Proportion the CLSM to be a flowable, nonsegregating, self-consolidating low shrink slurry. The Contractor shall determine the materials and proportions used to meet the requirements of these Specifications.
- 9. The unconfined compressive strength at 7 days shall be a minimum of 100 psi and a maximum of 300 psi. Contractor shall form a minimum of six test cylinders with proposed materials to confirm design strength and mix design. Four of the cylinders shall be broken at 7 days in conformance with applicable concrete cylinder specifications and results provided to Engineer. The remaining two cylinders shall be broken by Contractor at discretion of Engineer. Initial mix design and cylinder breaks shall be completed at least 21 days prior to use of the material on the jobsite. Final mix approval and use of the material shall not occur prior to confirmation of strength by the cylinder breaks.
- 10. The temperature of the CLSM discharged into the trench shall be below 90 degrees F.
- 11. CLSM backfill under concrete structures shall be protected during curing as specified Section 03300 Cast-in-Place Concrete.
- 12. CLSM shall be tested in accordance with ASTM D 4832, ASTM D 5971, ASTM D 6023, and ASTM D6103

Type P: (Suitable Trench Backfill): Suitable material that can be readily compacted, with less than 35 percent passing the No. 200 sieve and a plasticity index of 10 or less.

2.2 UNSUITABLE MATERIAL

- A. Unsuitable materials include but are not limited to the materials listed below.
 - 1. Soils which, when classified under ASTM D 2487 Classification of Soils for Engineering Purposes, fall in the classifications of Pt, OH, CH, MH, or OL.
 - 2. Soils which cannot be compacted sufficiently to achieve the density indicated for the intended use.
 - 3. Materials that contain hazardous or designated waste materials including petroleum hydrocarbons, pesticides, heavy metals, slag, and any material which may be classified as hazardous or toxic according to applicable regulations.
 - 4. Soils that contain greater concentrations of chloride or sulfate ions, or have a soil resistivity or pH less than the existing onsite soils.
 - 5. Topsoil, except as allowed below.
- B. All unsuitable excavated material shall be disposed off site.
- 2.3 USE OF FILL, BACKFILL, AND EMBANKMENT MATERIAL TYPES
- A. Use the types of materials as designated herein for all required fill, backfill, and embankment construction hereunder.
- B. Where these Specifications conflict with the requirements of any local agency having jurisdiction or with the requirements of a pipe material manufacturer, notify the Engineer

immediately. In case of conflict between types of pipe embedment backfills, use the agency-specified backfill material if that material provides a greater degree of support to the pipe, as determined by the Engineer. In case of conflict between types of trench or final backfill types, use the agency-specified backfill material if that material provides the greater in-place density after compaction.

- C. Fill and backfill types shall be used in accordance with the following provisions:
 - 1. Embankment fills shall be constructed of Type P material, as defined herein, or any mixture of Type P and Type A through Type F materials.
 - 2. Pipe zone backfill, as defined under "Pipe and Utility Trench Backfill" below, shall consist of the following materials for each pipe material listed below.
 - a. Mortar coated pipe, concrete pipe, and uncoated ductile iron pipe shall be provided with Type A or C material in the pipe zone.
 - b. Coal tar enamel coated pipe, polyethylene encased pipe, tape wrapped pipe, and other nonmortar coated pipe shall be backfilled with Type C material in the pipe zone.
 - c. Plastic pipe and vitrified clay pipe shall be backfilled with Type C material in the pipe zone.
 - d. Where pipelines are installed on grades exceeding 4 percent, and where backfill materials are graded such that there is less than 10 percent passing a No. 4 sieve, trench plugs of Type J or N material shall be provided at maximum intervals of 200 feet unless indicated otherwise.
 - e. Type O material shall be used in the pipe zone where shown on plans, specified, or required by the Engineer for special crossings or other locations, or where otherwise approved.
 - f. Type E material will not be allowed for backfill within the pipe zone.
 - 3. Trench zone backfill for pipelines as defined under "Pipe and Utility Trench Backfill" shall be Type D backfill material.
 - 4. Final backfill material for pipelines under paved areas, as defined under "Pipe and Utility Trench Backfill" shall be Type G backfill material. Final backfill under areas not paved shall be the same material as that used for trench backfill.
 - 5. Trench backfill and final backfill for pipelines under structures shall be Type A or B, except where concrete encasement is required by the Contract Documents.
 - 6. Aggregate base materials under pavements shall be Type G material constructed to the thicknesses indicated. Aggregate subbase shall be Type M material.
 - 7. Backfill around structures shall be Type P material, or Types A through Type F materials, or any mixture thereof, except as shown.
 - 8. Backfill materials beneath structures shall be as follows:
 - a. Drainrock materials under hydraulic structures or other water retaining structures with underdrain systems shall be Type H material.
 - b. Under concrete hydraulic structures or other water retaining structures without underdrain systems, Types F, G or H materials shall be used.
 - c. Under structures where groundwater must be removed to allow placement of concrete, Type F material shall be used. Before the Type F material is placed, filter type geotextile fabric shall be placed over the exposed foundation.
 - d. Under all other structures, Type F, G or H material shall be used.
 - 9. Backfill used to replace pipeline trench overexcavation shall be a layer of Type F material with a 6-inch top filter layer of Type E material or filter fabric to prevent

migration of fines for wet trench conditions or the same material as used for the pipe zone backfill if the trench conditions are not wet.

2.4 PIPELINE MARKING TAPE

- A. Metallic Tape: Tape shall be minimum 5.5 mils thick aluminum foil imprinted on one side, encased in high visibility inert polyethylene jacket. Tape shall be a minimum of 6 inches wide. Imprinted lettering shall be 1 inch tall, permanent black, as indicated. Joining clips shall be manufacturer's standard tin or nickel coated. Tape shall be as manufactured by Reef Industries (Terra "D"), Allen (Detectatape), or equal.
- B. Plastic Tape: Tape shall be minimum 4-mil thick polyethylene which is impervious to alkalais acids, and chemicals and solvents which are likely in the soil. Tape shall be a minimum of 6 inches wide and lettering shall be 1-inch tall permanent black on a colored background. Tape shall be manufactured by Reef Industries (Terra Tape), Allen (Markline), or equal.
- C. Warning Tape: Warning tape manufactured for marking and identifying underground utilities continuously inscribed with a description of utility, colored as follows:
 - 1. Red; Electric.
 - 2. Yellow; Gas, oil, steam, and dangerous materials.
 - 3. Orange: Telephone and other communications.
 - 4. Blue: Water Systems.
 - 5. Green: Sewer Systems.

2.5 MATERIALS TESTING

- A. All soils testing of samples submitted by the Contractor will be done by a testing laboratory of the Owner's choice and at the Owner's expense. At its discretion, the Engineer may request that the Contractor supply samples for testing of any material used in the work.
- B. Particle size analysis of soils and aggregates will be performed using ASTM D 422 Method for Particle-Size Analysis of Soils.
- C. Determination of sand equivalent value will be performed using ASTM D 2419 Test Method for Sand Equivalent Value of Soils and Fine Aggregate.
- D. Unified Soil Classification System: References in this Section to soil classification types and standards shall have the meanings and definitions indicated in ASTM D 2487. The Contractor shall be bound by all applicable provisions of said ASTM D 2487 in the interpretation of soil classifications.
- E. The testing for chloride, sulfate, resistivity, and pH will be done by a testing laboratory of the Owner's choice and at the Owner's expense.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1 EXCAVATION – GENERAL

- A. General: Except when specifically provided to the contrary, excavation shall include the removal of all materials of whatever nature encountered, including rock and all obstructions of any nature that would interfere with the proper execution and completion of the Work. The removal of said materials shall conform to the lines and grades indicated or ordered. Unless otherwise indicated, the entire construction site shall be stripped of all vegetation and debris, and such material shall be removed from the site prior to performing any excavation or placing any fill. Furnish, place, and maintain all supports and shoring that may be required for the sides of the excavations. Excavations shall be sloped or otherwise supported in a safe manner in accordance with safety requirements of the requirements of OSHA Safety and Health Standards for Construction (29CFR1926).
- B. Maximum Length of Open Trench: The maximum length of open trench in urban and rural areas shall not exceed 500-feet at each pipe installation heading beyond the end of the installed pipeline, or the requirements of the agency with jurisdiction, whichever is lesser.
- C. Construction Delays: In the case of any construction delay in excess of five calendar days, whether Contractor or Owner caused, the Contractor shall backfill the excavation, install temporary paving including temporary traffic markings, and restore traffic to preconstruction condition to minimize disruption to traffic and the community at no additional cost to the Owner.
- D. Removal and Exclusion of Water: Remove and exclude water, including storm water, groundwater, irrigation water, and wastewater, from all excavations. Dewatering wells, well points, sump pumps, or other means shall be used to remove water and continuously maintain groundwater at a level at least 2 feet below the bottom of excavations before the excavation work begins at each location. Water shall be removed and excluded until backfilling is complete and all field soils testing has been completed.

3.2 STRUCTURE, ROADWAY, AND EMBANKMENT EXCAVATION

A. Excavation Beneath Structures and Embankments: Except where otherwise indicated for a particular structure or ordered by the Engineer, excavation shall be carried to the grade of the bottom of the footing or slab. Where indicated or ordered, areas beneath structures or fills shall be overexcavated. The subgrade areas beneath embankments shall be excavated to remove not less than the top 6 inches of native material and where such subgrade is sloped, the native material shall be benched. When such overexcavation is indicated, both overexcavation and subsequent backfill to the required grade shall be performed. When such overexcavation is not indicated but is ordered by the Engineer, such overexcavation and any resulting backfill will be paid for under a separate unit price bid item if such bid item has been established; otherwise payment will be made in accordance with a negotiated price. After the required excavation or overexcavation has been completed, the exposed surface shall be scarified to a depth of 6 inches, brought to optimum moisture content, and rolled with heavy compaction equipment to obtain 95 percent of maximum density.

- B. Excavation Beneath Concrete Reservoirs: Excavation under reservoirs shall extend to the bottom of the drainrock layer. After such excavation has been completed, the exposed surface shall be rolled with heavy compaction equipment to 95 percent of maximum density and then graded to provide a reasonably smooth surface for placement of the drainrock. Areas under the reservoir upon which fill is to be placed shall be scarified to a depth of 6 inches, brought to optimum moisture content, and compacted to obtain 95 percent of maximum density with moisture content within plus and minus 2 percent of the optimum moisture content.
- C. Excavation Beneath Paved Areas: Excavation under areas to be paved shall extend to the bottom of the aggregate base or subbase, if such base is called for; otherwise it shall extend to the bottom of the paving thickness. After the required excavation has been completed, the top 12 inches of exposed surface shall be scarified, brought to optimum moisture content, and rolled with heavy compaction equipment to obtain 95 percent of maximum density. The finished subgrade shall be even, self-draining, and in conformance with the slope of the finished pavement. Areas that could accumulate standing water shall be regraded to provide a self-draining subgrade.
- D. Notification of Engineer: Notify the Engineer at least 3 days in advance of completion of any structure excavation and allow the Engineer a review period of at least 1 day before the exposed foundation is scarified and compacted or is covered with backfill or with any construction materials.

3.3 PIPELINE AND UTILITY TRENCH EXCAVATION

- A. General: Unless otherwise indicated or ordered, excavation for pipelines and utilities shall be open-cut trenches with widths as indicated.
- B. Trench Bottom: Except when pipe bedding is required, the bottom of the trench shall be excavated uniformly to the grade of the bottom of the pipe zone. Excavations for pipe bells and welding shall be made as required.
- C. Open Trench: The maximum amount of open trench permitted in any one location shall be 500 feet, or the length necessary to accommodate the amount of pipe installed in a single day, whichever is greater. All trenches shall be fully backfilled at the end of each day or, in lieu thereof, shall be protected in accordance with Section 01 71 50 Protection of Existing Facilities. The Contractor shall provide temporary 6-foot chain link fencing panels for protection of all open excavations and trenches within public streets, residential areas, and all other locations with the exception of unimproved open areas where excavations and/or pipeline trenches that can be safely sloped in accordance with current OSHA standards to provide safe access without the use of shoring devices. Temporary fencing panels shall fully enclose open excavations and trenches, and shall remain in place during all non-working hours.
- D. Trench Overexcavation: Where trenches are indicated to be overexcavated, excavation shall be to the depth indicated, and backfill shall be installed to the grade of the bottom of the pipe bedding.
- E. Overexcavation: When ordered by the Engineer, whether indicated on the Drawings or not, trenches shall be overexcavated beyond the depth and/or width shown. Such overexcavation

shall be to the dimensions ordered. The trench shall then be backfilled to the grade of the bottom of the pipe bedding. Overexcavation less than 6 inches below the limits on the Drawings shall be done at no increase in cost to the Owner. When the overexcavation ordered by the Engineer is 6 inches or greater below the limits shown, or wider, additional payment will be made. Said additional payment will be made under separate unit price bid items for overexcavation if such bid items have been established; otherwise payment will be made in accordance with a negotiated price.

- F. Where pipelines are to be installed in embankments, fills, or structure backfills, the fill shall be constructed to a level at least one foot above the top of the pipe before the trench is excavated.
- G. If a moveable trench shield is used during excavation operations, the trench width shall be wider than the shield so that the shield is free to be lifted and then moved horizontally without binding against the trench sidewalls. If the trench walls cave in or slough, the trench shall be excavated as an open excavation with sloped sidewalls or with trench shoring, as indicated and as required by the pipe structural design.

3.4 OVEREXCAVATION NOT ORDERED OR INDICATED

A. Any overexcavation carried below the grade ordered or indicated, shall be backfilled to the required grade with the indicated material and compaction. Such work shall be performed at no additional cost to the Owner.

3.5 EXCAVATION IN LAWN AREAS

A. Where excavation occurs in lawn areas, the sod shall be carefully removed, dampened, and stockpiled to preserve it for replacement. Excavated material may be placed on the lawn; provided, that a drop cloth or other suitable method is employed to protect the lawn from damage. The lawn shall not remain covered for more than 72 hours. Immediately after completion of backfilling and testing of the pipeline, the sod shall be replaced and lightly rolled in a manner so as to restore the lawn as near as possible to its original condition. Provide new sod if stockpiled sod has not been replaced within 72 hours.

3.6 EXCAVATION IN VICINITY OF TREES

A. Except where trees are indicated to be removed, trees shall be protected from injury during construction operations. No tree roots over 2 inches in diameter shall be cut without express permission of the Engineer. Trees shall be supported during excavation by any means previously reviewed by the Engineer.

3.7 BACKFILL – GENERAL

A. Backfill shall not be dropped directly upon any structure or pipe. Backfill shall not be placed around or upon any structure until the concrete has attained sufficient strength to withstand the loads imposed. Backfill around water retaining structures shall not be placed until the structures have been tested, and the structures shall be full of water while backfill is being placed. Structures shall not be constructed on CLSM backfill until the CLSM has obtained a 7-day minimum cure.

- B. Except for drainrock materials being placed in overexcavated areas or trenches, backfill shall be placed after all water is removed from the excavation, and the trench sidewalls and bottom have been dried to a moisture content suitable for compaction.
- C. If a moveable trench shield is used during excavation, pipe installation, and backfill operations, the shield shall be moved by lifting the shield free of the trench bottom or backfill and then moving the shield horizontally. Do not drag trench shields along the trench causing damage or displacement to the trench sidewalls, the pipe, or the bedding and backfill.
- D. Immediately prior to placement of backfill materials, the bottoms and sidewalls of trenches and structure excavations shall have all loose sloughing, or caving soil and rock materials removed. All materials disturbed from their intact condition that are 4 inches or larger in least dimension or aggregates of soil material thicker than 4 inches shall be removed from the excavation walls and base prior to placing pipe or any backfill material. Trench sidewalls shall consist of excavated surfaces that are in a relatively undisturbed condition before placement of backfill materials.

3.8 PLACING AND SPREADING OF BACKFILL MATERIALS

- A. Backfill materials shall be placed and spread evenly in layers. When compaction is achieved using mechanical equipment, the layers shall be evenly spread so that the depth of each uncompacted layer shall not exceed 8 inches of compacted thickness.
- B. During spreading, each layer shall be thoroughly mixed as necessary to promote uniformity of material in each layer. Pipe zone backfill materials shall be manually spread around the pipe so that when compacted the pipe zone backfill will provide uniform bearing and side support.
- C. Where the backfill material moisture content is below the optimum moisture content, water shall be added before or during spreading until the proper moisture content is achieved.
- D. Where the backfill material moisture content is too high to permit the indicated degree of compaction the material shall be dried or mixed with drier material until the moisture content is satisfactory.

3.9 COMPACTION OF EARTH FILL, BACKFILL, AND EMBANKMENT MATERIALS

- A. Each layer of Types A, B, C, G, H, I, and K backfill materials as defined herein, where the material is graded such that at least 10 percent passes a No. 4 sieve, shall be mechanically compacted to the indicated percentage of density. Equipment that is consistently capable of achieving the required degree of compaction shall be used and each layer shall be compacted over its entire area while the material is at the required moisture content.
- B. Each layer of Type E and J backfill materials shall be compacted by means of at least 2 passes from a flat plate vibratory compactor. When such materials are used for pipe zone backfill, vibratory compaction shall be used at the top of the pipe zone or at vertical intervals of 24 inches, whichever is the least distance from the subgrade.
- C. Fill on reservoir and structure roofs shall be deposited at least 30 days after the concrete roof slab has been placed. Equipment weighing more than 10,000 pounds when loaded shall not

be used on a roof. A roller weighing not more than 8,000 pounds shall be used to compact fill on a roof.

- D. Pipe zone backfill materials that are granular, shall be compacted by using vibratory compactors.
- E. Equipment weighing more than 10,000 pounds shall not be used closer to structure walls than a horizontal distance equal to the depth of the fill at that time. Hand operated power compaction equipment shall be used where use of heavier equipment is impractical or restricted due to weight limitations.
- F. Backfill around and over pipelines that is mechanically compacted shall be compacted using light, hand operated, vibratory compactors and rollers. After completion of at least 2 feet of compacted backfill over the top of pipeline, compaction equipment weighing no more than 8,000 pounds may be used to complete the trench backfill.
- G. Compaction Requirements: The following compaction test requirements shall be in accordance with ASTM D 1557, method C. Compaction shall be obtained with the moisture content within plus or minus 2 percent of the optimum moisture content. Where agency or utility company requirements govern, the highest compaction standards shall apply.

Location or Use of Fill	Percentage of Maximum Density
Pipe embedment backfill for flexible pipe	90
1	
Pipe bedding and overexcavated	
zones under bedding for flexible	
pipe, including trench plugs	90
Pipe embedment backfill for steel yard piping	
Pipe embedment backfill for rigid pipe	90
Pipe zone backfill portion above	
embedment for rigid pipe	90
Pipe bedding and overexcavated	
zones under bedding for rigid pipe	90
Final backfill, beneath paved areas or	

structures	95
Final backfill, not beneath paved	
areas or structures	85
Trench zone backfill, beneath paved	
areas and structures, including trench	
plugs	95
Trench zone backfill, not beneath paved	
areas or structures, including trench	
plugs	90
Embankments and fills	90
Embankments and fills beneath paved areas	
or structures	95
Backfill beneath structures and hydraulic	
structures	95
Backfill and fill around structures on	
reservoir or structure roof	90
Topsoil (Type K material)	80
Aggregate base or subbase	
(Type G or M material)	95

H.

3.10 PLACEMENT OF CLSM

A. Following placement and anchoring of the pipe, remove all loose soil from trench walls and floor. Remove any unstable soil at the top of the trench, which might fall into the trench during placement of the CLSM.

- B. Prior to placement of CLSM, the pipeline steel temperature shall be controlled as specified in Section 02570 Steel Pipe.
- C. Deliver the CLSM to the trench in ready mix trucks and utilize pump or chutes to place the CLSM in the trench. Direct CLSM to one side of the pipe, taking care not to displace the pipe at any time. Continue placing CLSM on one side of the pipe until CLSM has gone under the pipe and up the other side to a depth of 1.5 feet above the pipe bottom. Use at least two handheld vibrators to continuously liquefy and move CLSM into all voids. Adjust water in mixture to maintain fluid consistency but maintain strength requirements. Continue placing CLSM on both sides of the pipe continuously using two vibrators for every 30 feet of pipe run.
- D. Maintain stability of pipe throughout CLSM placement. CLSM will likely require placement in lifts to prevent pipe flotation. No movement of the pipe caused by flotation will be allowed. If any movement occurs, the CLSM material shall be removed and the pipe placed back on line and grade. Any damage to the pipeline system caused by movement of the pipe shall be removed and/or repaired in full conformance with these Contract Documents at no additional cost to the Owner. Remove all sloughed material or other debris from top of previously placed CLSM.

3.11 PIPE AND UTILITY TRENCH BACKFILL

A. Pipe Zone

- 1. The pipe zone is defined as that portion of the vertical trench cross-section lying between a plane 6 inches below the bottom surface of the pipe and a plane at a point 12 inches above the top surface of the pipe. The bedding is defined as that portion of pipe zone backfill material between the bottom of the trench and the bottom of the pipe. The embedment is defined as that portion of the pipe zone material between the bedding and a plane at a point 6 inches above the top surface of the pipe.
- 2. After compacting the bedding, perform a final trim using a string line for establishing grade, such that each pipe section when first laid will be continually in contact with the bedding along the extreme bottom of the pipe. Excavation for pipe bells and welding shall be made as required.
- 3. The pipe zone shall be backfilled with the indicated backfill material. Exercise care to prevent damage to the pipeline coating, cathodic bonds, and the pipe itself during the installation and backfill operations.
- 4. If a moveable trench shield is used during backfill operations the shield shall be lifted to a location above each layer of backfill material prior to compaction of the layer. Do not displace the pipe or backfill while the shield is being moved.
- B. Trench Zone: After the pipe zone backfills have been placed, backfilling of the trench zone may proceed. The trench zone is defined as that portion of the vertical trench cross-section lying between a plane 12 inches above the top surface of the pipe and a plane at a point 18 inches below the finished surface grade, or if the trench is under pavement, 18 inches below the roadway subgrade.

C. Marking Tape Installation

1. Continuously install metallic marking tape along the pipe at a depth of 3 feet below finish grade.

- 2. Continuously install plastic marking tape along the pipe at the elevation indicated on the Drawings.
- D. Final Backfill: Final backfill is all backfill in the trench cross-sectional area within 18 inches of finished grade, or if the trench is under pavement, all backfill within 18 inches of the roadway subgrade.

3.12 FILL AND EMBANKMENT CONSTRUCTION

- A. The area where a fill or embankment is to be constructed shall be cleared of all vegetation, roots and foreign material. Following this, the surface shall be scarified to a depth of 6 inches, moisture conditioned, and rolled or otherwise mechanically compacted. Embankment and fill material shall be placed and spread evenly in approximately horizontal layers. Each layer shall be moistened or aerated, as necessary. Unless otherwise approved by the Engineer, the depth of each uncompacted layer shall not exceed 8 inches of compacted thickness. The embankment, fill, and the scarified layer of underlying ground shall be compacted to 95 percent of maximum density under structures and paved areas, and 90 percent of maximum density elsewhere.
- B. When an embankment or fill is to be made and compacted against hillsides or fill slopes steeper than 5H:1V, the slopes of hillsides or fills shall be horizontally benched to key the embankment or fill to the underlying ground. A minimum of 12 inches normal to the slope of the hillside or fill shall be removed and recompacted as the embankment or fill is brought up in layers. Material thus cut shall be recompacted along with the new material at no additional cost to the Owner. Hillside or fill slopes 5H:1V or flatter shall be prepared in accordance with Paragraph A, above.
- C. Where embankment or structure fills are constructed over pipelines, the first 4 feet of fill over the pipe shall be constructed using light placement and compaction equipment that does not damage the pipe.
- D. The finish graded surface of the drainrock immediately beneath hydraulic structures shall be stabilized to provide a firm, smooth surface upon which to construct reinforced concrete floor slabs. Where needed to protect slopes and prevent movement of the drainrock, spray asphalt on the finished drainrock surface in accordance with Section 02460 A. C. Pavement and Base.

3.13 FIELD TESTING

- A. General: All field soils testing will be done by a testing laboratory of the Owner's choice at the Owner's expense except as indicated below.
- B. Where soil material is required to be compacted to a percentage of maximum density, the maximum density at optimum moisture content will be determined in accordance with Method C of ASTM D 1557. Field density in-place tests will be performed in accordance with ASTM D 1556 or by such other means acceptable to the Engineer.
- C. In case the test of the fill or backfill show noncompliance with the required density, perform remedies as may be required to ensure compliance. Subsequent testing to show compliance

- shall be by a testing laboratory selected by the Owner, paid by the Contractor, at no additional cost to the Owner.
- D. Provide test trenches and excavations including excavation, trench support, and groundwater removal for the Owner's field soils testing operations. The trenches and excavations shall be provided at the locations and to the depths required by the Owner. All Work for test trenches and excavations shall be provided at no additional cost to the Owner.
- E. Frequency of Testing
 - 1. Backfill around structures and in embankments shall be tested every 300 square ft of each lift of placement.
 - 2. CLSM shall be tested each batch being placed or every 300 cubic yards that is placed.
 - 3. Pipe backfill shall have one test every 80 feet (2 joints) of backfill placed.

END OF SECTION

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

DIVISION 32 EXTERIOR IMPROVEMENTS

SECTION 32 16 00 DRIVEWAYS, SIDEWALKS, CURBS, GUTTERS, AND OTHER CONCRETE FLATWORK

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 RELATED DOCUMENTS

A. Drawings and general provisions of the Contract, including General and Supplementary Conditions and Division 1 Specification Sections, apply to this Section.

1.2 SUMMARY

- A. This Section includes exterior cement concrete flatwork such as but not limited to the following:
 - 1. Driveways.
 - 2. Curbs ,gutters and waterways
 - 3. Sidewalks and Walkways.
 - 4. Other exterior site concrete flatwork
- B. Related Sections include the following:
 - 1. Division 2 Section 31 23 00 Earthwork for subgrade preparation, grading, and base course.
 - 2. Division 2 Section 32 13 73 Pavement Joint Sealants for joint sealants of joints in concrete flatwork and at isolation joints of concrete flatwork with adjacent construction.

1.3 REFERENCES

AASHTO M 6	Standard Specification for Fine Aggregate for Portland Cement Concrete
AASHTO M 154	Standard Specification for Air-Entraining Admixtures for Concrete
AASHTO M 80	Standard Specification for Coarse Aggregate for Portland cement Concrete
AASHTO M 182	Standard Specification for Burlap Cloth Made from Jute or Kenaf and Cotton Mats
ACI 117	Standard Tolerances for Concrete Construction and Materials
ACI 301	Specifications for Structural Concrete for Buildings; American Concrete Institute International; 1996.
ACI 305 R	Hot Weather Concreting; American Concrete Institute International; 1991.

ACI 306 R	Cold Weather Concreting; American Concrete Institute International; 1988.
ACI CP-1(08)	Technical Workbook for ACI Certification of Concrete Field Testing Technician-Grade
ASTM A 307	Standard Specification for Carbon Steel Bolts and Studs, 60,000 PSI Tensile Strength
ASTM A 615/A 615M	Standard Specification for Deformed and Plain Billet-Steel Bars for Concrete Reinforcement; 1996a.
ASTM C 31/C31 M	Standard Practice for Making and Curing Concrete Test Specimens in the Field.
ASTM C 33	Standard Specification for Concrete Aggregates; 1993.
ASTM C 39/C39 M	Standard Test Method for Compressive Strength of Cylindrical Concrete Specimens; 1996.
ASTM C 94/C94M	Standard Specification for Ready-Mixed Concrete; 1996.
ASTM C 143	Standard Test Method for Slump of Hydraulic Cement Concrete
ASTM C 150	Standard Specification for Portland Cement; 1996.
ASTM C 171	Standard Specification for Sheet Materials for Curing Concrete; 1997.
ASTM C 172	Standard Practice for Sampling Freshly Mixed Concrete
ASTM C 231	Standard Test Method for Air Content of Freshly Mixed Concrete by the Pressure Method; 1994a.
ASTM C 260	Standard Specification for Air-Entraining Admixtures for Concrete; 1995.
ASTM C 494	Standard Specification for Chemical Admixtures for Concrete.
ASTM C 618	Standard Specification for Coal Fly Ash and Raw or Calcined Natural Pozzolan for Use as a Mineral Admixture in Portland Cement Concrete; 1996a.
ASTM C 881	Standard Specification for Epoxy-Resin-Base Bonding Systems for Concrete; 1990.
ASTM C 1017/C 1017M	Standard Specification for Chemical Admixtures for Use in Producing Flowing Concrete

ASTM C 1059/C1059 M	Standard Specification for Latex Agents for Bonding Fresh To Hardened Concrete
ASTM C 1064	Standard Test Method for Temperature of Freshly Mixed Portland Cement Concrete.
ASTM C 1077	Standard Practice for Laboratories Testing Concrete and Concrete Aggregates for Use in Construction and Criteria for Laboratory Evaluation
ASTM D 1751	Standard Specification for Preformed Expansion Joint Filler for Concrete Paving and Structural Construction (Nonextruding and Resilient Bituminous Types); 1983 (reapproved 1991).
ASTM D 1752	Standard Specification for Preformed Sponge Rubber Cork and Recycled PVC Expansion Joint Fillers for Concrete Paving and Structural Construction
ASTM E 329	Standard Specification for Agencies Engaged in Construction Inspection and/or Testing
FS TT-P-1952	Pavement Markings

1.4 DEFINITIONS

A. Cementitious Materials: Portland cement alone or in combination with fly ash.

1.5 SUBMITTALS

- A. Design Mixtures: For each concrete flatwork mixture satisfying the requirements of this section. Include alternate mixture designs when characteristics of materials, project conditions, weather, test results, or other circumstances warrant adjustments
 - 1. Mix designs will be approved based on results of trial batches or on past history of mix design successes from project(s) within the last year.
 - 2. Use the same components in the trial batches that are to be used in the project. The Contractor assumes responsibility for the compatibility of all admixtures with the mix design and their potential effects on concrete properties.
 - 3. Personnel performing and witnessing trial batches, and performing compressive and flexural strength testing, must be performed by an AASHTO accredited laboratory paid for by Contractor.
 - 4. The Owner or Engineer may witness trial batch preparation and testing.
- B. Product Data: For each type of manufactured material and product indicated.
- C. Material Test Reports: From a qualified testing agency indicating and interpreting test results for compliance of the following with requirements indicated, based on comprehensive testing of current materials:
 - 1. Aggregates. Include service record data indicating absence of deleterious expansion of concrete due to alkali-aggregate reactivity.

- 2. For any proposed mix design, provide test results for potential reactivity of coarse and fine aggregates in accordance with the requirements of this section.
- 3. When using potentially reactive aggregates in a mix design, provide results from appropriate testing to determine the ability of the combinations of cementitious materials and aggregates to control the reactivity
- D. Material Certificates: Signed by manufacturers certifying that each of the following materials complies with requirements:
 - 1. Cementitious materials.
 - 2. Steel reinforcement and reinforcement accessories.
 - 3. Fiber reinforcement.
 - 4. Admixtures.
 - 5. Curing compounds.
 - 6. Applied finish materials.
 - 7. Bonding agent or epoxy adhesive.
 - 8. Joint fillers.
- E. Joint Layout Plan: Submit plan showing location and type of each joint to be placed in the concrete flatwork.
- F. Proof of finishers' ACI Certifications
- G. Manufactures recommended installation procedures for joint sealing material which, when accepted by Engineer, will become the basis for accepting or rejecting the actual installation procedures used in the Work.
- H. Delivery tickets shall be provided.
- 1.6 QUALITY ASSURANCE
- A. Manufacturer Qualifications: Manufacturer of ready-mixed concrete products who complies with ASTM C 94/C 94M requirements for production facilities and equipment.
- B. Testing Agency Qualifications: An independent agency qualified according to ASTM C 1077 and ASTM E 329 for testing indicated, as documented according to ASTM E 548.
 - 1. Personnel conducting field tests shall be qualified as ACI Concrete Field Testing Technician, Grade 1, according to ACI CP-1(08) or an equivalent certification program.
- C. ACI Publications: Comply with ACI 301, "Specification for Structural Concrete," unless modified by requirements in the Contract Documents.
- D. Concrete Testing Service: All concrete testing will be done by a testing laboratory of the Owner's choice at the Owner's expense.
- E. Do not change concrete Supplier until Engineer accepts new source and new mix design.
- F. Remove product found defective after installation and install acceptable product at no additional cost to Owner.

G. Foreman of paving crew shall have completed at least three (3) projects of similar size and nature.

1.7 ACCEPTANCE

A. General: Acceptance is by lot. Lot size is specified below for each component.

B. Concrete Mix:

- 1. Lot size is 50 cu. yd. or fraction thereof of each concrete mix placed each day.
- 2. Slump: ASTM C 143/C 143M; one test at point of placement for each composite sample, but not less than one test for each day's pour of each concrete mix. Perform additional tests when concrete consistency appears to change.
- 3. Air Content: ASTM C 231, pressure method; one test for each composite sample, but not less than one test for each day's pour of each concrete mix.
- 4. Concrete Temperature: ASTM C 1064; one test hourly when air temperature is 40 deg F and below and when 80 deg F and above, and one test for each omposite sample.
- 5. For slump, air and temperature reject non-complying batches until 2 consecutive batches are compliant then continue in random batch testing for acceptance.

C. Strength

- 1. Lot size is 50 cu. yd. or fraction thereof of each concrete mix placed each day.
 - a. When frequency of testing will provide fewer than five compressive-strength tests for each concrete mixture, testing shall be conducted from at least five randomly selected batches or from each batch if fewer than five are used.
- 2. Compression Test Specimens: ASTM C 31/C 31M; cast and laboratory cure one set of five standard cylinder specimens for each composite sample.
- 3. Compressive-Strength Tests: ASTM C 39/C 39M; test 1 specimen at 7 days and 2 specimens at 28 days.
- 4. Strength of each lot will be satisfactory if the average compressive strength from 2 specimens obtained from same composite sample and tested at 28 days equals or exceeds specified compressive strength and no compressive-strength test value falls below specified compressive strength by more than 500 psi.
- 5. Remaining cylinders shall be held to verify test results, if required.

D. Installation:

- 1. Grades, finishes, cross-slopes and dimensions of completed pavement shall be checked for compliance with plan requirements. Standing water in curb and gutter or "bird baths" in flatwork are not permitted and shall be immediately corrected by removal of failed areas and replacement per these specifications and directions of the Engineer at no additional cost to the owner.
- E. Test Results: Test results shall be reported in writing to Engineer, concrete manufacturer, and Contractor within 48 hours of testing. Reports of compressive-strength tests shall contain Project identification name and number, date of concrete placement, name of concrete testing and inspecting agency, location of concrete batch in Work, design compressive strength at 28 days, concrete mixture proportions and materials, compressive breaking strength, and type of break for both 7- and 28-day tests.

- F. Nondestructive Testing: Impact hammer, sonoscope, or other nondestructive device may be permitted by Engineer but will not be used as sole basis for approval or rejection of concrete.
- G. Additional Tests: Engineer may direct testing and inspecting agency to make additional tests of concrete when test results indicate that slump, air entrainment, compressive strengths, or other requirements have not been met.
- H. Remove and replace concrete pavement where test results indicate that it does not comply with specified requirements.
- I. Additional testing and inspecting, at Contractor's expense will be performed to determine compliance of replaced or additional work with specified requirements.

1.8 PROJECT CONDITIONS

- A. Traffic Control: Maintain access for vehicular and pedestrian traffic as required for other construction activities.
- B. Weather: Concrete placement shall conform to the requirements of ACI 305 R and ACI 306 R for hot and cold weather.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.1 MANUFACTURERS

- A. In other Part 2 articles where titles below introduce lists, the following requirements apply to product selection:
 - 1. Available Products: Subject to compliance with requirements, products that may be incorporated into the Work include, but are not limited to, products specified.
 - 2. Products: Subject to compliance with requirements, provide one of the products specified.
 - 3. Available Manufacturers: Subject to compliance with requirements, manufacturers offering products that may be incorporated into the Work include, but are not limited to, manufacturers specified.
 - 4. Manufacturers: Subject to compliance with requirements, provide products by one of the manufacturers specified.

2.2 FORMS

- A. Form Materials: Plywood, metal, metal-framed plywood, or other approved panel-type materials to provide full-depth, continuous, straight, smooth exposed surfaces.
 - 1. Use flexible or curved forms for curves with a radius 100 feet or less.
- B. Form-Release Agent: Commercially formulated form-release agent that will not bond with, stain, or adversely affect concrete surfaces and will not impair subsequent treatments of concrete surfaces.

2.3 STEEL REINFORCEMENT

A. Reinforcing Bars: ASTM A 615/A 615M, Grade 60; deformed, epoxy coated

2.4 CONCRETE MATERIALS

- A. Cementitious Material: Use the following cementitious materials, of the same type, brand, and source throughout the Project:
 - 1. Portland Cement: ASTM C 150, Type II.
 - 2. Do not use cement that contains lumps or is partially set.
 - 3. Do not mix cements originating from different sources.
 - Do not use air-entrained cement.
- B. Normal-Weight Aggregates: ASTM C 33, Class 4S coarse aggregate, uniformly graded. Provide aggregates from a single source with documented service record data of at least 10 years' satisfactory service in similar concrete flatwork applications and service conditions using similar aggregates and cementitious materials.
 - 1. Maximum Coarse-Aggregate Size: 3/4 inch nominal
 - 2. Fine Aggregate: Free of materials with deleterious reactivity to alkali in cement.
- C. Mixing Water:
 - 1. For standard Type II Cement: ASTM C 94/C 94M
- D. Air-Entraining Admixture: ASTM C 260.
- E. Chemical Admixtures: Provide admixtures certified by manufacturer to be compatible with other admixtures and to contain not more than 0.1 percent water-soluble chloride ions by mass of cementitious material.
 - 1. Water-Reducing Admixture: ASTM C 494/C 494M, Type A.
 - 2. Retarding Admixture: ASTM C 494/C 494M, Type B.
 - 3. Water-Reducing and Retarding Admixture: ASTM C 494/C 494M, Type D.
 - 4. High-Range, Water-Reducing Admixture: ASTM C 494/C 494M, Type F.
 - 5. High-Range, Water-Reducing and Retarding Admixture: ASTM C 494/C 494M, Type G.
 - 6. Plasticizing and Retarding Admixture: ASTM C 1017/C 1017M, Type II.

2.5 CURING MATERIALS

- A. Absorptive Cover: AASHTO M 182, Class 2, burlap cloth made from jute or kenaf, weighing approximately 9 oz. /sq. yd. dry.
- B. Moisture-Retaining Cover: ASTM C 171, polyethylene film or white burlap-polyethylene sheet.
- C. Water: Potable.
- D. Evaporation Retarder: Waterborne, monomolecular film forming; manufactured for application to fresh concrete. Evaporation Retarder shall not be used as a finishing aid.

2.6 RELATED MATERIALS

A. Expansion- and Isolation-Joint-Filler Strips: ASTM D 1751, asphalt-saturated cellulosic fiber or ASTM D 1752, cork or self-expanding cork.

2.7 CONCRETE MIXTURES

- A. Prepare design mixtures, proportioned according to ACI 301, for each type and strength of normal-weight concrete determined by either laboratory trial mixes or field experience.
 - 1. Use a qualified independent testing agency for preparing and reporting proposed concrete mixture designs for the trial batch method.
- B. Proportion mixtures to provide normal-weight concrete with the following properties:
 - 1. Compressive Strength (28 Days): 4000 psi.
 - 2. Maximum Water-Cementitious Materials Ratio at Point of Placement: 0.44.
 - 3. Do not exceed water/cementitious ratio.
 - 4. Calculate the water/cementitious ratio (w/c) according to the following formula:
 - a. W = Water
 - b. C Cement + Pozzolan
 - 5. Concrete Slump Limits:
 - a. For concrete not containing water reducers, 4 inches, plus or minus 1 inch.
 - b. For concrete containing low range water reducers: 1 inch to 5 inches for all classes of concrete.
 - c. For concrete containing high range water reducers: 4 inches to 9 inches for all classes of concrete.
 - 6. Cement Content: 6.5 bags
- C. Add air-entraining admixture at manufacturer's prescribed rate to result in normal-weight concrete having an air content as follows:
 - 1. Air Content: 6 percent plus or minus 1.0 percent for 3/4-inch nominal maximum aggregate size at point of placement.
 - 2. The range listed represents air content at point of placement. Make necessary adjustments for impacts to air content due method of placement.
- D. Limit water-soluble, chloride-ion content in hardened concrete to 0.15 percent by weight of cement.
- E. Chemical Admixtures: Use admixtures according to manufacturer's written instructions.
- F. Cementitious Materials: Limit percentage, by weight, of cementitious materials other than portland cement according to ACI 301 requirements for concrete exposed to deicing chemicals:
- 2.8 POZZOLAN
- A. Fly Ash:
 - 1. Fly ash must conform to ASTM C 618 Class F specifications with the following modifications:
 - a. Loss on Ignition (LOI): not to exceed 3 percent.

- b. Maximum allowable CaO content: not to exceed 15 percent.
- c. Label the storage silo for fly ash to distinguish it from cement.
- d. Use different size unloading hoses and fittings for cement and fly ash.
- e. When used as partial portland cement replacement, the fly ash may replace 20% of the cement by weight.
- 2. Fly ash may be sampled and tested for compliance at any time.

2.9 CONCRETE MIXING

- A. Ready-Mixed Concrete: Measure, batch, and mix concrete materials and concrete according to ASTM C 94/C 94M. Furnish batch certificates for each batch discharged and used in the Work.
 - 1. When air temperature is between 85 deg F and 90 deg F, reduce mixing and delivery time from 1-1/2 hours to 75 minutes; when air temperature is above 90 deg F, reduce mixing and delivery time to 60 minutes.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1 CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT

- A. When automatic machine placement is used for placement, submit revised mix design and laboratory test results that meet or exceed requirements. Produce sidewalks, curbs, curbs and gutters, and other flatwork to required cross section, lines, grades, finish, and jointing as specified for formed concrete. If results are not approved, remove and replace with formed concrete.
 - 1. Compact subbase and prepare subgrade of sufficient width to prevent displacement of paver machine during operations.

3.2 EXAMINATION

- A. Examine exposed subgrades and base surfaces for compliance with requirements for dimensional, grading, and elevation tolerances.
- B. Proceed with concrete flatwork operations only after nonconforming conditions have been corrected and subgrade and base is ready to receive flatwork.

3.3 PREPARATION

- A. Assure the subgrade or base for the concrete has a firm even surface and is compacted meeting the requirements of Section 31 23 00 Earthwork.
- B. Remove loose material from compacted base surface immediately before placing concrete.
- C. Remove sand, leaves, trash, rubbish, topsoil, and other objectionable materials prior to placing concrete.
- D. Coat the surface of street fixtures with oil to prevent bond with concrete flatwork.
- E. Notify Engineer a minimum of 48 hours prior to commencing laying operations.

3.4 LAYOUT

- A. Curb, Gutter, Curb and Gutter, Waterways: Set lines, forms, screeds, etc to meet the following requirements:
 - 1. Line: Less than $\frac{1}{2}$ inch variance in 10 feet and not more than 1 inch from true line at any location.
 - 2. Grade: Not more than ¼ inch variance in 10 feet. Flood curb and gutter and waterway with water after final cure has been reached. Remove and replace any area where ponding is found.
- B. Sidewalk and Walkways: Set forms, screeds, etc to meet the following requirements:
 - 1. Cross-slope shall not be less than 1.5% nor more than 2%.
 - 2. Landings and doorway aprons shall not slope more than 2% in any direction.
- C. Layout shall meet the requirements as given in the construction plans.

3.5 EDGE FORMS AND SCREED CONSTRUCTION

- A. Set, brace, and secure edge forms, bulkheads, and intermediate screed guides for flatwork to required lines, grades, and elevations. Install forms to allow continuous progress of work and so forms can remain in place at least 24 hours after concrete placement.
- B. Check formwork for grade and alignment variance from the following tolerances:
 - 1. Top of forms shall not be more than ¼ inch from design grade
 - 2. Vertical face on longitudinal axis shall not be more than ¼-inch from true line.
- C. Place joint filler in vertical position, in straight lines and secure to formwork during concrete placement.
- D. Clean forms after each use and coat with form-release agent to ensure separation from concrete without damage.

3.6 CONCRETE PLACEMENT

- A. Inspection: Before placing concrete, inspect and complete formwork installation, grade lines, steel reinforcement, and items to be embedded or cast in. Notify other trades to permit installation of their work. Inspect formwork for line and grade and make corrections as required.
- B. Remove snow, ice, or frost from base surface before placing concrete. Do not place concrete on frozen surfaces.
- C. Obtain Engineer's review of base, forms, lines, etc. before placing concrete. Engineer's review does not relieve the Contractor's responsibility to ensure all Work is in compliance with the contract documents and these requirements and correct defective Work as required.
- D. At the beginning of concrete placement, test slump, temperature and air entrainment. If corrections are necessary, placement may proceed after 2 subsequent and consecutive batches pass testing.

- E. Moisten base to provide a uniform dampened condition, without standing water, at time concrete is placed.
- F. Do not place concrete around manholes or other structures until they are at required finish elevation, cross-slope and alignment.
- G. Comply with ACI 301 requirements for measuring, mixing, transporting, and placing concrete.
- H. Do not add water to concrete during delivery to the Project site.
- I. Water may not be added to the delivery truck at the project site prior to discharge unless approved by the Engineer. If water is added at the project site, record quantity of water added on delivery ticket.
- J. Site-added air-entrainment. (Meet AASHTO M 154)
 - 1. Limit the use of site-added air-entraining agents to one addition (regardless of quantity) per load
 - 2. Use pre-measured admixtures.
 - 3. Record amount used on batch ticket.
 - 4. Rotate the drum at least 30 revolutions at the mixing speed recommended by the manufacturer.
- K. Do not add water to fresh concrete after testing.
- L. Deposit and spread concrete in a continuous operation. Prevent segregation of concrete mix. If placement operations are interrupted for more than 30 minutes, place a construction joint.
- M. Place concrete so time between end of placement and beginning of finishing is less than 15 minutes.
- N. Consolidate concrete with vibrator or other acceptable method. Do not use mechanical vibrators. Prevent dislocation of inserts.
- O. Cold-Weather Placement: Comply with ACI 306.R and as follows. Protect concrete work from physical damage or reduced strength that could be caused by frost, freezing actions, or low temperatures.
 - 1. When air temperature has fallen to or is expected to fall below 40 deg F, uniformly heat water and aggregates before mixing to obtain a concrete mixture temperature of not less than 50 deg F and not more than 80 deg F at point of placement.
 - 2. Do not use frozen materials or materials containing ice or snow.
 - 3. Do not use calcium chloride, salt, or other materials containing antifreeze agents or chemical accelerators unless otherwise specified and approved in mix designs.
- P. Hot-Weather Placement: Comply with ACI 301 and as follows when hot-weather conditions exist:
 - 1. Cool ingredients before mixing to maintain concrete temperature below 90 deg F at time of placement. Chilled mixing water or chopped ice may be used to control temperature, provided water equivalent of ice is calculated to total amount of mixing water. Using liquid nitrogen to cool concrete is Contractor's option.

- 2. Cover steel reinforcement with water-soaked burlap so steel temperature will not exceed ambient air temperature immediately before embedding in concrete.
- 3. Fog-spray forms, steel reinforcement, and subgrade just before placing concrete. Keep subgrade moisture uniform without standing water, soft spots, or dry areas.

3.7 IOINTS

A. General:

1. Review joint layout plan with Engineer.

B. Isolation/Expansion Joints:

- 1. Geometrics: ½ inch wide full depth filler that is flush with concrete surface. Do not place seal over top of filler.
- 2. Sidewalks, Walkways, Sidewalk Ramps:
 - Place isolation joints to separate sidewalk from utility poles, hydrants, manhole frames, buildings, abutting sidewalks and other street fixtures or structures.
 - b. Place isolation joints between the sidewalk and the back of curb returns and between the sidewalk and sidewalk ramps.
 - c. Do not place isolation joints in sidewalk ramp surfaces.
- 3. Curb, Gutter, Curb and Gutter, Waterway:
 - a. Do not place longitudinal joints in gutter flow-lines.
 - b. Where gutter transitions extend beyond the curb return, place expansion joints at the ends of the gutters transition.
 - c. Place isolation joints at beginning of curb radius and end of curb radius.
- 4. Slip Form Work: Expansion joints are not required except at beginning of curb radius, end of curb radius, structures, street fixtures, inserts, foundations and other structures.
- 5. Driveway approach: Do not place isolation joints in curb returns.
- C. Contraction Joints: Contraction joints (crack control joints) are scorelines made to force crack joint location in concrete. Form weakened-plane contraction joints, sectioning concrete into areas as indicated.
 - 1. Geometrics:
 - a. Tooled Joints (score lines)
 - b. Construct contraction joints to a depth equal to at least one-fourth $(1/4^{th})$ of the concrete thickness
 - c. Top radius of joints shall be $\frac{1}{2}$ inch.
 - d. Saw Cut Joints: Saw joints before uncontrolled shrinkage cracking occurs. Do not tear or ravel concrete during sawing.
 - e. Template Joints: 1/8 to 3/16 inch wide, ¼ depth of concrete.
 - 2. Sidewalks.
 - a. Place contraction joints at intervals equal to the width of the sidewalk and transverse to the direction of travel.
 - b. Place radial contraction joints curves and curb returns.
 - c. Place longitudinal contraction joints in walks when width of walk in feet is greater the 2 times the walk thickness in inches. (e.g. maximum width of a 4 inch thick walk before placement of a longitudinal contraction joint is 8 feet.) Make longitudinal joints parallel to, or concentric with, the lines of the walk.

- d. In walk returns make one joint radially midway between the beginning of curb return and end of curb return. Match the longitudinal and transverse joints with adjacent walks.
- 3. Curb, Gutter, Curb and Gutter, Waterway.
 - a. Place joints at intervals not exceeding 12 feet.
 - b. At curb radius and walk return make the joints radial.
 - c. Where integral curb and gutter is adjacent to concrete pavement, align the joints with the pavement joints, where practical.
- 4. Other Flatwork:
 - a. Joint Spacing, in feet, shall be twice the slab thickness measured in inches, unless otherwise indicated. (i.e. Slab thickness is 6-inches, joint spacing shall be 12-feet.) Joint spacing shall not exceed 15 feet.
 - b. Sawed Joints: Form contraction joints with power saws equipped with shatterproof abrasive or diamond-rimmed blades. Cut 1/8-inch- wide joints into concrete when cutting action will not tear, abrade, or otherwise damage surface and before developing random contraction cracks.
 - c. Keep a minimum of three (3) working power saws on site when concrete operations are underway.
 - d. Longitudinal joint spacing shall match the transverse joint spacing.
 - e. Transverse joints shall extend across the width of the pavement and meet the joints of the adjoining concrete surfaces (i.e. sidewalk, curb and gutter, etc.).
- D. Volunteer Crack Joints: If a volunteer crack joint occurs within any flatwork of this section, sawcut and remove cracked section at nearest contraction joints and replace the section at no additional cost to the owner.
- 3.8 FINISHING
- A. General: Do not add water to concrete surfaces during finishing operations.
- B. Edging: Tool edges of pavement, gutters, curbs, and joints in concrete after initial floating with an edging tool to a 1/2-inch radius. Repeat tooling of edges after applying surface finishes. Eliminate tool marks on concrete surfaces.
- C. Apply broom finish longitudinal to curb, gutter, curb and gutter, and waterway flowline.
- D. Apply broom finish transverse to sidewalk, walkway and other flatwork centerline as follows:
 - 1. Fine hair finish where grades are less than 6 percent.
 - 2. Rough hair finish where grades exceed 6 percent.
- E. Remove form marks, tool marks, and other irregularities from finish surfaces.
- 3.9 CONCRETE PROTECTION AND CURING
- A. General: Protect freshly placed concrete from premature drying and excessive cold or hot temperatures.
- B. Comply with ACI 306 R for cold-weather protection.

- C. Evaporation Retarder: Apply evaporation retarder to concrete surfaces if hot, dry, or windy conditions cause moisture loss approaching 0.2 lb/sq. ft. x h before and during finishing operations. Apply according to manufacturer's written instructions after placing, screeding, and bull floating or darbying concrete, but before float finishing.
- D. Begin curing after finishing concrete but not before free water has disappeared from concrete surface.
- E. Curing Methods: Cure concrete by moisture curing, moisture-retaining-cover curing, curing compound, or a combination of these as follows:
 - 1. Curing Compound: Use a Type ID, Class A (clear with fugitive dye) membrane forming compound. Apply total coverage in 2 directions after texturing. Recoat areas subjected to heavy rainfall within three hours after initial application. Maintain continuity of coating and repair damage during curing period.
 - 2. Eliminate thermal shock of concrete by keeping cure temperatures even throughout extent and depth on concrete slab.

3.10 REPAIRS AND PROTECTION

- A. Remove and replace concrete flatwork that is broken, damaged, or defective or that does not comply with requirements in this Section.
- B. Protect concrete from damage. Do not allow steel wheel rollers or steel wheel vehicles on the concrete flatwork.
- C. Exclude traffic from concrete flatwork for at least 14 days after placement or until 100 percent of the design strength has been achieved as demonstrated by concrete cylinder compression tests.
- D. If construction traffic is permitted, maintain concrete flatwork as clean as possible by removing surface stains and spillage of materials as they occur.
- E. Protect fresh concrete from vandals, damage, pedestrian traffic, etc. Repair damaged section immediately to the satisfaction of the Engineer.
- F. Remove saw-cut dust immediately. Do not allow saw-cut dust to be flushed down storm drains or into adjacent wetlands or landscaping areas.
- G. Maintain concrete flatwork free of stains, discoloration, dirt, and other foreign material. Sweep concrete flatwork not more than two days before date scheduled for Substantial Completion inspections.

END OF SECTION

SECTION 32 80 00 LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION SYSTEM

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SUMMARY OF PROJECT

- A. Work to be done on Project shall:
 - 1. Include all labor, materials, equipment, tools and transportation.
 - 2. Perform all operations, in connection with and reasonably incidental to; the complete installation of the irrigation system.
 - 3. Follow direction is shown on the plan sheets, legend, notes, details, specifications (the Construction Documents, hereafter referred to as CD's).
- B. Items of work specifically included are:
 - 1. Procurement of all applicable licenses and permits.
 - 2. Payment of any fees for connection to water source and power source.
 - 3. Coordination of location of underground utilities, by contacting local services: 'Blue Stakes' or 'Call Before You Dig'.
 - 4. Sleeving necessary for irrigation pipe and wire.
 - 5. Provision for and connection of the electrical power supply to the irrigation control system.
 - 6. One-year warranty of all irrigation components and all labor required to install.
 - 7. 90-day maintenance period of irrigation system and components.
- C. All disturbed areas shall receive irrigation unless specifically indicated on CD's.
- D. Revise, repair, and/or restore existing irrigation system to continue operation of existing components and to accommodate new construction. All plant material on the Project shall be irrigated unless specifically indicated on CD's.
- E. Contractor shall note that location or routing of irrigation components on CD's is approximate. Piping, sleeving and/or other components may be shown schematically on CD's for graphic clarity and to demonstrate component groupings and separations. All irrigation components shall be placed in landscaped areas, except for pipe and wire in sleeving under hardscaped areas.

1.2 **DEFINITIONS**

- A. Construction Documents: All documents provided to Contractor for proper installation of irrigation system; including plan sheets, legend, notes, details, specifications and supplemental plan issues or addenda. Referred to in this section by the acronym CD's.
- B. Contract: For the purposes of the irrigation section of the specification, (Section 32 80 00) this term refers to the Contract, Sub-Contract, or portion of the Contract dealing <u>only</u> with the irrigation system.

- C. Contractor: For the purposes of the irrigation section of the specification this term refers to the specific contractor or sub-contractor responsible for installation of the irrigation system for this project.
- D. GPM: Acronym for Gallons per Minute.
- E. Isolation Valve: A manual valve located on the main line that when shut off, will remove constant pressure to a specific section of the main line and corresponding downstream irrigation components.
- F. Line Valve: A manual valve located on the main line that when shut off, restricts flow in the main line. More than one line valve must be shut off to isolate a section of main line and corresponding downstream irrigation components.
- G. Lateral Line Piping: Circuit piping downstream of remote-control valve (RCV) providing water to sprinkler heads, bubblers, or drip components. Under pressure only when RCV activated and opened.
- H. Line Voltage Wiring: Wiring used to convey power to electrically operated equipment on the Project, such as 120 VAC, 240 VAC, or 480 3PH VAC.
- I. Low Voltage Wiring: Wiring used to convey power to irrigation system components, such as RCV's, master valve, flow meter, decoders, etc. An example would be: 14 AWG PE UL RCV control wire.
- J. Main Line Piping: Piping downstream of Point of Connection (POC). Provides water to RCV's, Quick Couplers, and hose bibs. Normally under constant pressure.
- K. OAR: Acronym for Owner's Approved Representative. This individual designated by Owner who is authorized to make decisions on behalf of the Owner. This individual is authorized by the Owner to direct actions of the Contractor. This individual shall have detailed involvement in the project and be on Project site at regular intervals.
- L. POC: Acronym for Point of Connection. The physical location of the water source for this Project, and the actual components installed connecting to the water source. May require Contractor to provide additional saddles, valves, nipples, fittings, spools etc. to provide water to the Project.
- M. RCV: Acronym for Remote Control Valve. An electrically operated 24 VAC valve.
- N. Static Pressure: Pressure measured at the POC, with no flow taking place within the system.
- O. Water Supply: Potable, and/or Non-Potable, and/or Effluent piping and components, furnished and installed by trades or contractors other than the irrigation contractor; to provide irrigation water to this Project upstream of (prior to) the POC.
- 1.3 ELIGIBILITY TO BID
- A. The minimum level of expectation for Experience and Qualifications required to be eligible to bid the irrigation system on this Project are listed below in this section.

- 1. See Sections referring to 'Experience, Qualifications and Certifications' for more information and details.
- 2. Contractor shall follow these requirements at the bid date.
- B. Contractor shall be prepared to submit documentation supporting their Experience and Qualifications to the General Contractor and the OAR within 48 hours of bid date. Failure to provide supporting documents within 48 hours of bid may result in elimination of the Contractor's bid or his ability to work on this Project.
- C. Failure to meet the minimum requirements for Experience and Qualifications may result in elimination of the Contractor's bid or his ability to work on this Project.
- D. Requirements for documentation of Certifications are also listed below in the same Section. Contractor shall not be required to submit documentation of Certification at Bid date, but at date indicated.

1.4 PROJECT CONDITIONS

- A. Contractor shall accept Project site in 'as-is' condition.
- B. Contractor shall revise, restore, repair existing irrigation system to return to or continue operation of system outside project area of disturbance.
- C. Interruption of water service
 - 1. Should irrigation installation require shut-down of existing Project irrigation system, Contractor shall be responsible to coordinate with and receive approval from OAR. Contractor shall be responsible to restore operation of existing irrigation systems within 48 hours.
 - 2. Contractor shall be responsible for continuous provision of irrigation water maintaining all existing or new plant material on Project in a healthy condition during full term of this project.
- D. Contractor shall maintain Project work area in a safe condition, and provide flagging, taping, barricades, trench covering, shoring and or fencing necessary to maintain safety.

1.5 PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

- A. Minimum pressure and minimum flow required:
 - 1. Irrigation CD's expect that the POC has available a minimum static pressure and a minimum flow capable to safely and efficiently operate irrigation system as designed. Minimum design requirements are listed in plan legend.
 - 2. Contractor shall perform static/working pressure and volume test within 48 hours of commencement of work and provide written results to OAR.
- B. Responsibility for coverage:
 - 1. Irrigation system basic design intent is to provide 100% coverage of sprinklers (also known as double coverage or head-to-head coverage.)

- 2. Contractor shall have authority to make minor adjustments to actual placement of sprinkler heads or irrigation components vs. locations shown on plan, in order to best achieve full coverage indicated above, without significant overspray on hardscapes, buildings or other project features.
- 3. Contractor shall notify OAR in writing of potential discrepancies or weaknesses due to field conditions; in implementing irrigation CD's.

C. Layout of Components

- 1. During layout and staking, consult with OAR to verify proper placement of major irrigation components.
- 2. Contractor shall not proceed with implementation of CD's without OAR's approval.
- 3. Contractor shall have authority to make minor adjustments to pipe routing or equipment locations due to conflicts with site utilities or other obstructions.

1.6 SEQUENCING

- A. Contractor shall contact local utility locator service at least 48 hours prior to commencement of work on the Project.
- B. Contractor shall familiarize with himself with site utilities and hazards prior to commencement of work.
- C. Contractor shall coordinate this work with other work by other trades on Project as well as other landscape tasks on Project.
- D. Install sleeving prior to installation of concrete flat work, paving or other permanent site elements as needed.
- E. Irrigation system Point of Connection components, backflow prevention and pressure regulation devices shall be installed and operational prior to all downstream components.
- F. All main lines shall be thoroughly flushed of all debris prior to installation of Remote-Control Valves.
- G. All lateral lines shall be thoroughly flushed of all debris prior to installation of any sprinkler heads.

1.7 REFERENCE DOCUMENTS

- A. The following references apply to this project, the Contractor shall be responsible to be familiar with, refer to, and implement these references in completion of this project:
 - 1. ASTM American Society for Testing and Materials.
 - 2. Irrigation Association: Turf and Landscape Irrigation Best Management Practices (BMPs).
 - 3. American Society of Irrigation Consultants (ASIC) 'ASIC Guideline 100-2002 (January 2, 2002) For Earth Grounding Electronic Equipment in Irrigation Systems.
 - 4. Utah Irrigation Professionals document: Minimum Standards for Landscape Design and Construction.

- 5. Any other existing local governing agency codes, ordinances and/or any standards, details and specifications for irrigation agency may have.
- 6. Applicable industry codes, ordinances or standards such as (but not limited to) UBC or NEC.
- B. Generally, this specification section shall take precedence over all others. Any discrepancies discovered by Contractor shall be brought to OAR's attention within 8 hours via telephone and within 48 hours in writing. Contractor shall not proceed with work until OAR provided direction or approval.

1.8 RELATED SPECIFICATION SECTIONS

A. 32 90 00 Landscaping

1.9 SUBMITTALS

- A. Contractor shall follow format and requirements as set forth in General Conditions section of this specification document for materials submittals.
- B. Contractor shall provide submittal for irrigation equipment and materials prior to ordering or taking delivery of any products.
- C. Equipment or materials purchased or installed prior to receiving written submittal approval is at risk of rejection by OAR. Contractor may be liable for removal or replacement of any or all non-approved products at his own expense.
- D. Contractor shall provide OAR with 2 copies of Operations and Maintenance manual, containing:
 - 1. Copy of approved submittal products
 - 2. Instruction for Spring Start-up and Winterization.
 - 3. Site map showing Controller zones, each zone distinguished by a different color.
 - 4. Table showing typical Controller program schedule for worst case day.
 - 5. Copy of control system certification if required for this Project.

1.10 EXPERIENCE

- A. Contractor shall provide an Experience resume or document; in pdf format, indicating:
 - 1. That Contractor is licensed to perform landscape and irrigation construction in the State where Project resides.
 - 2. That Contractor is bondable and insured for the work to be performed.
 - 3. That Contractor has been installing sprinkler systems on commercial projects for the last five previous years.
 - 4. References of five projects of similar scope and size completed within the last five years. Three of the projects listed shall be local.

1.11 QUALIFICATIONS

- A. Contractor shall provide a <u>Qualifications</u> resume or document; in pdf format indicating:
 - 1. That Contractor currently employs both skilled and unskilled workers in enough quantities to complete project within time limits indicated by Contract.
 - 2. A list of employees to be assigned to this project and their irrigation experience.
 - 3. Contractor shall include a listing of the supplier(s) where irrigation related material will be purchased for this Project.
 - 4. That Contractor possesses proper power equipment of appropriate size and quantity to complete project within time limits indicated by Contract.
 - 5. Person on project site, in charge of irrigation daily field operations: (Project Foreman, Superintendent, Supervisor etc.)
 - a. Has at least five consecutive years of commercial irrigation experience.
 - b. This person can communicate with OAR. Is fluent in reading, writing and speaking English.
 - c. Is a <u>Certified Irrigation Contractor (CIC)</u> in good standing as set forth by the Irrigation Association. This person shall be on the project site at least 75% of each working day.
 - Contractor's CIC shall be a regular full-time employee of the Contractor firm, or a sub-contractor to Contractor, where subcontractor's firm provides all irrigation installation for the Project and meets all listed requirements for Experience, Qualifications and Certifications.
 - ii. NOTE: Contractor shall not engage a CIC as a consultant or representative to oversee Contractor's staff install the Project irrigation system, i.e. the Contractor shall not 'rent' a CIC or CIC's license.

1.12 CERTIFICATIONS

- A. Contractor shall provide copies of appropriate <u>Certification</u> documents for all applicable staff. In order to provide a minimum level of workmanship, all installation personnel expected to perform any tasks involving PVC pipe, electrical components, and or drip components; shall have Certificates for each task they perform as designated below:
 - 1. All installation personnel who will work on PVC pipe and PVC fittings in the irrigation system shall be certified by IPS Corporation. The certification shall cover PVC pipe and fitting assembly using solvent weld joining techniques. It is the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain such certification and to provide a copy of the "Certificate of Completion" for each person handling PVC products on the project to the OAR prior to commencement of work. It is the Contractors responsibility to contact IPS Corporation and then the local IPS authorized representative well in advance of commencement of work to schedule his/her attending of a scheduled seminar or to make an appointment to schedule a new seminar. Contact IPS Corporation, Weld-On Customer Service at 800 421-2677, to obtain a referral for the local IPS factory authorized representative contact information.
 - 2. All installation personnel who will work on the electrical circuits of the irrigation system shall be certified by Paige Electric Co., LP. The certification shall cover irrigation wires, cables, proper installation and splicing methods, and protecting electronic equipment from lightning and power surges. It is the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain such certification and to provide a copy of the "Certificate of

Completion" for each person installing electrical products on the project to the OAR prior to commencement of work. It is the Contractors responsibility to contact Paige Electric well in advance of commencement of work to schedule his/her attending of a scheduled seminar or to make an appointment for a new one. Contact Vince Nolletti, Vice President Irrigation Operations, Paige Electric Co, LP, 559 431-2346.

- 3. If Drip irrigation products are to be used on this Project, all installation personnel who will work on drip components of the irrigation system shall be certified by the manufacturer of the corresponding drip products specified to be used on the Project. The certification shall cover proper application and installation of point source and inline drip irrigation products, and adaptation of drip product to Project soil types and infiltration rates. It is the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain such certification and to provide a copy of the "Certificate of Completion" for each person installing drip products on the project to the OAR prior to commencement of work. It is the Contractors responsibility to contact the drip product manufacturer and the local manufacturer's authorized representative well in advance of commencement of work to schedule his/her attending of a scheduled seminar or to make an appointment for a new one. Courtesy contact information for the following manufacturers is shown below)
 - -Rain Bird Corporation—Dave Chandler (801) 664-6798
- 4. Documents verifying certifications for the following shall be provided to OAR through the General Contractor at least 7 days prior to commencement of any irrigation work on the Project:
 - a. PVC Solvent Weld certification
 - b. Electrical certification
 - c. Drip certification

1.13 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. Inspection Scheduling
 - 1. Contractor shall expect a minimum of five irrigation inspections:
 - a. Main Line pipe and wire
 - b. Main Line pressure test
 - c. Progress inspection
 - d. Final inspection
 - e. Completed Punch list inspection

B. Main Line Piping

- 1. Main line pipe shall not be buried until approved by OAR. Pipe buried prior to approval shall be excavated and exposed for OAR's review.
- 2. Upon completion of main line pipe or sections thereof, Contractor shall isolate and pressurize to 150 PSI for two hours. OAR shall determine acceptable amount of loss. Contractor shall expect to provide a test with losses not to exceed between 0.5% and 5%
- 3. Contractor shall provide OAR with 48 hours request prior to testing date and time.
- C. Grounding Resistance Testing

- 1. Pedestal Controllers shall be tested by Licensed Electrical Contractor and show resistance of 10 Ohms or less.
- 2. Grounding not in compliance shall be corrected by Contractor at his expense.
- 3. Specific grounding requirements for Central Control systems shall be met by Contractor or corrected at his expense.

D. Project Record Copy

- 1. Maintain on Project site, one copy of all CD's clearly marked 'Project Record Copy'. Mark any deviation in material installation on CD's. Maintain and update sheets at least weekly.
- 2. Project Record Copy shall be available to OAR on demand.

E. Regulatory Requirements

- 1. Contractor shall comply with all plumbing requirements which direct work to be done by a licensed plumber.
- 2. Contractor shall comply with all electrical requirements which direct work to be done by a licensed electrician.
- 3. All work and materials shall be according to any and all rules, regulations or codes, whether they are local, state or national requirements.
- 4. CD's may not be construed or interpreted to permit work or materials not conforming to the above codes.

F. Adequate Water Supply

- 1. Water supply to this Project is or shall be installed by trades other than the Irrigation Contractor. Connection to this supply at the POC shall be by this Contractor. Contractor shall be responsible to verify that proper connection exists and is of adequate size and pressure.
- 2. Notify OAR verbally immediately and in writing within 48 hours of problems encountered with water supply.

G. Workmanship and Materials

- 1. It is the intent of the Irrigation CD's that all material required shall be of the highest quality available and meeting the requirements specified.
- 2. All work shall be performed in accordance with the best standards of practice relating to this trade.

1.14 PROJECT MATERIALS

- A. Owner shall retain option to purchase materials to be used on Project and provide them to Contractor. Owner shall not provide materials for Project.
- B. Contractor shall not remove materials purchased for this Project from this site.
- C. Contractor shall not store or co-mingle materials for this Project with materials for other Projects on this site.
- D. Delivery, Storage and Handling

- 1. All materials shall be protected from contamination, damage, vandalism and prolonged exposure to sunlight.
- 2. All material stored on project site shall be neatly organized in a compact arrangement, and this storage shall not disrupt project owner or other trades on Project site.
- 3. Project materials shall be handled by Contractor with care necessary to prevent damage or breaking.
- 4. Damaged or blemished materials attributed to Contractor shall be replaced with new, at Contractors expense.
- E. If this Project qualifies for manufacturer rebate, credit or incentive programs; Contractor shall provide OAR with documents in pdf format from distributor and/or manufacturer indicating required information of product purchased and/or dollar value which qualify for corresponding program. Documents shall be delivered within 14 days of purchase of products.

1.15 EXTRA MATERIALS

- A. Furnish the following items to OAR:
 - 1. One (1) 30" gas cock key (also referred to as sprinkler or meter key) for manual drains.
 - 2. One (1) 5-6' key for 2" square operating nut valve.
 - 3. One (1) 5-6' key for stop & waste valve.
 - 4. Two (2) keys for each automatic controller.
 - 5. Two (2) quick coupler keys with hose swivels attached.
 - 6. One (1) quick coupler valve.
 - 7. One (1) of each size or type of remote-control valve used on Project.
 - 8. Five (5) of each sprinkler head and each nozzle used on Project.
 - 9. Two (2) of each type of specialty screwdriver/key/wrench/tool (used to adjust arc, radius, change nozzle etc.) for each type of sprinkler.

1.16 WARRANTY

- A. Contractor shall provide one-year Warranty for Project. Warranty shall cover all material, workmanship and labor.
- B. Warranty period begins upon date of acceptance by OAR that Project is substantially complete.
- C. Warranty shall include filling and/or repairing depressions, replacing turf or other plantings due to settlement of irrigation trenches or irrigation system components, and adjustment of valve boxes, sprinkler heads and all other irrigation components which have settled from proper finish grade.

1.17 ADDITIONAL SERVICES

A. Winterization:

- 1. Contractor shall winterize entire irrigation system installed under this Contract prior to the first winter following installation; prior to hard frost--but no later than November 15th, unless directed otherwise by OAR in writing.
- 2. Winterize entire system via 'blow-out' method, using compressed air.
 - a. Compressor shall be industrial type, capable of evacuating water from all main line and lateral line pipe, with a minimum capacity of 185 CFM.
 - b. Compressor shall be mechanically regulated to not more than 60 PSI.

B. Spring Start-up:

- 1. Contractor shall start up entire irrigation system the Spring following installation; prior to plant need--but following danger of damaging frost, yet no later than April 15th.
- 2. Contractor shall energize entire main line pipe, all RCV's, and check for correct program installation and operation of Controller, each RCV and each quick coupler valve.
- C. As-built documents: Prior to final inspection, prepare and submit to OAR As-built drawings.
 - 1. Show field dimensioned locations of sleeving, POC, mainline piping, wiring runs not in main line pipe trench, and valves/valve boxes.
 - 2. Dimensions are to be taken from permanent site features or finished hardscapes.

1.18 OWNER'S INSTRUCTION

A. After system is installed, inspected, and approved; Contractor shall instruct OAR or other OAR designated individuals in complete operation and maintenance procedures of irrigation system. Coordinate instruction with references to previously submitted Operation and Maintenance manual.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

- 2.1 GENERAL NOTES
- A. Contractor shall use products as specified by CD's.
- 2.2 POWER SOURCE
- A. Power source for irrigation equipment shall not be included in the irrigation Contractor's portion of this Contract.
- 2.3 CENTRAL CONTROL SYSTEM
- A. A Central Control System is not included in this Project. Central Control equipment is not included in this project.
- 2.4 CONTROLLER
- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed on plan legend.

- B. Contractor shall connect control wires and power wires to controller.
- C. Controller shall be wall mounted interior.
- D. Exterior wall mount controllers shall use rigid galvanized steel electrical conduit for all wiring.
- E. PVC pipe, conduit sweeps, and fittings shall not be used for any controller wiring.

2.5 POWER WIRE

A. DIRECT BURY WIRE FOR FIELD LOCATED WALL OR PEDESTAL MOUNTED CONTROLLERS:

- 1. All power cables shall be Paige Wire, type Tray Cable.
- 2. Wire shall be Paige Wire specification number P7266D for 10 AWG and smaller.
- 3. Wire shall be Paige Wire specification number P7267D for 8 AWG and larger.
- 4. 120 VAC wires shall be 3 conductors (hot, neutral and ground)
- 5. 240 VAC cables where service is provided to controller only, shall be 3 conductors (2 hot and 1 ground)
- 6. 240 VAC cables where service is provided to controller and other 120 VAC equipment (such as a convenience outlet) shall be 4 conductors (2 hot, 1 neutral and 1 ground)

B. CONVENTIONAL WIRING FOR WALL MOUNTED CONTROLLERS:

1. Power wire or cable for conventionally wired wall mount or conduit-fed pedestal mount shall be according to local and NEC codes.

2.6 CONTROL WIRE

- A. Remote Control Valve wire shall be Paige Electric specification number P7079D.
- B. Common wire shall be white in color, 12 AWG, Paige part number 150170.
- C. Control or 'hot' wire for projects with a single controller shall be red in color, 14 AWG, Paige part number 150040.
- D. Spare wire shall be orange in color, 14 AWG, Paige wire.
- E. Trace wire shall be Yellow in color, 14 AWG, Paige wire.
- F. Master Valve wire shall be blue in color, 14 AWG, Paige wire.
- G. NO SUBSTITUTIONS ALLOWED.
- 2.7 COMMUNICATION WIRE
- A. Communication wire/Sensor wire shall be Paige brand, model 7171D or P7315D (PE 39).
- 2.8 WIRE CONNECTORS

- A. RCV wire splicing connectors and Decoder wire splicing connectors shall be Paige P7364D, Paige part number 270670 or 270671 (3M model 'DBY/R'). No substitutions allowed.
- B. Communication wire splicing or connection shall be Paige brand, model 273211 (3M model SliC) and Paige brand, model 270228R (3M model 316IR). No substitutions allowed.

2.9 POINT OF CONNECTION

- A. Precise or specific products required of Contractor for installation of the POC are unknown. Contractor shall be prepared for a variety of POC conditions including:
 - 1. Tapping, Saddling, Pac-Joint connection, extension, flared end connectors.
- B. Stop & Waste Valve
 - 1. POC's with connection sizes 1" through 2"
 - 2. Mueller Oriseal H-10288 1" 2"
 - 3. Cambridge Brass 263NL-FXFX 1" 2"

2.10 MASTER VALVE

- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed on plan legend.
- 2.11 FLOW METER
- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed on plan legend.
- 2.12 SLEEVING PIPE
- A. Minimum sleeve size shall be 2" pipe.
- B. Sleeving 2" through 4" shall be S/40 PVC pipe. Sleeving 6" and larger shall be CL/200 PVC pipe.

C. Sleeves shall typically be two nominal sizes larger than the pipe to be placed within them. Sleeve material and sizes shall be according to the following SLEEVING TABLE:

INTERIOR PIPE	SLEEVE PIPE	INTERIOR PIPE	SLEEVE PIPE
3/4" S/40	2" S/40	4" CL/200	8" CL/200
1" S/40	2" S/40	6" CL/200	10" CL/200
1-1/4" S/40	2-1/2" S/40	8" CL/200	12" CL/200
1-1/2" S/40	3" S/40	10" CL/200	14" C905
2" S/40	4" S/40		
3" S/40	6" CL/200		

2.13 MAIN LINE PIPE

- A. Pipe 1" through 3" shall be S/40, solvent weld-bell end.
- B. Pipe 4" through 12" shall be CL/200 gasketed-bell end.
- C. Yelomine pipe with grooved ends and couplers shall be used for above grade applications such as bridge crossings.

2.14 MAIN LINE FITTINGS

- A. All main line fittings 3" and smaller shall be S/80.
- B. All main line fittings 4" and larger shall be mechanical joint, or 'MJ'.
- C. All MJ fittings shall include megalug restraints.

2.15 MANUAL CONTROL VALVES

- A. Line or isolation valves 2-1/2" and larger shall be:
 - 1. Matco Norca model 200 RTD ductile iron resilient wedge push on w 2" square operating nut.
 - 2. Matco Norca model 200 WD ductile iron resilient wedge flanged with 2" square operating nut.
 - 3. Matco Norca model 200 MD ductile iron resilient wedge Mechanical Joint (MJ) with 2" square operating nut.
- B. Line or isolation valves 2" and smaller shall be:
 - 1. Matco Norca model 503 bronze gate valve OR
 - 2. Milwaukee model 105 bronze gate valve OR
 - 3. Hammond model IB645 bronze gate valve
- C. Isolation valves for RCV Manifolds (1" through 2-1/2") shall be:

- 1. Matco Norca model 503 bronze gate valve OR
- 2. Milwaukee model 105 bronze gate valve OR
- 3. Hammond model IB645 bronze gate valve

D. Drain Valves shall be:

- 1. ¾" Mueller Oriseal model H-10288.
- 2. ³/₄" Cambridge Brass model 263NL-F3F3.

2.16 QUICK COUPLER VALVE

- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed on plan legend.
- B. Swing joint for 1" quick coupler valves shall be Lasco model 13S-212 factory assembled swing joint.
- C. Swing joint for ¾" quick coupler valves shall be Lasco model 13T-212 factory assembled swing joint.
- D. No substitutions for quick coupler swing joint shall be accepted.

2.17 VACUUM/AIR RELIEF VALVE

- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed in plan legend.
- B. Additional product necessary for installation and operation of vacuum/air relief valve shall be indicated on plan detail sheet.
- C. Contractor shall submit for approval, vacuum/air relief valve and assembly components.

2.18 REMOTE CONTROL VALVE

- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed on plan legend.
- B. Union assembly products shall be as listed on plan detail sheet.
- C. Contractor shall submit for approval; remote control valve and all components necessary to complete installation of valve.

2.19 VALVE BOXES

A. Carson Industries Specification Grade valve boxes shall be used on this project unless otherwise indicated.

2.20 LATERAL LINE PIPE

- A. All lateral piping shall be new, S/40 PVC, solvent weld bell end. Sized as indicated on plans.
- 2.21 LATERAL LINE FITTINGS
- A. All lateral line fittings shall be new S/40 PVC.

2.22 MEDIUM ROTOR HEAD SPRINKLERS

- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed on plan legend.
- B. Nozzles for medium rotor heads shall be as listed on plan legend.
- C. All rotor heads shall be on a swing joint assembly composed of one 12" S/80 nipple (extruded, cut and threaded—not molded), and three marlex street elbows. Swing joint fittings shall be same size as inlet on head.
- D. Contractor shall submit for approval rotor heads and swing joint components.

2.23 ROTARY NOZZLE SPRAY HEAD SPRINKLER

- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed on plan legend.
- B. Rotating type nozzles for spray heads shall be as listed on plan legend.
- C. All small rotor sprinklers shall be on a swing joint assembly composed of 12-24" of swing pipe, two ½" spiral barb elbows, 12-24" swing pipe, one M412-005 ½" marlex street elbow.
- D. Contractor shall submit for approval spray heads, rotary nozzles, swing pipe, spiral barb elbow, and marlex street elbows.

2.24 SPRAY HEAD SPRINKLER

- A. Manufacturer and model shall be as listed on plan legend.
- B. Nozzles for spray heads shall be as listed on plan legend.
 - 1. Nozzles shall be fixed spray type whenever possible, adjustable arc nozzles shall be used only when a fixed spray model is not available.
- C. All spray heads shall be on a swing joint assembly composed of 12-24" of swing pipe, two ½" spiral barb elbows, 12-24" swing pipe, one M412-005 ½" marlex street elbow.
- D. Contractor shall submit for approval: spray heads, spray head nozzles, and swing joint assembly components.

2.25 DRIP COMPONENTS

A. Drip components shall be manufacturer and model as listed on plan legend or details.

2.26 GLUE AND PRIMER

- A. Sprinkler pipe glue shall be IPS Weld-On model 711.
- B. Sprinkler pipe primer shall be IPS Weld-On model P-70.
- C. No substitutions allowed.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1 GENERAL NOTES

- A. Contractor shall repair or replace work damaged by irrigation system installation.
- B. If damaged work is new, Contractor shall engage original installer of that work to perform repairs.
- C. The existing landscape of this Project shall remain in place. Contractor shall protect existing plant material and work around existing plant material as necessary.
- D. Plant material deemed damaged by OAR shall be replaced at Contractor's expense.
- E. Contractor shall route pipe, wire and other irrigation elements around outside of tree canopy drip line to minimize damage to tree roots.
- F. Contractor shall not cut existing tree roots larger than 2" to install this Project.
- G. Coordination of trench and valve locations shall be laid out with OAR prior to any excavation occurring.
- H. Contractor shall have no part of existing irrigation system used by other parts of Project landscape without water for more than 48 hours.

3.2 POWER SOURCE

- A. Power supply to irrigation controller (Strong Box installation and Meter base with load center) shall not be included in the irrigation portion of this Project. Power supply shall be a part of other Contracts associated with this Project. See Electrical Construction Documents and Specifications for information and/or detail. Controller power wire from load center(s) to Controller shall be a part of this Contract.
- B. Pedestal mount controllers shall have Paige Wire grounding grid installed per Section 1.05 C. of this document.
- C. Locate Controllers in general location shown on Construction drawings. Coordinate power supply and breaker allocation with electrical contractor. Contractor shall be responsible for all power connections to Controllers, whether they are wall mount or pedestal mount. Contractor shall coordinate with electrical or other Project trades as needed to facilitate installation of power to controllers.

3.3 CONTROLLER

- A. All grounding shall be as directed by controller manufacturer and ASIC guidelines, not to exceed a resistance reading of 10 OHMs.
- B. Locate controllers in protected, inconspicuous place when possible.
- C. Coordinate location of pedestal controllers with OAR to minimize visibility.

- D. Coordinate location of wall mount controllers with building or electrical Contractor to facilitate electrical service and future maintenance needs. Wall mount shall be securely fastened to surface. If exterior mounted, wall mount controllers shall have electrical service wire and field control wire in separate, appropriately sized weatherproof electrical conduit, PVC pipe shall not be used.
- E. Wire under hardscape surfaces shall be placed continuously in conduit.
- F. Pedestal controllers shall be placed upon VIT-Strong Box Quick Pad as per manufacturer's recommendations.
- G. Controllers shall be oriented such that Owner's Representative maintenance personnel may access easily and perform field system tests efficiently.
- H. Place Standard valve box at base of controller or nearby to allow for three to five feet of slack field control wire to be placed at each controller.
- I. This Contractor shall provide conduit access if needed for Electrical contractor. Electrical supply and installation, as well as hook-up to controller shall be by this Contractor.

3.4 CONTROL WIRE

- A. One spare wire from every valve grouping containing three or more valves shall be 'home run' to the controller.
- B. Install at least one spare wire for every five valves.
- C. Total number of spare wires shall not be less than 1/5th of the total control valves installed.
- D. Spare wire shall be looped within each valve box of the grouping it is to service.
- E. A minimum of 24" of additional wire shall be left at each valve, each splice box and at each controller.

3.5 WIRE CONNECTORS

- A. Wire splicing between controller and valves shall be avoided if possible.
- B. Any wire splices shall be contained within a valve box.
- C. Splices within a valve box that contains no control valves shall be stamped 'WIRE SPLICE' or 'WS' on box lid.

3.6 SLEEVING PIPE

- A. Sleeves shall be extended 6" minimum beyond walk or edge of pavement.
- B. Wire or cable shall not be installed in the same sleeve as piping, but shall be installed in separate sleeves.

- C. Sleeve ends on sleeve sizes 4" and larger shall be capped with corresponding sized PVC slip cap, pressure fit, until used, to prevent contamination.
- D. Sleeve ends on sleeve sizes 3" and smaller may be thoroughly taped to prevent contamination.
- E. Sleeves shall be installed at appropriate depths for main line pipe or lateral pipe
- F. Contractor shall be responsible to protect existing underground utilities and components.
- G. Sleeve all piping and wiring that pass under paving or hardscape features.
- H. Sleeves shall be positioned relative to structures or obstructions to allow for pipe or wire within them to be removed if necessary.
- 3.7 MAIN LINE / LATERAL LINE PIPE
- A. All fittings 3" and larger having change of direction shall have proper concrete thrust block installed.
- B. Pulling of pipe shall not be permitted on this project.
- C. Over excavate trenches both in width and depth. Ensure base of trench is rock or debris free to protect pipe and wire. Grade trench base to ensure flat, even support of piping. Backfill with clean soil or import material.
- D. Contractor shall backfill no less than 2" around entire pipe with clean, rock free fill.
- E. Main line piping and fittings shall not be backfilled until Designer or Owner's Representative has inspected and pipe has passed pressure testing. Perform balance of backfill operation to eliminate any settling.
- F. Place irrigation pipe and other elements at uniform grades. Automatic drains shall not be installed on this Project. Manual drains shall only be installed at POC where designated on Construction Drawings.
- G. Install pipe to allow for expansion and contraction as recommended by pipe manufacturer.
- H. Install main line pipes with 18" of cover, lateral line pipes with 12" of cover.
- I. Drawings show diagrammatic or conceptual location of piping—Contractor shall install piping to minimize change of direction, avoid placement under large trees or large shrubs, avoid placement under hardscape features.
- J. Plastic pipe shall be cut squarely. Burrs shall be removed; spigot ends of pipes 3" and larger shall be beveled.
- K. Pipe shall not be glued unless ambient temperature is at least 50 degrees F. Pipe shall not be glued in rainy conditions unless properly tented.

- L. All solvent weld joints shall be assembled using IPS 711 glue and P70 primer according to manufacturer's specification, no exceptions.
- M. Glued main line pipe shall cure a minimum of 24 hours prior to being energized. Lateral lines shall cure a minimum of 2 hours prior to being energized and shall not remain under constant pressure unless cured for 24 hours.
- N. All threaded joints shall be wrapped with Teflon tape or paste unless directed by product manufacturer or sealing by o-ring.
- O. All main line pipe, lateral line pipe and other irrigation elements shall be bedded and backfilled with clean soil, free of rocks 1" and larger.
- P. Contractor shall furnish and install additional backfill material as necessary due to rocky conditions.
- Q. Trenches and other elements shall be compacted and/or water settled to eliminate settling.
- R. Debris from trenching operations un-usable for fill shall be removed from project and disposed of properly by Contractor.
- S. Maximum acceptable flow through piping shall be 5.0 FPS maximum flow through piping shall be:
 - 1. 1"—13 GPM
 - 2. 1-1/4"—22 GPM
 - 3. 1-1/2"—30 GPM
 - 4. 2"—50 GPM
 - 5. 2-1/2" 75 GPM

3.8 MANUAL CONTROL VALVE

- A. For 3" and larger valves, place sleeve of 6" or larger pipe over top of valve vertically and then extend to grade. Place 10" round valve box over sleeve at grade. See detail for additional information.
- B. Isolation valves 2-1/2" and smaller shall be contained in a Carson Standard size valve box. Valves shall be installed with S/80 PVC TOE Nipples one both sides of valve.
- 3.9 QUICK COUPLER VALVE
- A. Quick coupler valves shall be placed with manifold groups and protected by manifold isolation valves.
- B. Top of quick coupler valve cover shall allow for complete installation of valve box lid, but also allow for insertion and operation of key.
- C. Base of quick coupler valve and top of quick coupler swing joint shall be encased in ¾"-gravel.

- D. Contractor shall not place quick coupler valves further than 200 feet apart, to allow for spot watering or supplemental irrigation of new plant material.
- E. Quick coupler valve at POC shall not be eliminated or relocated.

3.10 REMOTE CONTROL VALVE

- A. Contractor shall place remote control valves in groups as practical to economize on quantity of manifold isolation valves.
- B. Remote control valves shall be located separately and individually in separate control boxes.
 - 1. Flows through 1" valves shall be 1-25 GPM.
 - 2. Flows through 1-1/2" valves shall be 26-50 GPM.
 - 3. Flows through 2" valves shall be 51 through 75 GPM
 - 4. Flows through 3" valves shall be 76 GPM through 200 GPM.
- C. Valves shall be in boxes with ample space surrounding them to allow access for maintenance and repair.
- D. Where practical, group remote control valves in proximity, and protect each valve with a manifold isolation valve as shown in details. Valve boxes shall be set over valves so that all parts of the valve can be reached for service. Valve box and lid shall be set to be flush with finished grade.
- E. Only one remote control valve may be installed in a Carson 1419124 box.
- F. Place a minimum of 4" of 34" washed gravel beneath valve box for drainage.
- G. Bottom of remote-control valve shall be a minimum of 2" above gravel.
- H. See remote control valve manifold detail for more information.

3.11 DRIP COMPONENTS

- A. Planting beds shall be graded to continuous uniform finish grade prior to tubing installation. Surface installed drip tubing shall be installed after plant material, but prior to bark mulch being installed. Tubing shall be installed with equal spacing between lateral runs of tubing. Tubing shall be adequately staked or stapled to the soil surface to prevent tubing from penetrating bark surface. Any tubing visible at bark surface shall be reinstalled and re-stapled at Contractor expense.
- B. Sub-surface drip tubing shall be installed at uniform depth and uniform lateral spacing using small powered pipe puller or other similar method. Care shall be taken to prevent contamination with soil in tubing.
- C. Contractor shall place filters, regulators, air/vac vents and flush valves as necessary to meet manufacturer's minimum recommendations.

D. Field conditions, specifically soil type conditions shall dictate any alteration in emitter size, emitter spacing and row spacing. Contractor shall notify OAR to request confirmation of soil type prior to ordering drip tubing products to ensure proper product and proper spacing are used.

3.12 SYSTEM ADJUSTMENT

- A. Sprinkler heads shall be adjusted to proper height when installed.
- B. Changes in grade or adjustment of head height after installation shall be considered a part of the original contract and at Contractor's expense.
- C. Adjust all sprinkler heads for arc, radius, proper trim and distribution to cover all landscaped areas that are to be irrigated. Adjust sprinklers so they do not water buildings, structures, or other hardscape features.
- D. Adjust run times of stations to meet needs of plant material the station services.
- E. No sprinkler shall be located closer than 6" to walls, fences, or buildings.
- F. Heads adjacent to walks, curbs, or paths shall be located at grade and 2" away from hardscape.
- G. Control valves shall be opened and fully flush lateral line pipe and swing joints prior to installation of sprinklers.
- H. Spray heads shall be installed and flushed again prior to installation of nozzles.
- I. Contractor shall be responsible for adjustment if necessary due to grade changes during landscape construction.

3.13 CLEANUP

- A. Contractor shall clean all work areas daily, leaving areas accessible to the public in a 'broom clean' condition.
- B. Open trenches and or hazards shall be protected by chain link fence, snow fencing, or caution tape as directed by the OAR.
- C. Contractor shall coordinate with OAR for periodic as well as final cleanliness inspection.
- D. Upon project completion, Contractor shall remove all excess material, construction debris, packing, etc. attributable to his work.

END OF SECTION

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 32 90 00 LANDSCAPE PLANTING

PART 1 - GENERAL

- 1.1 SUMMARY
- A. The Contractor shall provide landscaping and appurtenant work, complete and in place, in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- B. Landscaping as referred to herein shall include supplying and placing topsoil, soil preparation, installation of headers, weed control, finish grading, furnishing and installing plant materials, seeding, erosion control, cleanup, and maintenance guarantee.
- 1.2 DEFINITIONS
- A. The terms "plant material" or "plants" refer to all vegetation, including but not limited to seed and seeded areas, etc.
- B. "Quality" refers to general development without consideration of size or condition. "Standard quality" indicates the least acceptable quality. "Standard quality" seeded and germinated plants shall be typical of the species and variety of good average uniform growth, shall be well formed.
- C. "Condition" is the factor controlled by vitality and ability to survive and thrive and be comparable with normal plants of the same species and variety in the vicinity at the same season of the year. Plants shall be free from physical damage or adverse conditions that would prevent thriving. "Condition" also sometimes refers to state of growth, i.e., whether "dormant condition" or "growing condition" and this state shall be comparable to plants of similar species in the vicinity for leaves, formation of buds, and the like.
- 1.3 REFERENCE SPECIFICATIONS, CODES, AND STANDARDS
- A. Commercial Standards:

ASTM D 422 Method for Particle-Size Analysis of Soils

ANSI Z60.1 Nursery Stock

American Association of Rules and Grading Provisions Nurserymen, Inc.

- 1.4 CONTRACTOR SUBMITTALS
- A. General: Submittals shall be furnished in accordance with Section 01 33 20 Contractor Submittals.
- B. Product Information
 - 1. Manufacturer's product information on slow release fertilizer, fertilizer tablets, seed, and erosion control materials.

- 2. **Topsoil Analysis Report:** A report certified by an analytical laboratory which shows results of analyzing representative samples of topsoil proposed for use. Approval of the report does not constitute final acceptance of the topsoil.
- 3. Supplier's information and testing information on compost for soil amendment.

C. Certificate

- 1. Certificates shall accompany each product delivery stating source, quantity, and type of material. All certificates shall be submitted to the Landscape Architect at the time of delivery.
- 2. Certificates of inspection of plant material, as may be required by Federal, State, or other authorities having jurisdiction, which accompany the shipment, shall be submitted to the Landscape Architect at the time of delivery.
- 3. Landscaping Subcontractor guarantee to perform seed maintenance and weeding services during the one-year correction of defects period.

1.5 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. General: All plants shall be true to type or name as indicated in the Contract Documents and shall be tagged in accordance with the standard practice recommended by the Agricultural Code of the State of Utah however, determination of plant species or variety will be made by the Landscape Architect.
- B. All plants shall comply with Federal and Utah State laws requiring inspection for plant diseases and infestations.
- C. The Contractor shall obtain clearance from the County Agricultural Commissioner, as required by law, before planting plants delivered from outside the County in which they are to be planted. Evidence that such clearance has been obtained shall be filed with the Engineer or Landscape Architect.
- D. Inspections will be made by the Engineer or Landscape Architect. The Contractor shall request inspection at least 24 hours in advance of the time inspection is required. Inspection is required on the following stages of the Work:
 - 1. During preliminary grading, soil preparation, and initial weeding.
 - 2. When approved, amended topsoil is placed.
 - 3. When finish grading has been completed.
 - 4. When seed is to be applied.
 - 5. Once seed application has been complete and erosion control is in place.
 - 6. When all Work except the maintenance period has been completed.
 - 7. Final inspection before acceptance of the project.

1.6 CLEANUP

- A. Upon completion of all planting operations, the portion of the Site used for a work or storage area by the Contractor shall be cleaned of all debris, superfluous materials, and equipment. All such materials and equipment shall be entirely removed from the Site in accordance with Section 01 70 10 Project Closeout.
- B. All walks or pavement shall be swept or washed clean upon completion of the Work of this Section.

- C. During the entire Contract period, plant containers that have been cut or removed from plant materials shall be removed from the site daily.
- D. All fertilizer packaging shall be cleared from the site at the end of every day.
- 1.7 MAINTENANCE OF LANDSCAPING PLANTING PRIOR TO ACCEPTANCE OF PROJECT
- A. General: The Contractor shall be responsible for protecting and maintaining all seeded areas until final acceptance of all Work under the Contract.
- B. Protection: The Contractor shall provide adequate protection to all newly seeded areas including the installation of approved temporary fences to prevent trespassing and damage, as well as erosion control, until the end of the correction of defects period.
- C. The Contractor shall replace any materials or equipment that its employees or Subcontractors have damaged.
- D. Partial utilization of the project shall not relieve the Contractor of any of the requirements contained in the Contract Documents.
- E. Plants shall be maintained in a vigorous, thriving condition by watering, cultivating, weeding, pruning, fertilizing, spraying, and other operations necessary.
- F. Maintenance shall include, in addition to the foregoing, cleaning, the repair of erosion, reseed bare areas, and all other necessary maintenance work. Sidewalks, retaining walls and paved areas shall be kept clean while seeding and maintenance are in progress.
- 1.8 FINAL INSPECTION AND GUARANTEE
- A. Inspection of all planted areas will be part of final inspection under the Contract.
- B. Written notice requesting inspection shall be submitted to the Landscape Architect at least 10 days prior to the anticipated inspection date.
- C. Final acceptance prior to start of the guarantee period of the Contract will be on written approval by the Engineer or Landscape Architect, on the satisfactory completion of all Work, including maintenance, but exclusive of the replacement of plant material or reseed areas that have less than 60% coverage.
- D. Any delay in the completion of any item of work in the planting operation which extends the seeding into more than one season shall extend the correction period in accordance with the date of completion given above.
- E. The Contractor shall reseed, as soon as weather conditions permit, all bare areas or areas that show less than 60% seed germination which are noted at the end of the one-year correction period.
- F. All Work under this Section shall be left in good order to the satisfaction of the Owner and the Landscape Architect, and the Contractor shall, without additional expense to the Owner.

1.9 MAINTENANCE AND GUARANTEE FOLLOWING ACCEPTANCE OF PROJECT

- A. General: The Contractor shall be responsible for a period of one year after date of acceptance of the Work of this Section, for maintaining all seeded areas, including fertilizing, controlling insects and diseases and weeding. The Contractor shall obtain a written guarantee from the landscaping Subcontractor embodying the provisions of this paragraph.
- B. The Work covered by the maintenance and guarantee portions of this paragraph includes providing all reseeding of seeding areas for the one year maintenance period or for 2 full growing seasons if the maintenance periods starts in the fall or winter, labor, materials, chemicals, equipment, and supplies and in performing all operations in connection with maintenance and guarantees.
- C. The Contractor shall clean-up and remove unused or waste materials from the Site and leave the area in a neat condition satisfactory to the Owner whenever it performs work during the maintenance period.
- D. Final Inspection: The Owner and Contractor shall make a final inspection at the end of the one-year maintenance and correction period. Any bare seed areas or less than 60% coverage at time of final inspection shall be reseeded within a time agreed upon by both parties. If it is outside of the seeding window for seeding, seeding shall take place within the next seeding window even though reseeding may run beyond the maintenance and correction period.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.1 GENERAL

A. All landscaping materials including but not limited to, soil amendments, fertilizer, herbicides, pesticides, seed mixtures and erosion control materials shall be first-grade, commercial quality and shall have certificates indicating the source of material, analysis, quantity, or weight attached to each sack or container or furnished with each delivery. Delivery certificates shall be given to the Landscape Architect as each shipment of material is delivered. A list of the materials used, together with typical certificates of each material, shall be submitted to the Landscape Architect prior to final acceptance.

2.2 TOPSOIL

- A. Imported topsoil shall be obtained from naturally drained areas and shall be fertile, friable loam suitable for plant growth. Topsoil shall be subject to inspection and approval by the Landscape Architect at the source of supply and upon delivery to the site. All laboratory soil testing shall be ordered and paid by the Contractor.
- B. Eighteen inches of topsoil shall be placed around the mature canopy of all tree and shrub areas for all tree, shrub and ornamental grass species. This area shall have 4-inches of rock mulch (see plans for exact depths) and well as bark mulch and placed on top of weed barrier fabric (Dewitt Pro 5 weed barrier fabric).
- C. Onsite or imported topsoil shall be of uniform quality, free from toxic substances, subsoil, stiff or lumpy clay, hard clods, hardpan, rocks, disintegrated debris, plants, roots, seeds, and any

other materials that would be toxic or harmful to plant growth. **Topsoil shall contain no noxious weeds or noxious weed seeds.**

- D. Topsoil used for this Work shall meet the following requirements.
 - 1. Soluable salts (EJe) Less than 4 dS/m or mmho/cm
 - 2. ph Between 5.0 and 7.5
 - 3. Sand, silt, clay content Less than 30% clay
 - a. Less than 70% sand and
 - b. Less than 70% silt.
 - 4. Soil texture Sand clay loam (SLC)
 - a. sandy loam (SL)
 - b. clay loam (CL)
 - 5. Organic matter content (by weight) Minimum 0.5 Percent
 - 6. SAR (sodium absorption ratio)Less than 7
 - 7. Percent coarse fragments (rocks>2mm) Less than 5 percent
 - 8. Nitrate Nitrogen (ppm) Greater than 20
 - 9. Phosphorus (ppm) Greater than 15
 - 10. Potassium (ppm) Greater than 150
 - 11. Iron (ppm) Greater than 10

2.3 FERTILIZER AND AMENDMENTS

- A. Fertilizer shall be furnished in bags or other standard containers with name, weight, and guaranteed analysis of contents clearly marked thereon.
- B. Chemical fertilizers shall be a mixed commercial fertilizer with percentages of nitrogen, phosphoric acid, and potash at 16-16-8 slow release formula. Fertilizers shall be uniform in composition, dry, and free flowing.
- C. Fertilizer tablets shall be 12 grams each 20-10-5 "Agriform," "Lesslie", or equal.
- D. Compost: Onsite topsoil shall be amended with one part compost to 5 parts topsoil. Compost shall consist of composed leaves and yard grass. Compost shall meet the following requirements:
 - 1. Compost shall be dark brown to black in color,
 - 2. Compost shall have no objectionable odor.
 - 3. Compost shall have a particle size of ½ inch or less,
 - 4. Compost shall have a pH of 5.0 to 7.8,
 - 5. Compost shall have a soluble salt concentration (mmhos/cm or dS/m) of less than 5 and
 - 6. Compost shall have a carbon-to-nitrogen ration of less than 25:1.

2.4 MULCH & COMPOST

- A. Dark bark mulch shall be provided at a depth of 4-inches in areas around tree wells. Bark mulch shall be purchased through Wolf Mountain.
- B. Shredded stringy bark mulch in planting beds shall be clean, pine bark free of sticks and pieces over 2 inches in size produced by "chipping and shredding" tree branches or similar means.

C. Organic Compost material as outlined in "Compost Quality Guidelines for Landscaping" by Isaman, Koening, Cerny, USU Extension, 3 March 2003.

2.5 PLANT MATERIALS

- A. Plants shall meet requirements of the Contract Documents and shall be in accordance with the botanical names and applicable standards of quality, size, condition, and type. They shall be true to name, genera, species, and variety in accordance with reference publications.
- B. Plant names are defined in "Standardized Plant Names" and "Bailey's Encyclopedia of Horticulture." When a name is not found in either reference, the accepted name used in the nursery trade shall apply.
- C. Plants shall be marked for identification. Each bundle of plants and at least 25 percent of each species and variety of separate plants in any one shipment shall have legible labels securely attached before delivery to the site.
- D. All trees and shrubs shall be measured while their branches are in their normal position. Height and spread dimensions specified refer to the main body of the plant and not from branch or root tip to tip. No trees will be accepted with their leaders cut, or so damaged that cutting is necessary.
- E. All plants shall be symmetrical and shall conform to the size, age, and condition as specified on the plant list shown in the Contract Documents. Exceptions are as follows:
 - 1. Plants larger than specified in the plant list may be used if approved by the L.A., but use of such plants shall not increase the contract price. If the use of larger plants is approved, the spread of roots or ball earth shall be increased in proportion to the size of the plant. Bare root plants furnished in size greater than specified shall be balled and burlaped when required by the L.A.
 - 2. Where caliper or other dimensions of any plant materials are omitted from the Plant List, it shall be understood that such plant materials shall be normal stock for type.
- F. Plants shall be of sound health, vigorous, and free from plant disease and shall be well-branched, shall have full foliage when in leaf, and shall have a healthy well-developed normal root system. Cold storage plants will not be accepted. Plants that are sensitive to shock from elevation change shall be grown at elevations close enough to site to alleviate any plant damage due to such change for at least 2 years.
- G. Roots or balls of all plants shall be adequately protected at all times from sun and drying winds.
- H. Plants (indicated to be in marked cans, pots, or other containers on the plant list) shall have been grown in the containers for a minimum of 6 months and a maximum of 2 years. Roots shall fill the containers but show no evidence of being or having been root bound.
- I. Trees shall have straight trunks and all old abrasions and cuts shall be completely callused over. In no case shall trees be topped before delivery.
- J. Plants shall have been transplanted or root-pruned at least once in the 2 years. Plants shall not be pruned prior to delivery except as authorized by the L.A.

2.6 STAKING MATERIALS

- A. Stakes for supporting trees to be metal "T" fence posts.
- B. Guying kits for trees will be "Cable Guy" (Alpine Nursery 1-800-356-6633) #CG-4000 and CG-6800-T. Add extra hose where guy cable comes in contact with tree.
- C. Hose for covering wire shall be new or used black or green 2-ply fiber-bearing garden hose, not less than ½-inch inside diameter.
- D. Wire for tree bracing and guying shall be double strand pliable No. 10-gage galvanized steel wire or vinyl-coated steel wire.

2.7 NATIVE SEED

- A. Seed shall conform with applicable City, County, State, Federal regulations and meet Utah Seed Law. Seed shall be mixed by dealer. The Contractor shall furnish dealer's guaranteed germination figure for each variety. Grass seed shall not be delivered until samples have been approved in writing by the Engineer, Landscape Architect or its authorized landscape representative. Approval of samples, however, shall not affect the right of the Engineer, Landscape Architect or the authorized landscape representative to reject seed upon or after delivery. Seed that has become wet, moldy, or otherwise damaged prior to use will not be accepted.
- B. Grass seed shall be fresh, clean, new-crop seed, composed of the following varieties mixed in the proportions by weight. Purity and germination percentage shall be the results of testing.
- C. Weather Conditions: Fertilizing, seeding, or mulching operations will not be permitted when wind velocities exceed 5 miles per hour or when the ground is frozen, unduly wet, or otherwise not in a tillable conditions. Seeding shall not be conducted when temperatures exceed 80°F.
- D. Topsoil: Four inches of approved, onsite or imported, amended topsoil shall be placed in all areas delineated to be seeded. Imported, amended topsoil shall be placed and raked smooth prior to seeding or sodding
- E. Soil Preparation: The ground to be seeded shall be graded in conformance with the Drawings and shall be loose and reasonably free of large rocks, roots, and other material which will interfere with the work.
- F. Supply seed on a pure live seed (PLS) basis.
- G. Obtain seed from lots that have been tested by a state certified seed testing laboratory. (Association of Seed Analyst (AOSA) or Society of Commercial Seed Technologists (SCST). Seed germination tests older than 18 months for grass seed, and 9 months for shrub or tree seed are not acceptable.
- H. Do not use wet, moldy or otherwise damaged seed.
- I. See plans for seed mix.

- J. In disturbed areas, complete all weed removal, final grading, trench settling, surface preparation and irrigation work (if applicable) before seeding begins.
- K. Roughen soil receiving seed.
- L. Do not install when seed or soil is saturated or frozen.

M. MAINTENANCE

- 1. During the maintenance period the contractor shall be responsible for removing weeds and maintaining the site to provide as good of conditions as possible for seed to grow.
- 2. Contractor shall plan on one re-seeding if the native stand has not established at the end of the warranty period.

2.8 DRILL SEEDING

- A. Drill seeding of the native seed may occur between October 30 and February 28. The actual seeding period must be approved by the Engineer or Landscape Architect because weather conditions vary from year to year. No seed shall be conducted until approved.
- B. All areas that are designated for seeding with the native seed mixture in the Contract Documents shall be seeded by drilling unless otherwise approved in writing by the Engineer or Landscape Architect. Only those areas that are too steep to drill may be hydroseeded.
- C. Seeding: Seed shall be uniformly drilled to an average depth of 1/4 to 1/2 inch at the rate specified using equipment having drills not more than 6-1/2 inches apart. Row markers shall be used with the drill seeder. Drill seeding shall take place 3 days after application of herbicide.
- D. Rolling: Immediately after seeding, the entire area shall be firmed with a roller not exceeding 90 pounds for each foot of roller width. Areas seeded with drills equipped with rollers shall not be rolled.
- E. Hydromulch: Apply hydromulch over the entire seeded area at a rate of 2000 pounds per acre. Hydromulching operation shall be conducted as described in Section 3.13 Hydroseeding.

2.9 HYDROSEEDING

- A. Hydroseeding shall only be used in areas that are too steep for drill seeding.
- B. Hydroseeding of the native seed mix may occur between October 30 and February 28. The actual seeding period must be approved by the Engineer or Landscape Architect because weather conditions vary from year to year. No seed shall be conducted until approved.
- C. Hydromulch or slurry shall conform to the following:
 - 1. Echofiber or Conwed or approved equal wood fiber mulch, applied at a rate of 2000 pounds per acre.
 - 2. M-binder or Plantego tackifier, applied at a rate of 100 pounds per acre.
 - 3. 16-16-8 slow release fertilizer, applied at a rate of 150 pounds per acre

- 4. Water at a rate of 4000 gallons per acre.
- D. Hydromulch shall be applied using a hydro-seeding equipment manufactured by Finn or Bowie or approved equal. Machines shall be equipped with heavy duty cast iron pumps and agitators capable of thoroughly mixing the slurry.
- E. Spray of hydromulch shall begin immediately after the tank is full and the slurry components are mixed.
- F. Apply hydromulch in a downward drilling motion using a fam stream nozzle. It is important to ensure that all of the components enter and mix eith the topsoil.
- G. Only qualified and trained personnel shall perform hydroseeding to insure the uniformity of the hyroseeding application.

2.10 EROSION CONTROL BLANKET

- A. Erosion Control Blanket shall be AEC Premier Coconut or approved equivalent and placed on slopes 3:1 or greater.
- B. Erosion control blanket shall be keyed in at the top of the slope as per manufacturer specifications.
- C. Anchorage devices shall be 9-inch, two-legged staples furnished by the manufacturer, or staples of the proper length as recommended by the manufacturer for specific soil conditions.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1 GENERAL

- A. The landscape work shall not be performed at any time when it may be subject to damage by climatic conditions.
- B. The Contractor shall carefully scale or otherwise verify all dimensions in the Contract Documents. Dimensions and plant locations shall be coordinated with Engineer or Landscape Architect and final location shall be Site-oriented by the planter and Engineer or Landscape Architect. Any discrepancies or inconsistencies shall be brought to the attention of the Engineer.
- C. In case of conflict between the Plant List totals and total plant count of the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall provide the higher number of plants.
- D. Delivery of materials may begin only after samples and tests have been approved by the Engineer or Landscape Architect. Materials provided shall be not less quality than the approved sample.
- E. Substitutions for the indicated plant materials may be considered pursuant to the Contract Documents.

- F. The Contractor shall provide temporary fencing, barricades, covering, or other protections to preserve existing landscaping items indicated to remain and to protect the adjacent properties and other structures when they may be damaged by the landscape work.
- G. Waste materials shall be removed and disposed of off the Site, unless otherwise indicated.
- H. It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain information regarding utilities in the area of work and to prevent damage to the same. The Contractor shall protect the utilities as necessary.
- I. Burning of combustible materials on the Site shall not be permitted.
- J. The Contractor shall protect structures, sidewalks, pavements, existing irrigation system, and other facilities that are subject to damage during landscape work. Open excavations shall be provided with barricades and warning lights which conform to the requirements of governing authorities and the State's OSHA safety requirements from dusk to dawn each day and when needed for safety.
- K. Planting areas include all areas to be landscaped unless indicated otherwise.

3.2 SOIL PREPARATION

- A. The landscape work shall not begin until all other trades have repaired all areas of settlement, erosion, rutting, etc., and the soils have been re-established, recompacted, and refinished to finish grades. The Engineer or Landscape Architect shall be notified of all areas that prevent the landscape work from being executed.
- B. Areas requiring grading by the landscaper including adjacent transition areas shall be uniformly level or sloping between finish elevations to within 0.10-ft above or below required finish elevations.
- C. The landscape work shall not proceed until after walks, roads, vaults, trenching, and reservoir construction is in place. Work under the Contract shall be completed to a point where the landscape areas will not be disturbed. The subgrade shall be free of waste materials of all kinds.
- D. During grading, waste materials in the planting areas such as weeds, rocks 3-inches and larger, building materials, concrete rubble, wires, cans, glass, lumber, masonry, sticks, etc., shall be removed from the Site. All weeds shall be dug out by the roots.
- E. Fertilizers, soil additives, seed, etc. subject to moisture damage shall be kept dry in a weatherproof storage place.
- F. After removal of waste materials, the planting and sod area subgrade shall be scarified and pulverized to a depth of not less than 6 inches, and all surface irregularities below the cover of topsoil shall be removed.
- G. Finish grading shall consist of:
 - 1. Final contouring of the planting areas.

- 2. Removal of 6 inches of hardpan material and placement of four inches of imported, amended topsoil over all areas to be planted, deeded or sodded unless indicated otherwise.
- 3. Placing all soil additives and fertilizers.
- 4. Tilling of planting areas.
- 5. After tilling, bringing areas to uniform grades by floating and/or hand raking.
- 6. Making minor adjustment of finish grades as directed by the Engineer or Landscape Architect.
- 7. Removing waste materials such as stones, roots, weeds or other undesirable foreign material and raking, disking, dragging, and smoothing soil ready for planting.
- 8. Finished grades shall be one inch below the top of curbs, sills and walkways in all areas for seed, one and a half inches for sod and three inches for areas with mulch or groundcover.
- 9. Finished grades shall be smoothed to eliminate puddling or standing water.
- H. Any unusual subsoil condition that will require special treatment shall be reported to the Engineer or Landscape Architect.
- I. Unless otherwise specified, seeding areas shall receive a minimum of 4 inches of topsoil.
- J. Surface drainage shall be provided as indicated by shaping the surfaces to facilitate the natural run-off of water. Low spots and pockets shall be filled with topsoil and graded to drain properly.
- K. Finish grade of all planting areas shall be 1-1/2 inches below finish grade of adjacent pavement of any kind.
- 3.3 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING OF PLANT MATERIALS
 - A. No plants other than the required samples shall be dug or delivered to the site until the required inspections have been made and the plant samples are approved
 - B. Plants shall not be pruned prior to delivery except upon approval by the L.A.
 - C. Plant material shall be planted on the day of delivery if possible. The CONTRACTOR shall protect the stock in a temporary nursery at the project site where it shall be protected from sun and drying winds and shall be shaded, kept moist, and protected with damp soil, moss, or other acceptable material. Plants shall be planted within 2 days after delivery.
 - D. All balled and burlapped plants which cannot be planted immediately in delivery shall be set on the ground and shall be well protected with soil, wet moss, or other acceptable material. Bare rooted plants, which cannot be planted immediately, shall be planted on heeled-in trenches immediately upon delivery. No material heeled-in more than one week may be used. Bundles of plants shall be opened and the plants separated before the roots are covered. Care shall be taken to prevent air pockets among the roots.

- E. During planting operations, bare roots shall be covered with canvas, wet straw, or other suitable materials. No plants shall be bound with wire or rope at any time so as to damage the bark or break branches.
- F. Plants shall not be picked up or moved by stem or branches, but shall be lifted the ball or container.
- C. Plants shall be lifted and handled from the bottom of the ball or container. Plants with balls cracked or broken before or during planting operations will not be accepted and shall be immediately removed from the site.

3.4 TREE AND PLANT LOCATIONS

- A. The CONTRACTOR shall locate and stake all tree and shrub locations and have the locations approved by the L.A. before starting excavation for same. The plant locations shall be observed, and their locations shall be adjusted as directed by L.A. before final approval.
- B. No trees shall be located closer than 72 inches to structures unless otherwise shown. Ground covers and shrubs may be planted up to structures or curbs.

3.5 PLANT PITS

- A. Plant pits, centered on location stakes, shall be excavated circular pits with vertical sides and flat or saucer shape bottom in accordance with the following sizes unless shown
 - 1. Tree pits shall be at least 3 feet greater in diameter than the specific diameter of ball or spread of roots, and at depth of ball or roots.
 - 2. Shrubs shall be planted in pits or holes of soil the depth of ball below finished grade, or as much deeper as necessary to properly set the plant at finished grade. Shrubs with balls shall be planted in pits that are at least 12 inches greater in diameter than the bottom of ball.

3.6 PREPARED BACKFILL

- A. Tree and shrub pit backfilling soil shall consist of ½ existing soil from plant pit and ½ topsoil mixed.
- B. Tree and shrub pits shall be provided with fertilizer tablets as follows:

1 per one-gallon can plant

2 per 5-gallon can plant

3 per 1.5" cal. tree

3.7 ROCKS OR UNDERGROUND OBSTRUCTIONS

A. In the event that rock or underground obstructions are encountered in the excavation of plant pits, alternative locations shall be selected by the L.A. Moving of trees to alternative locations shall not entail additional costs to the OWNER.

3.8 SETTING PLANT MATERIALS

- A. The soil shall not be worked when the moisture content is so great that excessive compaction will occur, nor when it is so dry that a dust will form in the air or that clods will not break readily. Water shall be applied if necessary to provide ideal moisture for filling and for planting as herein specified.
- B. Plants shall be set in center of pits as shown in the Contract Documents. They shall be set plumb and straight, and at such a level that after settlement that the crown of the plant will be 2 inches above the finished grade.
- C. Balled and burlapped trees shall have planting soil placed and compacted around base of ball to fill all voids. All burlap ropes or wires shall be removed from the sides and tops of balls.
- D. All ground cover plants shall be evenly spaced, staggered in rows, and set at intervals specified, so as to produce a uniform effect. Plants shall be watered immediately after Planting operations have been completed.
- E. All shrubs and vines shall be pruned to remove damaged branches. All bare root shrubs shall be pruned and shaped to compensate for transplant root loss.
- F. Planting soil around roots or balls shall be thoroughly compacted and watered. After planting, the soil in the shrub beds shall be cultivated between shrubs, raked smooth, and neatly outlined. Muddy soil shall not be used for backfilling. All broken or frayed roots shall be properly cut off.
- G. Trees and shrubs on slopes steeper than 6 to 1 shall be provided with watering dams or berms at least 6 inches high and 8 inches wider than planting pit (hole) unless specified or shown otherwise.
- H. All trees shall be thoroughly watered immediately after planting.
- I. Remove all tags and labels when directed by L.A.

3.9 STAKING AND TREE WRAPPING

- A. Staking of trees shall be done immediately after they are planted. Plants shall stand plumb after staking. Staking shall be as specified unless shown or indicated otherwise.
- B. Trees 2-inch caliper and less shall be supported by 2 stakes placed diametrically opposite at perimeter line of ball and to sufficient depth to hold tree rigid. Stakes shall be driven vertically and not twisted or pulled. Trees shall be wired to each stake as

- indicated on staking details. Trees shall be protected with rubber hose over wires at points of contact.
- C. Trees (deciduous) 3-inch caliper and evergreen trees over 6 feet tall to be guyed at points of branching with 3 wire guys spaced equally around and outside the perimeter of the ball with "Cable Guy" product model #CG-4000. Trees over 3-inch caliper to be guyed with "Cable Guy" product CG-6800-T. Each guy shall be positioned below crotches. Provide extra hose cushion where cable comes in contact with tree.
- D. Tree wrap all trees that may be susceptible to winter sun damage as follows:
 - 1. Starting as low as possible, wrap Treesaver in a smooth spiral to assure overlapping each previous wrap by 1/4 inch.
 - 2. Continue wrapping up the trunk to just below the second scaffold branches.
 - 3. Tie of Treesaver with a half hitch knot.
 - 4. Cover the base of tree and the first wrap of Treesaver with soil.

3.10 PRUNING AND MULCHING

- A. Each tree and shrub shall be pruned in accordance with standard horticultural practice to preserve the natural character of the plant in the manner fitting its use in the landscape design, as approved by the L.A.
- B. All dead wood or suckers and all broken or badly bruised branches shall be removed by thinning out and shortening branches. Deciduous bare-rooted plants shall have not less than 1/3 of their respective leaf surfaces removed. All cuts shall be made just above a healthy bud. Pruning shall be done with clean, sharp tools.
- C. Plants shall be mulched after planting and cultivating have been completed. A layer of mulch materials, as hereinbefore specified, shall be spread on finished landscaping grade within all planting areas to a depth of 4 inches. The mulch around isolated trees shall follow the tree planting details shown on plans. All shrub and ground cover beds shall be completely covered with the mulch.

3.11 MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS

- A. Concrete curbing shall be placed so that the top finish of curbing matches adjoining concrete curbs and walks. Curbing shall be straight and uniform both horizontal and vertically.
- B. Gravel mulch shall be placed in the landscape areas as noted on plans, spread carefully and evenly to a minimum depth as noted on plans. Contractor to provide Dewitt Pro 5 weed barrier fabric below all rock and bark mulch areas. Contractor to submit a sample of the gravel mulch to L.A. for approval prior to installation.
- C. Spray all gravel and cobble beds with a weed pre-emergent before placing weed barrier fabric.

3.12 CONCRETE LANDSCAPE CURBING

- A. Contractor to install in areas as shown on plans, separating the varying mulch areas.
- B. Compact subgrade and soil under concrete curb to a minimum of 95%.
- C. Provide control joint at 10' O.C. and expansion joint at 30' O.C.
- D. Provide 1" radius per details. Concrete finish to be medium broom finish.

END OF SECTION

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK